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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We make forward-looking statements in this Report that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking
statementsinclude information about possible or assumed future results of our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations,

plansand objectives. When we use the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “should,” “may,” “plans,”
“projects,” “will,”or similar expressions, or the negative of these words, we intend to identify forward-looking statements. Statements regarding the
following subjects are forward-looking by their nature: 

● our business and investment strategy;
● our expected operating results; 
● our ability to acquire investments on attractive terms;
● the effect of U.S. government actions on interest rates, fiscal policy and the housing and credit markets;
● the effect of rising interest rates on inflation, unemployment, and mortgage supply and demand;
● the effect of prepayment rates on the value of our assets;
● our ability to access the capital markets;
● our ability to obtain future financing arrangements;
● our ability to successfully hedge the interest rate risk and prepayment risk associated with our portfolio;
● the federal conservatorship of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home Loan

Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) and related efforts, along with any changes in laws and regulations affecting the
relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. government;

● market trends;
● our ability to make distributions to our stockholders in the future;
● our understanding of our competition and our ability to compete effectively;
● our ability to quantify risk based on historical experience;
● our ability to maintain our qualification as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
● our ability to maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the

Investment Company Act;
● our ability to maintain the listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE;
● the effect of actual or proposed actions of the U.S. Federal Reserve (the “Fed”), the Federal Housing Finance Agency (the

“FHFA”), the Federal Open Market Committee (the “FOMC”) and the U.S. Treasury with respect to monetary policy or
interestrates;

● the ongoing effect of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and the potential future outbreak of other highly infectious
orcontagious diseases on the Agency RMBS market and on our results of future operations, financial position, and liquidity;

● geo-political events, such as the crisis in Ukraine, government responses to such events and the related impact on the
economy both nationally and internationally;

● expected capital expenditures; 
● the impact of technology on our operations and business; and
● the eventual phase-out of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) index, transition from LIBOR to an alternative

reference rate and the impact on our LIBOR sensitive assets, liabilities and funding hedges.

The forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions and expectations of our future performance, taking
intoaccount all information currently available to us. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These

beliefs, assumptions and expectations can change as a result of many possible events or factors, not all of which are known to us.
Some of these factors are described under the caption ‘‘Risk Factors’’ in this Report and any subsequent Quarterly Reports on
Form10-Q. If a change occurs, our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may vary materially from those
expressed in our forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. New
risksand uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict those events or how they may affect us. Except as



required by law, we are not obligated to, and do not intend to, update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result
ofnew information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our Company

Orchid Island Capital, Inc., a Maryland corporation (“Orchid,” the “Company,” “we” or “us”), is a specialty finance 
company thatinvests in residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”). The principal and interest payments of these RMBS are guaranteed

byFannie Mae, Freddie Mac or the Government National Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae” and, collectively with Fannie Mae
andFreddie Mac, “GSEs”) and are backed primarily by single-family residential mortgage loans. We refer to these types of RMBS as
Agency RMBS. Our investment strategy focuses on, and our portfolio consists of, two categories of Agency RMBS: (i) traditional
 pass-through Agency RMBS, such as mortgage pass through certificates and collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”) issued by
theGSEs and (ii) structured Agency RMBS, such as interest only securities (“IOs”), inverse interest only securities (“IIOs”) and
principalonly securities (“POs”), among other types of structured Agency RMBS. Our website is located athttp://ir.orchidislandcapital.com. 
Information on our website is not part of this Report. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”)
and tradesunder the symbol “ORC.”

We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As
such,we are required to distribute 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deductions for dividends paid and

excluding any net capital gain, annually. We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our REIT taxable income
to theextent we currently distribute our net taxable income to our stockholders and maintain our REIT qualification.It is our intention to
distribute 100% of our taxable income, after application of available tax attributes, within the limits prescribed by the Internal
RevenueCode of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), which may extend into the subsequent taxable year.

Our Manager

Bimini Capital Management, Inc. (sometimes referred to herein as “Bimini”) managed our portfolio from our inception
through thecompletion of our initial public offering on February 20, 2013. Upon completion of the offering, we became externally managed

byBimini Advisors, LLC (“Bimini Advisors,” or our “Manager”) pursuant to a management agreement. Our Manager is an
investmentadvisor registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Additionally, our Manager is a Maryland limited
liabilitycompany that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bimini, which has a long track record of managing investments in Agency RMBS.
Biminicommenced active investment management operations in 2003, and self-manages its own portfolio. We believe our relationship
withour Manager enables us to leverage our Manager’s established portfolio management resources for each of our targeted asset
classesand its infrastructure supporting those resources. Additionally, we have benefitted and expect to continue to benefit from our
Manager’s finance and administration functions, which address legal, compliance, investor relations and operational matters,
includingportfolio management, trade allocation and execution, securities valuation, repurchase agreement trading and clearing, risk
management, cybersecurity, information technologies and environmental, social and governance considerations in connection
with theperformance of its duties.

Our Manager is responsible for administering our business activities and day-to-day operations. Pursuant to the terms of the
management agreement, our Manager provides us with our management team, including our officers, along with appropriate
supportpersonnel. Our Manager is at all times subject to the supervision and oversight of our board of directors (the “Board of
Directors”) andhas only such functions and authority as we delegate to it. 

Our Investment and Capital Allocation Strategy

Investment Strategy
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Our business objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted total returns to our investors over the long term through a
combination of capital appreciation and the payment of regular monthly distributions. We intend to achieve this objective by
investing inand strategically allocating capital between pass-through Agency RMBS and structured Agency RMBS. We seek to generate
incomefrom (i) the net interest margin on our leveraged pass-through Agency RMBS portfolio and the leveraged portion of our structured
Agency RMBS portfolio, and (ii) the interest income we generate from the unleveraged portion of our structured Agency RMBS
portfolio. We also seek to minimize the volatility of both the net asset value of, and income from, our portfolio through a process
whichemphasizes capital allocation, asset selection, liquidity and active interest rate risk management.

We fund our pass-through Agency RMBS and certain of our structured Agency RMBS through repurchase agreements.
However, we generally do not employ leverage on our structured Agency RMBS that have no principal balance, such as IOs and
IIOs,because those securities contain structural leverage. We may pledge a portion of these assets to increase our cash balance, but we
donot intend to invest the cash derived from pledging the assets. 

Our target asset categories and principal assets in which we intend to invest are as follows:

Pass-through Agency RMBS

We invest in pass-through securities, which are securities secured by residential real property in which payments of both
interestand principal on the securities are generally made monthly. In effect, these securities pass through the monthly payments made by

theindividual borrowers on the mortgage loans that underlie the securities, net of fees paid to the loan servicer and the guarantor of
thesecurities. Pass-through certificates can be divided into various categories based on the characteristics of the underlying
mortgages,such as the term or whether the interest rate is fixed or variable. 

The payment of principal and interest on mortgage pass-through securities issued by Ginnie Mae, but not the market value, is
guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the federal government. Payment of principal and interest on mortgage pass-through
certificates issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, but not the market value, is guaranteed by the respective agency issuing the
security. 

A key feature of most mortgage loans is the ability of the borrower to repay principal earlier than scheduled. This is called a
prepayment. Prepayments arise primarily due to sale of the underlying property, refinancing, foreclosure, or accelerated 
amortizationby the borrower. Prepayments result in a return of principal to pass-through certificate holders. This may result in a lower or
higher rateof return upon reinvestment of principal. This is generally referred to as prepayment uncertainty. If a security purchased at a
premiumprepays at a higher-than-expected rate, then the value of the premium would be eroded at a faster-than-expected rate. Similarly, if
adiscount mortgage prepays at a lower-than-expected rate, the amortization towards par would be accumulated at a slower-than-
expected rate. The possibility of these undesirable effects is sometimes referred to as “prepayment risk.” 

In general, declining interest rates tend to increase prepayments, and rising interest rates tend to slow prepayments. Like
otherfixed-income securities, when interest rates rise, the value of Agency RMBS generally declines. The rate of prepayments on

underlyingmortgages will affect the price and volatility of Agency RMBS and may shorten or extend the effective maturity of the security
beyondwhat was anticipated at the time of purchase. If interest rates rise, our holdings of Agency RMBS may experience reduced spreads
over our funding costs if the borrowers of the underlying mortgages pay off their mortgages later than anticipated. This is
generallyreferred to as “extension risk.” 

We may also invest in To-Be-Announced Forward Contracts ("TBAs"). A TBA security is a forward contract for the
purchase orsale of Agency RMBS at a predetermined price, face amount, issuer, coupon and stated maturity on an agreed-upon future date.

Thespecific Agency RMBS to be delivered into the contract are not known until shortly before the settlement date. We may choose,
prior tosettlement, to move the settlement of these securities out to a later date by entering into an offsetting TBA position, net settling the
offsetting positions for cash, and simultaneously purchasing or selling a similar TBA contract for a later settlement date (together
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referred to as a "dollar roll transaction"). The Agency RMBS purchased or sold for a forward settlement date are typically priced
at adiscount to equivalent securities settling in the current month. This difference, or "price drop," is the economic equivalent of
interestincome on the underlying Agency RMBS, less an implied funding cost, over the forward settlement period (referred to as "dollar
rollincome"). Consequently, forward purchases of Agency RMBS and dollar roll transactions represent a form of off-balance sheet
financing. These TBAs are accounted for as derivatives and marked to market through the income statement and are not included
ininterest income.

The mortgage loans underlying pass-through certificates can generally be classified into the following categories:

● Fixed-Rate Mortgages. Fixed-rate mortgages are those where the borrower pays an interest rate that is constant throughout
the term of the loan. Traditionally, most fixed-rate mortgages have an original term of 30 years. However, shorter terms
(alsoreferred to as “final maturity dates”) are also common. Because the interest rate on the loan never changes, even when
market interest rates change, there can be a divergence between the interest rate on the loan and current market interest
rates over time. This in turn can make fixed-rate mortgages price-sensitive to market fluctuations in interest rates. In
general,the longer the remaining term on the mortgage loan, the greater the price sensitivity to movements in interest rates and,
therefore, the likelihood for greater price variability.

● ARMs. Adjustable-Rate Mortgages (“ARMs”) are mortgages for which the borrower pays an interest rate that varies over
theterm of the loan. The interest rate usually resets based on market interest rates, although the adjustment of such an interest

rate may be subject to certain limitations. Traditionally, interest rate resets occur at regular intervals (for example, once
peryear). We refer to such ARMs as “traditional” ARMs. Because the interest rates on ARMs fluctuate based on market
conditions, ARMs tend to have interest rates that do not deviate from current market rates by a large amount. This in turn
canmean that ARMs have less price sensitivity to interest rates and, consequently, are less likely to experience significant 
pricevolatility.

● Hybrid Adjustable-Rate Mortgages. Hybrid ARMs have a fixed-rate for the first few years of the loan, often three, five,
sevenor ten years, and thereafter reset periodically like a traditional ARM. Effectively, such mortgages are hybrids, combining

thefeatures of a pure fixed-rate mortgage and a traditional ARM. Hybrid ARMs have price sensitivity to interest rates similar
tothat of a fixed-rate mortgage during the period when the interest rate is fixed and similar to that of an ARM when the
interestrate is in its periodic reset stage. However, because many hybrid ARMs are structured with a relatively short initial time
spanduring which the interest rate is fixed, even during that segment of its existence, the price sensitivity may be high.

Collateral Mortgage Obligation RMBS

CMOs are a type of RMBS, the principal and interest of which are paid, in most cases, on a monthly basis. CMOs may be
collateralized by whole mortgage loans, but are more typically collateralized by pools of mortgage pass-through securities issued
directly by or under the auspices of Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae. CMOs are structured into multiple classes, with
eachclass bearing a different stated maturity. Monthly payments of principal, including prepayments, are first returned to investors
holdingthe shortest maturity class. Investors holding the longer maturity classes receive principal only after the first class has been retired.
Generally, fixed-rate RMBS are used to collateralize CMOs. However, the CMO tranches need not all have fixed-rate coupons.
SomeCMO tranches have floating rate coupons that adjust based on market interest rates, subject to some limitations. Such tranches,
oftencalled “CMO floaters,” can have relatively low price sensitivity to interest rates.

Structured Agency RMBS

We also invest in structured Agency RMBS, which include IOs, IIOs and POs. The payment of principal and interest, as
appropriate, on structured Agency RMBS issued by Ginnie Mae, but not the market value, is guaranteed by the full faith and
credit ofthe federal government. Payment of principal and interest, as appropriate, on structured Agency RMBS issued by Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, but not the market value, is guaranteed by the respective agency issuing the security. The types of structured Agency
RMBS in which we invest are described below.



5

● IOs. IOs represent the stream of interest payments on a pool of mortgages, either fixed-rate mortgages or hybrid ARMs.
Holders of IOs have no claim to any principal payments. The value of IOs depends primarily on two factors, which are
prepayments and interest rates. Prepayments on the underlying pool of mortgages reduce the stream of interest payments
going forward, hence IOs are highly sensitive to prepayment rates. IOs are also sensitive to changes in interest rates. An
increase in interest rates reduces the present value of future interest payments on a pool of mortgages. On the other hand,
anincrease in interest rates has a tendency to reduce prepayments, which increases the expected absolute amount of future
interest payments.

● IIOs. IIOs represent the stream of interest payments on a pool of mortgages that underlie RMBS, either fixed-rate
mortgagesor hybrid ARMs. Holders of IIOs have no claim to any principal payments. The value of IIOs depends primarily on three

factors, which are prepayments, the coupon interest rate (i.e. LIBOR), and term interest rates. Prepayments on the
underlyingpool of mortgages reduce the stream of interest payments, making IIOs highly sensitive to prepayment rates. The coupon
onIIOs is derived from both the coupon interest rate on the underlying pool of mortgages and 30-day LIBOR. IIOs are
typicallycreated in conjunction with a floating rate CMO that has a principal balance and which is entitled to receive all of the
principalpayments on the underlying pool of mortgages. The coupon on the floating rate CMO is also based on 30-day LIBOR.
Typically, the coupon on the floating rate CMO and the IIO, when combined, equal the coupon on the pool of underlying
mortgages. The coupon on the pool of underlying mortgages typically represents a cap or ceiling on the combined
coupons ofthe floating rate CMO and the IIO. Accordingly, when the value of 30-day LIBOR increases, the coupon of the floating
rateCMO will increase and the coupon on the IIO will decrease. When the value of 30-day LIBOR falls, the opposite is true.
Accordingly, the value of IIOs are sensitive to the level of 30-day LIBOR and expectations by market participants of
futuremovements in the level of 30-day LIBOR. IIOs are also sensitive to changes in interest rates. An increase in interest rates
reduces the present value of future interest payments on a pool of mortgages. On the other hand, an increase in interest
rateshas a tendency to reduce prepayments, which increases the expected absolute amount of future interest payments.

● POs. POs represent the stream of principal payments on a pool of mortgages. Holders of POs have no claim to any interest
payments, although the ultimate amount of principal to be received over time is known, equaling the principal balance of
theunderlying pool of mortgages. The timing of the receipt of the principal payments is not known. The value of POs
dependsprimarily on two factors, which are prepayments and interest rates. Prepayments on the underlying pool of mortgages
accelerate the stream of principal repayments, making POs highly sensitive to the rate at which the mortgages in the pool
areprepaid. POs are also sensitive to changes in interest rates. An increase in interest rates reduces the present value of future
principal payments on a pool of mortgages. Further, an increase in interest rates has a tendency to reduce prepayments,
which decelerates, or pushes further out in time, the ultimate receipt of the principal payments. The opposite is true when
interest rates decline. 

Our investment strategy consists of the following components: 

● investing in pass-through Agency RMBS and certain structured Agency RMBS on a leveraged basis to increase returns on
thecapital allocated to this portfolio; 

● investing in certain structured Agency RMBS, such as IOs and IIOs, generally on an unleveraged basis in order to (i)
increasereturns due to the structural leverage contained in such securities, (ii) enhance liquidity due to the fact that these securities
willbe unencumbered or, when encumbered, retain the cash from such borrowings and (iii) diversify portfolio interest rate risk
dueto the different interest rate sensitivity these securities have compared to pass-through Agency RMBS;

● investing in TBAs; 
● investing in Agency RMBS in order to minimize credit risk; 
● investing in assets that will cause us to maintain our exclusion from regulation as an investment company under the

Investment Company Act; and 
● investing in assets that will allow us to qualify and maintain our qualification as a REIT. 
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We rely on our Manager’s expertise in identifying assets within our target asset class. Our Manager makes investment
decisions based on various factors, including, but not limited to, relative value, expected cash yield, supply and demand, costs of
hedging, costs of financing, liquidity requirements, expected future interest rate volatility and the overall shape of the U.S.
Treasury andinterest rate swap yield curves. We do not attribute any particular quantitative significance to any of these factors, and the weight
wegive to these factors depends on market conditions and economic trends.

Over time, we will modify our investment strategy as market conditions change to seek to maximize the returns from our
investment portfolio. We believe that this strategy, combined with our Manager’s experience, will enable us to provide attractive
long-term returns to our stockholders. 

Capital Allocation Strategy

The percentage of capital invested in our two asset categories will vary and will be managed in an effort to maintain the
level ofincome generated by the combined portfolios, the stability of that income stream and the stability of the value of the combined

portfolios. Long positions in TBAs are considered a component of the pass-through Agency RMBS category. Typically, pass-
throughAgency RMBS and structured Agency RMBS exhibit materially different sensitivities to movements in interest rates. Declines in
thevalue of one portfolio may be offset by appreciation in the other, although we cannot assure you that this will be the case.
Additionally,our Manager will seek to maintain adequate liquidity as it allocates capital.

We allocate our capital to assist our interest rate risk management efforts. The unleveraged portfolio does not require
unencumbered cash or cash equivalents to be maintained in anticipation of possible margin calls. To the extent more capital is
deployed in the unleveraged portfolio, our liquidity needs will generally be less. 

During periods of rising interest rates, refinancing opportunities available to borrowers typically decrease because borrowers
arenot able to refinance their current mortgage loans with new mortgage loans at lower interest rates. In such instances, securities that

arehighly sensitive to refinancing activity, such as IOs and IIOs, typically increase in value. Our capital allocation strategy allows us
toredeploy our capital into such securities when and if we believe interest rates will be higher in the future, thereby allowing us to
holdsecurities, the value of which we believe is likely to increase as interest rates rise. Also, by being able to re-allocate capital into
structured Agency RMBS, such as IOs, during periods of rising interest rates, we may be able to offset the likely decline in the
value ofour pass-through Agency RMBS, which are negatively impacted by rising interest rates.

We intend to operate in a manner that will not subject us to regulation under the Investment Company Act. In order to rely
on theexemption provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) under the Investment Company Act, we must maintain at least 55% of our assets in

qualifying real estate assets. For purposes of this test, structured Agency RMBS are non-qualifying real estate assets. Accordingly,
while we have no explicit limitation on the amount of our capital that we will deploy to the unleveraged structured Agency RMBS
portfolio, we will deploy our capital in such a way so as to maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment
Company Act.

Financing Strategy

We borrow against our Agency RMBS using short term repurchase agreements. A repurchase (or "repo") agreement
transactionacts as a financing arrangement under which we effectively pledge our investment securities as collateral to secure a loan. Our

borrowings through repurchase transactions are generally short-term and have maturities ranging from one day to one year but
mayhave maturities up to five or more years. Our financing rates are typically impacted by the U.S. Federal Funds rate and other
short-termbenchmark rates and liquidity in the Agency RMBS repo and other short-term funding markets. The terms of our master
repurchaseagreements generally conform to the terms in the standard master repurchase agreement as published by the Securities Industry
andFinancial Markets Association ("SIFMA") as to repayment, margin requirements and the segregation of all securities sold under
therepurchase transaction. In addition, each lender may require that we include supplemental terms and conditions to the standard
masterrepurchase agreement to address such matters as additional margin maintenance requirements, cross default and other provisions.
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The specific provisions may differ for each lender and certain terms may not be determined until we engage in individual
repurchasetransactions.

We may use other sources of leverage, such as secured or unsecured debt or issuances of preferred stock. We do not have a
policy limiting the amount of leverage we may incur. However, we generally expect that the ratio of our total liabilities compared
to ourequity, which we refer to as our leverage ratio, will be less than 12 to 1. Our amount of leverage may vary depending on market
conditions and other factors that we deem relevant.

We allocate our capital between two sub-portfolios. The pass-through Agency RMBS portfolio will be leveraged generally
throughrepurchase agreement funding. The structured Agency RMBS portfolio generally will not be leveraged. The leverage ratio is

calculatedby dividing our total liabilities by total stockholders’ equity at the end of each period. Long positions in TBAs are considered a
component of the pass-through Agency RMBS category. While there is no explicit leverage applied to TBAs via repurchase 
agreementborrowings, as is the case with pass-through securities, to accurately reflect our reported leverage ratio, we calculate our leverage
bothwith and without the market value of the net futures contract as a component of our total leverage exposure for purposes of
reportingour leverage ratio and other risk metrics. We include our net TBA position in our measure of leverage because a forward contract
toacquire Agency RMBS in the TBA market carries similar risks to Agency RMBS purchased in the cash market and funded with
on-balance sheet liabilities. Similarly, a TBA contract for the forward sale of Agency RMBS has substantially the same effect as
selling theunderlying Agency RMBS and reducing our on-balance sheet funding commitments.

The amount of leverage typically will be a function of the capital allocated to the pass-through Agency RMBS portfolio and
theamount of haircuts required by our lenders on our borrowings. When the capital allocation to the pass-through Agency RMBS

portfoliois high, we expect that the leverage ratio will be high because more capital is being explicitly leveraged and less capital is un-
leveraged. If the haircuts, which are a percentage of the market value of the collateral pledged, required by our lenders on our
borrowings are higher, all else being equal, our leverage will be lower because our lenders will lend less against the value of the
capitaldeployed to the pass-through Agency RMBS portfolio. The allocation of capital between the two portfolios will be a function of
severalfactors:

● The relative durations of the respective portfolios — We generally seek to have a combined hedged duration at or near
zero. Ifour pass-through securities have a longer duration, we will allocate more capital to the structured security portfolio or
hedgesto achieve a combined duration close to zero.

● The relative attractiveness of pass-through securities versus structured securities — To the extent we believe the expected
returns of one type of security are higher than the other, we will allocate more capital to the more attractive securities,
subjectto the caveat that its combined duration remains at or near zero and subject to maintaining our qualification for exemption
under the Investment Company Act.

● Liquidity — We seek to maintain adequate cash and unencumbered securities relative to our repurchase agreement
borrowings to ensure we can meet any price or prepayment related margin calls from our lenders. To the extent we feel
priceor prepayment related margin calls will be higher/lower, we will typically allocate less/more capital to the pass-through
AgencyRMBS portfolio. Our pass-through Agency RMBS portfolio likely will be our only source of price or prepayment related
margincalls because we generally will not apply leverage to our structured Agency RMBS portfolio. From time to time we may
pledgea portion of our structured securities and retain the cash derived so it can be used to enhance our liquidity.

Risk Management 

We invest in Agency RMBS to mitigate credit risk. Additionally, our Agency RMBS are backed by a diversified base of
mortgageloans to mitigate geographic, loan originator and other types of concentration risks. 

Interest Rate Risk Management 
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We believe that the risk of adverse interest rate movements represents the most significant risk to our portfolio. This risk
arisesbecause (i) the interest rate indices used to calculate the interest rates on the mortgages underlying our assets may be different

fromthe interest rate indices used to calculate the interest rates on the related borrowings and (ii) interest rate movements affecting our
borrowings may not be reasonably correlated with interest rate movements affecting our assets. We attempt to mitigate our interest
rate risk by using the techniques described below: 

Agency RMBS Backed by ARMs. We seek to minimize the differences between interest rate indices and interest rate adjustment
periods of our Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and related borrowings. At the time of funding, we typically align (i) the
underlyinginterest rate index used to calculate interest rates for our Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and the related borrowings and (ii) the
interest rate adjustment periods for our Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and the interest rate adjustment periods for our related
borrowings. As our borrowings mature or are renewed, we may adjust the index used to calculate interest expense, the duration of
thereset periods and the maturities of our borrowings. 

Agency RMBS Backed by Fixed-Rate Mortgages. As interest rates rise, our borrowing costs increase; however, the income on our
Agency RMBS backed by fixed-rate mortgages remains unchanged. Subject to qualifying and maintaining our qualification as a
REIT,we may seek to limit increases to our borrowing costs through the use of interest rate swap or cap agreements, options, put or call
agreements, futures contracts, forward rate agreements or similar financial instruments to economically convert our floating-rate
borrowings into fixed-rate borrowings. 

Agency RMBS Backed by Hybrid ARMs. During the fixed-rate period of our Agency RMBS backed by hybrid ARMs, the security
issimilar to Agency RMBS backed by fixed-rate mortgages. During this period, subject to qualifying and maintaining our

qualification as aREIT, we may employ the same hedging strategy that we employ for our Agency RMBS backed by fixed-rate mortgages. Once
ourAgency RMBS backed by hybrid ARMs convert to floating rate securities, we may employ the same hedging strategy as we
employ forour Agency RMBS backed by ARMs.

Derivative Instruments.We enter into derivative instruments to economically hedge against the possibility that rising rates may
adversely impact the cost of our repurchase agreement liabilities. The principal instruments that the Company has used to date are
Treasury Note (“T-Note”), Fed Funds and Eurodollar futures contracts, interest rate swaps, options to enter in interest rate swaps 
(“interestrate swaptions”) and TBA securities transactions, but the Company may enter into other derivatives in the future.

A futures contract is a legally binding agreement to buy or sell a financial instrument in a designated future month at a price
agreedupon at the initiation of the contract by the buyer and seller. A futures contract differs from an option in that an option gives one

of thecounterparties a right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell, while a futures contract represents an obligation of both counterparties
tobuy or sell a financial instrument at a specified price.

We engage in interest rate swaps as a means of managing our interest rate risk on forecasted interest expense associated with
repurchase agreement borrowings for the term of the swap contract. An interest rate swap is a contractual agreement entered into 
bytwo counterparties, under which each agrees to make periodic interest payments to the other (one pays a fixed rate of interest,
whilethe other pays a floating rate of interest) for an agreed period of time based upon a notional amount of principal.

Interest rate swaptions provide us the option to enter into an interest rate swap agreement for a predetermined notional
amount,stated term and pay and receive interest rates in the future. We may enter into swaption agreements that provide us the option to

enterinto a pay fixed rate interest rate swap ("payer swaptions"), or swaption agreements that provide us the option to enter into a
receivefixed interest rate swap ("receiver swaptions").

Additionally, our structured Agency RMBS generally exhibit sensitivities to movements in interest rates different than our
pass-through Agency RMBS. To the extent they do so, our structured Agency RMBS may protect us against declines in the market

value ofour combined portfolio that result from adverse interest rate movements, although we cannot assure you that this will be the case. 
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The Company accounts for TBA securities as derivative instruments. Gains and losses associated with TBA securities 
transactionsare reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments in the accompanying statements of operations.

Prepayment Risk Management 

The risk of mortgage prepayments is another significant risk to our portfolio. When prevailing interest rates fall below the
currentinterest rate of a mortgage, mortgage prepayments are likely to increase. Conversely, when prevailing interest rates increase above

thecoupon rate of a mortgage, mortgage prepayments are likely to decrease. 

When prepayment rates increase, we may not be able to reinvest the money received from prepayments at yields comparable
tothose of the securities prepaid. Additionally, some of our structured Agency RMBS, such as IOs and IIOs, may be negatively 

affectedby an increase in prepayment rates because their value is wholly contingent on the underlying mortgage loans having an
outstandingprincipal balance. 

A decrease in prepayment rates may also have an adverse effect on our portfolio. For example, if we invest in POs, the
purchaseprice of such securities will be based, in part, on an assumed level of prepayments on the underlying mortgage loan. Because the

returns on POs decrease the longer it takes the principal payments on the underlying loans to be paid, a decrease in prepayment
ratescould decrease our returns on these securities. 

Prepayment risk also affects our hedging activities. When an Agency RMBS backed by a fixed-rate mortgage or hybrid
ARM isacquired with borrowings, we may cap or fix our borrowing costs for a period close to the anticipated average life of the fixed-rate

portion of the related Agency RMBS. If prepayment rates are different than our projections, the term of the related hedging
instrumentmay not match the fixed-rate portion of the security, which could cause us to incur losses. 

Because our business may be adversely affected if prepayment rates are different than our projections, we seek to invest in
Agency RMBS backed by mortgages with well-documented and predictable prepayment histories. To protect against increases in
prepayment rates, we invest in Agency RMBS backed by mortgages that we believe are less likely to be prepaid. For example, we
invest in Agency RMBS backed by mortgages (i) with loan balances low enough such that a borrower would likely have little
incentiveto refinance, (ii) extended to borrowers with credit histories weak enough to not be eligible to refinance their mortgage loans, (iii)
thatare newly originated fixed-rate or hybrid ARMs or (iv) that have interest rates low enough such that a borrower would likely have
littleincentive to refinance. To protect against decreases in prepayment rates, we may also invest in Agency RMBS backed by
mortgageswith characteristics opposite to those described above, which would typically be more likely to be refinanced. We may also invest
incertain types of structured Agency RMBS as a means of mitigating our portfolio-wide prepayment risks. For example, certain
tranchesof CMOs are less sensitive to increases in prepayment rates, and we may invest in those tranches as a means of hedging against
increases in prepayment rates. 

Liquidity Management Strategy 

Because of our use of leverage, we manage liquidity to meet our lenders’ margin calls by maintaining cash balances or
unencumbered assets well in excess of anticipated margin calls and making margin calls on our lenders when we have an excess
ofcollateral pledged against our borrowings. 

We also attempt to minimize the number of margin calls we receive by: 

● Deploying capital from our leveraged Agency RMBS portfolio to our unleveraged Agency RMBS portfolio; 
● Investing in TBAs in lieu of leveraged Agency RMBS to reduce margin calls from our lenders associated with monthly

prepayments;
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● Investing in Agency RMBS backed by mortgages that we believe are less likely to be prepaid to decrease the risk of
excessivemargin calls when monthly prepayments are announced. Prepayments are declared, and the market value of the related
security declines, before the receipt of the related cash flows. Prepayment declarations give rise to a temporary collateral
deficiency and generally result in margin calls by lenders; and

● Reducing our overall amount of leverage. 
 

To the extent we are unable to adequately manage our interest rate exposure and are subjected to substantial margin calls, we
may be forced to sell assets at an inopportune time, which in turn could impair our liquidity and reduce our borrowing capacity
and bookvalue.

Tax Structure 

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Our qualification as a REIT, and the
maintenanceof such qualification, will depend upon our ability to meet, on a continuing basis, various complex requirements under the Code

relatingto, among other things, the sources of our gross income, the composition and values of our assets, our distribution levels and the
concentration of ownership of our capital stock. We believe that we have been organized and have operated in conformity with the
requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and we intend to continue to operate in a manner that will
enableus to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.

As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the REIT taxable income that we currently
distribute toour stockholders. Taxable income generated by any taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) that we may form or acquire will be subject

toU.S. federal, state and local income tax. Under the Code, REITs are subject to numerous organizational and operational
requirements,including a requirement that they distribute annually at least 90% of their REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the
deductions for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gains. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any calendar year and do not
qualifyfor certain statutory relief provisions, our income would be subject to U.S. federal income tax, and we would likely be precluded
fromqualifying for treatment as a REIT until the fifth calendar year following the year in which we failed to qualify. Even if we
continue toqualify as a REIT, we may still be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our income and assets and to U.S.
federalincome and excise taxes on our undistributed income. 

Investment Company Act Exemption 

We operate our business so that we are exempt from registration under the Investment Company Act. We rely on the
exemptionprovided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act, which applies to companies in the business of purchasing or

otherwiseacquiring mortgages and other liens on, and interests in, real estate. In order to rely on the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(5)
(C),we must maintain at least 55% of our assets in qualifying real estate assets. For the purposes of this test, structured Agency RMBS
arenon-qualifying real estate assets. We monitor our portfolio continuously and prior to each investment to confirm that we continue
toqualify for the exemption. To qualify for the exemption, we make investments so that at least 55% of the assets we own consist of
qualifying mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate, which we refer to as qualifying real estate assets, and so that at
least 80% of the assets we own consist of real estate-related assets, including our qualifying real estate assets. 

We treat whole-pool pass-through Agency RMBS as qualifying real estate assets based on no-action letters issued by the staff
ofthe SEC. In August 2011, the SEC, through a concept release, requested comments on interpretations of Section 3(c)(5)(C). To the

extent that the SEC or its staff publishes new or different guidance with respect to these matters, we may fail to qualify for this
exemption. Our Manager manages our pass-through Agency RMBS portfolio such that we have sufficient whole-pool pass-
throughAgency RMBS to ensure we maintain our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act. At present, we
generally donot expect that our investments in structured Agency RMBS will constitute qualifying real estate assets, but will constitute real
estate-related assets for purposes of the Investment Company Act. 
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Employees and Human Capital Resources 

We have no employees. We are externally managed and advised by our Manager pursuant to a management agreement as
discussed below. 

Competition 

Our net income largely depends on our ability to acquire Agency RMBS at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs. 
When weinvest in Agency RMBS and other investment assets, we compete with a variety of institutional investors, including other REITs,

insurance companies, mutual funds, pension funds, investment banking firms, banks and other financial institutions that invest in
thesame types of assets, the Federal Reserve Bank and other governmental entities or government-sponsored entities. Many of these
investors have greater financial resources and access to lower costs of capital than we do. The existence of these competitive
entities,as well as the possibility of additional entities forming in the future, may increase the competition for the acquisition of mortgage
relatedsecurities, resulting in higher prices and lower yields on assets. 

Distributions

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without 
regard tothe deductions for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, to our stockholders each year. We plan to continue to declare

andpay regular monthly dividends to our stockholders.

Available Information

Our investor relations website is www.orchidislandcapital.com. We make available on the website under “Financials/SEC
filings,"free of charge, our annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K and any

otherreports (including any amendments to such reports) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such
materials to the SEC. Information on our website, however, is not part of this Report. In addition, all of our filed reports can be
obtainedat the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Summary of Risk Factors

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This
summarydoes not address all of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other

risksthat we face, can be found below under the heading “Risk Factors” and should be carefully considered, together with other
informationin this Report and our other filings with the SEC, before making an investment decision regarding our common stock.

● Increases in interest rates may negatively affect the value of our investments and increase the cost of our borrowings, which
couldresult in reduced earnings or losses and materially adversely affect our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● An increase in interest rates may also cause a decrease in the volume of newly issued, or investor demand for, Agency RMBS,
which could materially adversely affect our ability to acquire assets that satisfy our investment objectives and our business,
financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

● Interest rate mismatches between our Agency RMBS and our borrowings may reduce our net interest margin during periods
ofchanging interest rates, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and
ourability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

● Although structured Agency RMBS are generally subject to the same risks as our pass-through Agency RMBS, certain types
ofrisks may be enhanced depending on the type of structured Agency RMBS in which we invest.

● Differences in the stated maturity of our fixed rate assets, or in the timing of interest rate adjustments on our adjustable-rate
assets, and our borrowings may adversely affect our profitability.

● Changes in the levels of prepayments on the mortgages underlying our Agency RMBS might decrease net interest income or
result in a net loss, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our
ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● Interest rate caps on the ARMs and hybrid ARMs backing our Agency RMBS may reduce our net interest margin during
periods ofrising interest rates, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our
ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● Volatile market conditions for mortgages and mortgage-related assets as well as the broader financial markets can result in a
significant contraction in liquidity for mortgages and mortgage-related assets, which may adversely affect the value of the
assets inwhich we invest.

● Failure to procure adequate repurchase agreement financing, or to renew or replace existing repurchase agreement financing
as itmatures, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

● Adverse market developments could cause our lenders to require us to pledge additional assets as collateral. If our assets were
insufficient to meet these collateral requirements, we might be compelled to liquidate particular assets at inopportune times
and atunfavorable prices, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our
ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● Hedging against interest rate exposure may not completely insulate us from interest rate risk and could materially adversely
affectour business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● Our use of leverage could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability
topay distributions to our stockholders.

● It may be uneconomical to "roll" our TBA dollar roll transactions or we may be unable to meet margin calls on our TBA
contracts,which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

● Our forward settling transactions, including TBA transactions, subject us to certain risks, including price risks and
counterpartyrisks.

● We rely on analytical models and other data to analyze potential asset acquisition and disposition opportunities and to manage
ourportfolio. Such models and other data may be incorrect, misleading or incomplete, which could cause us to purchase assets
thatdo not meet our expectations or to make asset management decisions that are not in line with our strategy.
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● Valuations of some of our assets are inherently uncertain, may be based on estimates, may fluctuate over short periods of time
and may differ from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these assets existed. As a result, the values of
some of our assets are uncertain.

● If our lenders default on their obligations to resell the Agency RMBS back to us at the end of the repurchase transaction term,
if thevalue of the Agency RMBS has declined by the end of the repurchase transaction term or if we default on our obligations
under therepurchase transaction, we will lose money on these transactions, which, in turn, may materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● Clearing facilities or exchanges upon which some of our hedging instruments are traded may increase margin requirements on
ourhedging instruments in the event of adverse economic developments.

● We may change our investment strategy, investment guidelines and asset allocation without notice or stockholder consent,
whichmay result in riskier investments. 

● A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or severe recession or declining real estate values could impair our investments
andharm our operations.

● New laws may be passed affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, on the one hand, and the federal
government, on the other, which could adversely affect the price of, or our ability to invest in and finance, Agency RMBS.

● The management agreement with our Manager was not negotiated on an arm’s-length basis and the terms, including fees
payableand our inability to terminate, or our election not to renew, the management agreement based on our Manager’s poor
performancewithout paying our Manager a significant termination fee, except for a termination of the Manager with cause, may not be as
favorable to us as if it were negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.

● We have no employees, and our Manager is responsible for making all of our investment decisions. None of our or our
Manager’sofficers are required to devote any specific amount of time to our business, and each of them may provide their services to
Bimini,which could result in conflicts of interest.

● We are completely dependent upon our Manager and certain key personnel of Bimini who provide services to us through the
management agreement, and we may not find suitable replacements for our Manager and these personnel if the management
agreement is terminated or such key personnel are no longer available to us.

● If we elect to not renew the management agreement without cause, we would be required to pay our Manager a substantial
termination fee. These and other provisions in our management agreement make non-renewal of our management agreement
difficult and costly.

● We have not established a minimum distribution payment level, and we cannot assure you of our ability to make distributions
toour stockholders in the future.

● Loss of our exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act would negatively affect the value of shares of our
common stock and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

● Failure to obtain and maintain an exemption from being regulated as a commodity pool operator could subject us to additional
regulation and compliance requirements and may result in fines and other penalties which could materially adversely affect
ourbusiness and financial condition.

● Our ownership limitations and certain other provisions of applicable law and our charter and bylaws may restrict business
combination opportunities that would otherwise be favorable to our stockholders.

● Our failure to maintain our qualification as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax, which could adversely affect
thevalue of the shares of our common stock and would substantially reduce the cash available for distribution to our
stockholders.● We cannot predict the effect that government policies, laws and plans adopted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
global recessionary economic conditions will have on us.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below and all other information contained in this Report, including our
annualfinancial statements and related notes thereto, before making an investment decision regarding our common stock. Our business,

financial condition or results of operations could be harmed by any of these risks. Similarly, these risks could cause the market
price ofour common stock to decline and you might lose all or part of your investment. Our forward-looking statements in this Report are
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subject to the following risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated by our forward-
lookingstatements as a result of the risk factors below.

Risks Related to Our Business

Increases in interest rates may negatively affect the value of our investments and increase the cost of our borrowings, which
could result in reduced earnings or losses and materially adversely affect our ability to pay distributions to our
stockholders.
Under normal market conditions, an investment in Agency RMBS will decline in value if interest rates increase. In addition,
netinterest income could decrease if the yield curve becomes inverted or flat. While Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae

guaranteethe principal and interest payments related to the Agency RMBS we own, this guarantee does not protect us from declines in
marketvalue caused by changes in interest rates. Declines in the market value of our investments may ultimately result in losses to us,
whichmay reduce earnings and negatively affect our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

 
Significant increases in both long-term and short-term interest rates pose a substantial risk associated with our investment in

Agency RMBS. If long-term rates were to increase significantly, the market value of our Agency RMBS would decline, and the
durationand weighted average life of the investments would increase. We could realize a loss if the securities were sold. At the same time,
anincrease in short-term interest rates would increase the amount of interest owed on our repurchase agreements used to finance the
purchase of Agency RMBS, which would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders. Using this business model,
weare particularly susceptible to the effects of an inverted yield curve, where short-term rates are higher than long-term rates.
Althoughrare in a historical context, the U.S. and many countries in Europe have experienced inverted yield curves. Given the volatile
nature ofthe U.S. economy and potential future increases in short-term interest rates, there can be no guarantee that the yield curve will not
become and/or remain inverted. If this occurs, it could result in a decline in the value of our Agency RMBS, our business,
financialposition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders could be materially adversely affected. 

An increase in interest rates may also cause a decrease in the volume of newly issued, or investor demand for, Agency
RMBS,which could materially adversely affect our ability to acquire assets that satisfy our investment objectives and our business,
financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Rising interest rates generally reduce the demand for consumer credit, including mortgage loans, due to the higher cost of
borrowing. A reduction in the volume of mortgage loans may affect the volume of Agency RMBS available to us, which could
affect ourability to acquire assets that satisfy our investment objectives. Rising interest rates may also cause Agency RMBS that were
issuedprior to an interest rate increase to provide yields that exceed prevailing market interest rates. If rising interest rates cause us to be
unable to acquire a sufficient volume of Agency RMBS or Agency RMBS with a yield that exceeds our borrowing costs, our
ability tosatisfy our investment objectives and to generate income and pay dividends, our business, financial condition and results of
operations,and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders may be materially adversely affected. 

Interest rate mismatches between our Agency RMBS and our borrowings may reduce our net interest margin during periods
ofchanging interest rates, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
and ourability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Our portfolio includes Agency RMBS backed by ARMs, hybrid ARMs and fixed-rate mortgages, and the mix of these
securities inthe portfolio may be increased or decreased over time. Additionally, the interest rates on ARMs and hybrid ARMs may vary over

timebased on changes in a short-term interest rate index, of which there are many. 

We finance our acquisitions of pass-through Agency RMBS with short-term financing. During periods of rising short-term
interestrates, the income we earn on these securities will not change (with respect to Agency RMBS backed by fixed-rate mortgage loans)

or
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will not increase at the same rate (with respect to Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and hybrid ARMs) as our related financing
costs,which may reduce our net interest margin or result in losses. 

We invest in structured Agency RMBS, including IOs, IIOs and POs. Although structured Agency RMBS are generally
subject tothe same risks as our pass-through Agency RMBS, certain types of risks may be enhanced depending on the type of
structuredAgency RMBS in which we invest.

The structured Agency RMBS in which we invest are securitizations (i) issued by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae,
(ii)collateralized by Agency RMBS and (iii) divided into various tranches that have different characteristics (such as different

maturities ordifferent coupon payments). These securities may carry greater risk than an investment in pass-through Agency RMBS. For
example,certain types of structured Agency RMBS, such as IOs, IIOs and POs, are more sensitive to prepayment risks than pass-through
Agency RMBS. If we were to invest in structured Agency RMBS that were more sensitive to prepayment risks relative to other
types ofstructured Agency RMBS or pass-through Agency RMBS, we may increase our portfolio-wide prepayment risk. 

Differences in the stated maturity of our fixed rate assets, or in the timing of interest rate adjustments on our adjustable-rate
assets, and our borrowings may adversely affect our profitability.

We rely primarily on short-term and/or variable rate borrowings to acquire fixed-rate securities with long-term maturities. In
addition, we may have adjustable-rate assets with interest rates that vary over time based upon changes in an objective index, such
asLIBOR, the U.S. Treasury rate or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). These indices generally reflect short-term
interestrates but these assets may not reset in a manner that matches our borrowings.

The relationship between short-term and longer-term interest rates is often referred to as the "yield curve." Ordinarily, short-
terminterest rates are lower than longer-term interest rates. If short-term interest rates rise disproportionately relative to longer-term

interestrates (a "flattening" of the yield curve), our borrowing costs may increase more rapidly than the interest income earned on our
assets.Because our investments generally bear interest at longer-term rates than we pay on our borrowings, a flattening of the yield curve
would tend to decrease our net interest income and the market value of our investment portfolio. Additionally, to the extent cash
flowsfrom investments that return scheduled and unscheduled principal are reinvested, the spread between the yields on the new
investments and available borrowing rates may decline, which would likely decrease our net income. It is also possible that short-
terminterest rates may exceed longer-term interest rates (a yield curve "inversion"), in which event our borrowing costs may exceed
ourinterest income and result in operating losses.

Purchases and sales of Agency RMBS by the Fed may adversely affect the price and return associated with Agency RMBS.

The Fed owns approximately $2.6 trillion of Agency RMBS as of December 31, 2021. Although the Fed’s Agency RMBS
holdingsnearly doubled as a result of its COVID-19 policy response, growing from $1.4 trillion in March of 2020 to $2.6 trillion in

December of2021, the minutes of the FOMC meeting in December of 2021 indicate that the Fed likely intends to begin reducing its Agency
RMBSholdings shortly after it begins to raise the federal funds rate. On January 26, 2022, the FOMC reaffirmed its intention to phase
out itsnet asset purchases by early March of 2022 and indicated that it would soon be appropriate to begin raising the federal funds rate. 
While it is very difficult to predict the impact of the Fed portfolio runoff on the prices and liquidity of Agency RMBS, returns on
AgencyRMBS may be adversely affected.

Increased levels of prepayments on the mortgages underlying our Agency RMBS might decrease net interest income or result
ina net loss, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability
to paydistributions to our stockholders.

In the case of residential mortgages, there are seldom any restrictions on borrowers’ ability to prepay their loans.
Prepaymentrates generally increase when interest rates fall and decrease when interest rates rise. Prepayment rates also may be affected by

other
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factors, including, without limitation, conditions in the housing and financial markets, governmental action, general economic
conditionsand the relative interest rates on ARMs, hybrid ARMs and fixed-rate mortgage loans. With respect to pass-through Agency
RMBS,faster-than-expected prepayments could also materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
andour ability to pay distributions to our stockholders in various ways, including the following: 

● A portion of our pass-through Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and hybrid ARMs may initially bear interest at rates that
arelower than their fully indexed rates, which are equivalent to the applicable index rate plus a margin. If a pass-through
AgencyRMBS backed by ARMs or hybrid ARMs is prepaid prior to or soon after the time of adjustment to a fully-indexed rate,
we willhave held that Agency RMBS while it was less profitable and lost the opportunity to receive interest at the fully-indexed
rateover the remainder of its expected life.

● If we are unable to acquire new Agency RMBS to replace the prepaid Agency RMBS, our returns on capital may be lower
thanif we were able to quickly acquire new Agency RMBS.

When we acquire structured Agency RMBS, we anticipate that the underlying mortgages will prepay at a projected rate,
generating an expected yield. When the prepayment rates on the mortgages underlying our structured Agency RMBS are higher
thanexpected, our returns on those securities may be materially adversely affected. For example, the value of our IOs and IIOs are
extremely sensitive to prepayments because holders of these securities do not have the right to receive any principal payments on
theunderlying mortgages. Therefore, if the mortgage loans underlying our IOs and IIOs are prepaid, such securities would cease to
haveany value, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our
ability topay distributions to our stockholders. 

While we seek to minimize prepayment risk, we must balance prepayment risk against other risks and the potential returns
ofeach investment. No strategy can completely insulate us from prepayment or other such risks. 

A decrease in prepayment rates on the mortgages underlying our Agency RMBS might decrease net interest income or result
ina net loss, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability
to paydistributions to our stockholders.

Certain of our structured Agency RMBS may be adversely affected by a decrease in prepayment rates. For example, because
POs are similar to zero-coupon bonds, our expected returns on such securities will be contingent on our receiving the principal
payments of the underlying mortgage loans at expected intervals that assume a certain prepayment rate. If prepayment rates are
lowerthan expected, we will not receive principal payments as quickly as we anticipated and, therefore, our expected returns on these
securities will be adversely affected, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
ofoperations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

While we seek to minimize prepayment risk, we must balance prepayment risk against other risks and the potential returns
ofeach investment. No strategy can completely insulate us from prepayment or other such risks. 

Failure to procure adequate repurchase agreement financing, or to renew or replace existing repurchase agreement
financing asit matures, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to
makedistributions to our stockholders.

We intend to maintain master repurchase agreements with several counterparties. We cannot assure you that any, or
sufficient,repurchase agreement financing will be available to us in the future on terms that are acceptable to us. Any decline in the value of

Agency RMBS, or perceived market uncertainty about their value, would make it more difficult for us to obtain financing on
favorableterms or at all, or maintain our compliance with the terms of any financing arrangements already in place. We may be unable to
diversify the credit risk associated with our lenders. In the event that we cannot obtain sufficient funding on acceptable terms, our
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business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders may be materially
adversely affected. 

Furthermore, because we intend to rely primarily on short-term borrowings to fund our acquisition of Agency RMBS, our
ability toachieve our investment objectives will depend not only on our ability to borrow money in sufficient amounts and on favorable

terms, butalso on our ability to renew or replace on a continuous basis our maturing short-term borrowings. If we are not able to renew or
replacematuring borrowings, we will have to sell some or all of our assets, possibly under adverse market conditions. In addition, if the
regulatory capital requirements imposed on our lenders change, they may be required to significantly increase the cost of the
financingthat they provide to us. Our lenders also may revise their eligibility requirements for the types of assets they are willing to finance
or theterms of such financings, based on, among other factors, the regulatory environment and their management of perceived risk.

 
Adverse market developments could cause our lenders to require us to pledge additional assets as collateral. If our assets
wereinsufficient to meet these collateral requirements, we might be compelled to liquidate particular assets at inopportune times
andat unfavorable prices, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
and ourability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Adverse market developments, including a sharp or prolonged rise in interest rates, a change in prepayment rates or
increasingmarket concern about the value or liquidity of one or more types of Agency RMBS, might reduce the market value of our

portfolio,which might cause our lenders to initiate margin calls. A margin call means that the lender requires us to pledge additional
collateral tore-establish the ratio of the value of the collateral to the amount of the borrowing. The specific collateral value to borrowing ratio
thatwould trigger a margin call is not set in the master repurchase agreements and not determined until we engage in a repurchase
transaction under these agreements. Our fixed-rate Agency RMBS generally are more susceptible to margin calls as increases in
interest rates tend to more negatively affect the market value of fixed-rate securities. If we are unable to satisfy margin calls, our
lenders may foreclose on our collateral. The threat or occurrence of a margin call could force us to sell, either directly or through a
foreclosure, our Agency RMBS under adverse market conditions. Because of the significant leverage we expect to have, we may
incursubstantial losses upon the threat or occurrence of a margin call, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. Additionally, the liquidation of
collateral mayjeopardize our ability to maintain our qualification as a REIT, as we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our
sources of gross income. Our failure to maintain our qualification as a REIT would cause us to be subject to U.S. federal income
tax(and any applicable state and local taxes) on all of our net taxable income. 

Hedging against interest rate exposure may not completely insulate us from interest rate risk and could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

To the extent consistent with maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we may enter into interest rate cap or swap
agreements orpursue other hedging strategies, including the purchase of puts, calls or other options and futures contracts in order to hedge the

interest rate risk of our portfolio. In general, our hedging strategy depends on our view of our entire portfolio consisting of assets,
liabilities and derivative instruments, in light of prevailing market conditions. We could misjudge the condition of our investment
portfolioor the market. Our hedging activity will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates and principal prepayments,
thetype of Agency RMBS we hold and other changing market conditions. Hedging may fail to protect or could adversely affect us
because,among other things: 

● hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates;
● available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought;
● the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability;
● certain types of hedges may expose us to risk of loss beyond the fee paid to initiate the hedge;
● the amount of gross income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions, other than hedging transactions that satisfy

certain requirements of the Code, is limited by the U.S. federal income tax provisions governing REITs;
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● the credit quality of the counterparty on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs our ability to sell
orassign our side of the hedging transaction; and

● the counterparty in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay.

There are no perfect hedging strategies, and interest rate hedging may fail to protect us from loss. Alternatively, we may fail
toproperly assess a risk to our investment portfolio or may fail to recognize a risk entirely, leaving us exposed to losses without the

benefit of any offsetting hedging activities. The derivative financial instruments we select may not have the effect of reducing our
interest rate risk. The nature and timing of hedging transactions may influence the effectiveness of these strategies. Poorly
designedstrategies or improperly executed transactions could actually increase our risk and losses. In addition, hedging activities could
result inlosses if the event against which we hedge does not occur. 

Because of the foregoing risks, our hedging activity could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and
resultsof operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

Our use of certain hedging techniques may expose us to counterparty risks.

To the extent that our hedging instruments are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its
clearinghouse, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities, there may not be requirements with respect to record
keeping, financial responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the enforceability of agreements
underlying hedging transactions may depend on compliance with applicable statutory, exchange and other regulatory requirements
and, depending on the domicile of the counterparty, applicable international requirements. Consequently, if any of these issues
causesa counterparty to fail to perform under a derivative agreement we could incur a significant loss. 

For example, if a swap exchange utilized in an interest rate swap agreement that we enter into as part of our hedging strategy
cannot perform under the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, we may not receive payments due under that agreement, and,
thus, we may lose any potential benefit associated with the interest rate swap. Additionally, we may also risk the loss of any
collateralwe have pledged to secure our obligations under these swap agreements if the exchange becomes insolvent or files for bankruptcy.
Similarly, if an interest rate swaption counterparty fails to perform under the terms of the interest rate swaption agreement, in
additionto not being able to exercise or otherwise cash settle the agreement, we could also incur a loss for the premium paid for that 
swaption.

Our use of leverage could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our
ability topay distributions to our stockholders.

We calculate our leverage ratio by dividing our total liabilities by total equity at the end of each period. Under normal
marketconditions, we generally expect our leverage ratio to be less than 12 to 1, although at times our borrowings may be above or below

thislevel. We incur this indebtedness by borrowing against a substantial portion of the market value of our pass-through Agency
RMBS anda portion of our structured Agency RMBS. Our total indebtedness, however, is not expressly limited by our policies and will
depend onour prospective lenders’ estimates of the stability of our portfolio’s cash flow. As a result, there is no limit on the amount of 
leverage thatwe may incur. We face the risk that we might not be able to meet our debt service obligations or a lender’s margin requirements
fromour income and, to the extent we cannot, we might be forced to liquidate some of our Agency RMBS at unfavorable prices. Our
use ofleverage could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay
distributionsto our stockholders. For example: 

● our borrowings are secured by our pass-through Agency RMBS and a portion of our structured Agency RMBS under
repurchase agreements. A decline in the market value of the pass-through Agency RMBS or structured Agency RMBS
used tosecure these debt obligations could limit our ability to borrow or result in lenders requiring us to pledge additional
collateral tosecure our borrowings. In that situation, we could be required to sell Agency RMBS under adverse market conditions in
order
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to obtain the additional collateral required by the lender. If these sales are made at prices lower than the carrying value of
theAgency RMBS, we would experience losses.

● to the extent we are compelled to liquidate qualifying real estate assets to repay debts, our compliance with the REIT rules
regarding our assets and our sources of gross income could be negatively affected, which could jeopardize our
qualification asa REIT. Losing our REIT qualification would cause us to be subject to U.S. federal income tax (and any applicable state
andlocal taxes) on all of our income and would decrease profitability and cash available for distributions to stockholders.

If we experience losses as a result of our use of leverage, such losses could materially adversely affect our business, results
ofoperations and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. 

It may be uneconomical to "roll" our TBA dollar roll transactions or we may be unable to meet margin calls on our TBA
contracts,which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We may utilize TBA dollar roll transactions as a means of investing in and financing Agency RMBS. TBA contracts enable
us topurchase or sell, for future delivery, Agency RMBS with certain principal and interest terms and certain types of collateral, but the

particular Agency RMBS to be delivered are not identified until shortly before the TBA settlement date. Prior to settlement of the
TBAcontract we may choose to move the settlement of the securities out to a later date by entering into an offsetting position (referred
to asa "pair off"), net settling the paired off positions for cash, and simultaneously purchasing a similar TBA contract for a later
settlementdate, collectively referred to as a "dollar roll." The Agency RMBS purchased for a forward settlement date under the TBA
contract aretypically priced at a discount to Agency RMBS for settlement in the current month. This difference (or discount) is referred to as
the"price drop." The price drop is the economic equivalent of net interest income earned from carrying the underlying Agency
RMBS overthe roll period (interest income less implied financing cost). Consequently, dollar roll transactions and such forward purchases of
Agency RMBS represent a form of off-balance sheet financing and increase our "at risk" leverage.

Under certain market conditions, TBA dollar roll transactions may result in negative carry income whereby the Agency
RMBSpurchased for a forward settlement date under the TBA contract are priced at a premium to Agency RMBS for settlement in the

currentmonth. Additionally, sales of some or all of the Fed's holdings of Agency RMBS, or declines in purchases of Agency RMBS by
the Fedcould adversely impact the dollar roll market. Under such conditions, it may be uneconomical to roll our TBA positions prior to
thesettlement date and we could have to take physical delivery of the underlying securities and settle our obligations for cash. We
may nothave sufficient funds or alternative financing sources available to settle such obligations. In addition, pursuant to the margin
provisionsestablished by the Mortgage-Backed Securities Division ("MBSD") of the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, we are subject to
margincalls on our TBA contracts. Further, our clearing and custody agreements may require us to post additional margin above the
levelsestablished by the MBSD. Negative carry income on TBA dollar roll transactions or failure to procure adequate financing to settle
ourobligations or meet margin calls under our TBA contracts could result in defaults or force us to sell assets under adverse market
conditions and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Interest rate caps on the ARMs and hybrid ARMs backing our Agency RMBS may reduce our net interest margin during
periodsof rising interest rates, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
and ourability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

ARMs and hybrid ARMs are typically subject to periodic and lifetime interest rate caps. Periodic interest rate caps limit the
amount an interest rate can increase during any given period. Lifetime interest rate caps limit the amount an interest rate can
increasethrough the maturity of the loan. Our borrowings typically are not subject to similar restrictions. Accordingly, in a period of
rapidlyincreasing interest rates, our financing costs could increase without limitation while caps could limit the interest we earn on the
ARMsand hybrid ARMs backing our Agency RMBS. This problem is magnified for ARMs and hybrid ARMs that are not fully indexed
becausesuch periodic interest rate caps prevent the coupon on the security from fully reaching the specified rate in one reset. Further,
someARMs and hybrid ARMs may be subject to periodic payment caps that result in a portion of the interest being deferred and added
to theprincipal outstanding. As a result, we may receive less cash income on Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and hybrid ARMs than
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necessary to pay interest on our related borrowings. Interest rate caps on Agency RMBS backed by ARMs and hybrid ARMs
couldreduce our net interest margin if interest rates were to increase beyond the level of the caps, which could materially adversely
affectour business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

Volatile market conditions for mortgages and mortgage-related assets as well as the broader financial markets can result in
asignificant contraction in liquidity for mortgages and mortgage-related assets, which may adversely affect the value of the
assetsin which we invest.

Our results of operations are materially affected by conditions in the markets for mortgages and mortgage-related assets,
including Agency RMBS, as well as the broader financial markets and the economy generally.

Significant adverse changes in financial market conditions can result in a deleveraging of the global financial system and the
forced sale of large quantities of mortgage-related and other financial assets. Concerns over economic recession, geopolitical
issuesincluding events such as the COVID-19 pandemic, policy priorities of a new U.S. presidential administration, trade wars,
unemployment, the availability and cost of financing, the mortgage market and a declining real estate market or prolonged
governmentshutdown may contribute to increased volatility and diminished expectations for the economy and markets.

Increased volatility and deterioration in the markets for mortgages and mortgage-related assets as well as the broader
financialmarkets may adversely affect the performance and market value of our Agency RMBS. If these conditions exist, institutions from

whichwe seek financing for our investments may tighten their lending standards, increase margin calls or become insolvent, which
couldmake it more difficult for us to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all. Our profitability and financial condition may be
adverselyaffected if we are unable to obtain cost-effective financing for our investments.

Our forward settling transactions, including TBA transactions, subject us to certain risks, including price risks and
counterpartyrisks.

We purchase some of our Agency RMBS through forward settling transactions, including TBAs. In a forward settling
transaction,we enter into a forward purchase agreement with a counterparty to purchase either (i) an identified Agency RMBS, or (ii) a TBA,

or to-be-issued, Agency RMBS with certain terms. As with any forward purchase contract, the value of the underlying Agency RMBS
maydecrease between the trade date and the settlement date. Furthermore, a transaction counterparty may fail to deliver the underlying
Agency RMBS at the settlement date. If any of these risks were to occur, our financial condition and results of operations may be
materially adversely affected.

The implementation of the Single Security Initiative may adversely affect our results and financial condition.

The Single Security Initiative is a joint initiative of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (the “Enterprises”), under the direction of
theFHFA, the Enterprises’ regulator and conservator, to develop a common, single mortgage-backed security issued by the

Enterprises.
On June 3, 2019, with the implementation of Release 2 of the common securitization platform, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae

commenced use of a common, single mortgage-backed security, known as the Uniform Mortgage-Backed Security (“UMBS”). 
FannieMae pools are now eligible for conversion into UMBS pools and Freddie Mac pools can be exchanged for UMBS pools. The
conversionis not mandatory. UMBS is intended to enhance liquidity in the TBA market as the two GSEs’ floats are combined, eliminating or
reducing the market pricing subsidy that Freddie Mac currently provides to lenders to pool their loans with Freddie Mac instead of
Fannie Mae, and pave the way for future GSE reform by allowing new entrants to enter the MBS guarantee market.

The current float of Gold Participation Certificates (“Gold PCs”) issued by Freddie Mac is materially smaller than the float
ofFannie Mae securities. To the extent Gold PCs are converted into UMBS, the float will contract further. A further decline could

impactthe liquidity of Gold PCs not converted into UMBS. Secondly, the TBA deliverable has appeared to deteriorate as the Fannie Mae
and
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Freddie Mac pools with the worst prepayment characteristics are delivered into new TBA securities, concentrating the poorest
poolsinto the TBA deliverable, which has negatively impacted their performance. To the extent investors recognize the relative
performanceof Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac pools over the other, they may stipulate that they only wish to be delivered TBA securities with
poolsfrom the better performing GSE. By bifurcating the TBA deliverable, liquidity in the TBA market could be negatively impacted.

Our liquidity is typically reduced each month when we receive margin calls related to factor changes, and typically increased
each month when we receive payment of principal and interest on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac securities. Legacy Freddie Mac
securities pay principal and interest earlier in the month than Fannie Mae and UMBS, meaning that legacy Freddie Mac positions
reduce the period of time between meeting factor-related margin calls and receiving principal and interest. The percentage of
legacyFreddie Mac positions in the market and in our portfolio will likely decrease over time as those securities are converted to UMBS
orpaid off.

We rely on analytical models and other data to analyze potential asset acquisition and disposition opportunities and to
manageour portfolio. Such models and other data may be incorrect, misleading or incomplete, which could cause us to purchase
assetsthat do not meet our expectations or to make asset management decisions that are not in line with our strategy.

We rely on analytical models, and information and other data supplied by third parties. These models and data may be used
tovalue assets or potential asset acquisitions and dispositions and in connection with our asset management activities. If our models

anddata prove to be incorrect, misleading or incomplete, any decisions made in reliance thereon could expose us to potential risks. 

Our reliance on models and data may induce us to purchase certain assets at prices that are too high, to sell certain other
assetsat prices that are too low or to miss favorable opportunities altogether. Similarly, any hedging activities that are based on faulty

modelsand data may prove to be unsuccessful. 

Some models, such as prepayment models, may be predictive in nature. The use of predictive models has inherent risks. For
example, such models may incorrectly forecast future behavior, leading to potential losses. In addition, the predictive models used
byus may differ substantially from those models used by other market participants, resulting in valuations based on these predictive
models that may be substantially higher or lower for certain assets than actual market prices. Furthermore, because predictive
modelsare usually constructed based on historical data supplied by third parties, the success of relying on such models may depend
heavilyon the accuracy and reliability of the supplied historical data, and, in the case of predicting performance in scenarios with little or
nohistorical precedent (such as extreme broad-based declines in home prices, or deep economic recessions or depressions), such
models must employ greater degrees of extrapolation and are therefore more speculative and less reliable. 

All valuation models rely on correct market data input. If incorrect market data is entered into even a well-founded valuation
model, the resulting valuations will be incorrect. However, even if market data is inputted correctly, “model prices” will often
differsubstantially from market prices, especially for securities with complex characteristics or whose values are particularly sensitive
tovarious factors. If our market data inputs are incorrect or our model prices differ substantially from market prices, our business,
financialcondition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be materially adversely affected.
 

Valuations of some of our assets are inherently uncertain, may be based on estimates, may fluctuate over short periods of
timeand may differ from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these assets existed. As a result, the values of
some of our assets are uncertain.

While in many cases our determination of the fair value of our assets is based on valuations provided by third-party dealers
andpricing services, we can and do value assets based upon our judgment, and such valuations may differ from those provided by

third-party dealers and pricing services. Valuations of certain assets are often difficult to obtain or are unreliable. In general, dealers and
pricing services heavily disclaim their valuations. Additionally, dealers may claim to furnish valuations only as an
accommodation andwithout special compensation, and so they may disclaim any and all liability for any direct, incidental or consequential damages
arising
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out of any inaccuracy or incompleteness in valuations, including any act of negligence or breach of any warranty. Depending on
thecomplexity and illiquidity of an asset, valuations of the same asset can vary substantially from one dealer or pricing service to
another.The valuation process during times of market distress can be particularly difficult and unpredictable and during such time the
disparityof valuations provided by third-party dealers can widen. 

Our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be
materially adversely affected if our fair value determinations of these assets were materially higher than the values that would
exist if aready market existed for these assets. 

Because the assets that we acquire might experience periods of illiquidity, we might be prevented from selling our Agency
RMBSat favorable times and prices, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operationsand our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Agency RMBS might experience periods of illiquidity. Such conditions are more likely to occur for structured Agency
RMBSbecause such securities are generally traded in markets much less liquid than the pass-through Agency RMBS market. As a result,

wemay be unable to dispose of our Agency RMBS at advantageous times and prices or in a timely manner. The lack of liquidity
mightresult from the absence of a willing buyer or an established market for these assets as well as legal or contractual restrictions on
resale. The illiquidity of Agency RMBS could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations andour ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

Our use of repurchase agreements may give our lenders greater rights in the event that either we or any of our lenders file
forbankruptcy, which may make it difficult for us to recover our collateral in the event of a bankruptcy filing.

Our borrowings under repurchase agreements may qualify for special treatment under the bankruptcy code, giving our
lendersthe ability to avoid the automatic stay provisions of the bankruptcy code and to take possession of and liquidate our collateral

under therepurchase agreements without delay if we file for bankruptcy. Furthermore, the special treatment of repurchase agreements under
 thebankruptcy code may make it difficult for us to recover our pledged assets in the event that any of our lenders files for bankruptcy.
Thus, the use of repurchase agreements exposes our pledged assets to risk in the event of a bankruptcy filing by either our lenders
orus. In addition, if the lender is a broker or dealer subject to the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970, or an insured depository
institution subject to the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, our ability to exercise our rights to recover our investment under a
repurchaseagreement or to be compensated for any damages resulting from the lender’s insolvency may be further limited by those statutes. 

If our lenders default on their obligations to resell the Agency RMBS back to us at the end of the repurchase transaction
term, orif the value of the Agency RMBS has declined by the end of the repurchase transaction term or if we default on our
obligationsunder the repurchase transaction, we will lose money on these transactions, which, in turn, may materially adversely affect
ourbusiness, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

When we engage in a repurchase transaction, we initially sell securities to the financial institution under one of our master
repurchase agreements in exchange for cash, and our counterparty is obligated to resell the securities to us at the end of the term
ofthe transaction, which is typically from 24 to 90 days but may be up to 364 days or more. The cash we receive when we initially
sell thesecurities is less than the value of those securities, which is referred to as the haircut. Many financial institutions from which we
mayobtain repurchase agreement financing have increased their haircuts in the past and may do so again in the future. If these haircuts
areincreased, we will be required to post additional cash or securities as collateral for our Agency RMBS. If our counterparty defaults
on itsobligation to resell the securities to us, we would incur a loss on the transaction equal to the amount of the haircut (assuming there
wasno change in the value of the securities). We would also lose money on a repurchase transaction if the value of the underlying
securities had declined as of the end of the transaction term, as we would have to repurchase the securities for their initial value
butwould receive securities worth less than that amount. Any losses we incur on our repurchase transactions could materially
adverselyaffect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 
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If we default on one of our obligations under a repurchase transaction, the counterparty can terminate the transaction and
ceaseentering into any other repurchase transactions with us. In that case, we would likely need to establish a replacement repurchase

facility with another financial institution in order to continue to leverage our portfolio and carry out our investment strategy. There
is noassurance we would be able to establish a suitable replacement facility on acceptable terms or at all. 

Clearing facilities or exchanges upon which some of our hedging instruments are traded may increase margin requirements
onour hedging instruments in the event of adverse economic developments.

In response to events having or expected to have adverse economic consequences or which create market uncertainty,
clearingfacilities or exchanges upon which some of our hedging instruments, such as T-Note, Fed Funds and Eurodollar futures contracts

andinterest rate swaps, are traded may require us to post additional collateral against our hedging instruments. In the event that future
adverse economic developments or market uncertainty result in increased margin requirements for our hedging instruments, it
couldmaterially adversely affect our liquidity position, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may change our investment strategy, investment guidelines and asset allocation without notice or stockholder consent,
whichmay result in riskier investments. In addition, our charter provides that our Board of Directors may revoke or otherwise
terminateour REIT election, without the approval of our stockholders.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to change our investment strategy or asset allocation at any time without notice to
orconsent from our stockholders. To the extent that our investment strategy changes in the future, we may make investments that are

different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments described in this Report. A change in our investment strategy may
increaseour exposure to interest rate and real estate market fluctuations. Furthermore, a change in our asset allocation could result in our
allocating assets in a different manner than as described in this Report. 

In addition, our charter provides that our Board of Directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without
theapproval of our stockholders, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interests to qualify as a REIT. These changes could

materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, the market value of our common stock and our
abilityto make distributions to our stockholders. 

A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or severe recession or declining real estate values could impair our investments
andharm our operations.

We believe the risks associated with our business will be more severe during periods of economic slowdown or recession,
especially if these periods are accompanied by declining real estate values. Declining real estate values will likely reduce the level
ofnew mortgage and other real estate-related loan originations since borrowers often use appreciation in the value of their existing
properties to support the purchase of or investment in additional properties. Borrowers may also be less able to pay principal and
interest on our loans if the value of real estate weakens. Further, declining real estate values significantly increase the likelihood
thatwe will incur losses on our loans in the event of default because the value of our collateral may be insufficient to cover its cost on
theloan. Any sustained period of increased payment delinquencies, foreclosures or losses could adversely affect our Manager’s
ability toinvest in, sell and securitize loans, which would materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition,
liquidityand business and our ability to pay dividends to stockholders.

Market disruptions in a single country could cause a worsening of conditions on a regional and even global level, and
economicproblems in a single country are increasingly affecting other markets and economies. A continuation of this trend could result in

problems in one country adversely affecting regional and even global economic conditions and markets. For example, concerns
aboutthe fiscal stability and growth prospects of certain European countries in the last economic downturn had a negative impact on
most
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economies of the Eurozone and global markets. The occurrence of similar crises in the future could cause increased volatility in
theeconomies and financial markets of countries throughout a region, or even globally.

Additionally, global trade disruption, significant introductions of trade barriers and bilateral trade frictions, together with
any futuredownturns in the global economy resulting therefrom, could adversely affect our performance.

Competition might prevent us from acquiring Agency RMBS at favorable yields, which could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

We operate in a highly competitive market for investment opportunities. Our net income largely depends on our ability to
acquireAgency RMBS at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs. In acquiring Agency RMBS, we compete with a variety of

institutionalinvestors, including other REITs, investment banking firms, savings and loan associations, banks, insurance companies, mutual
funds,other lenders, other entities that purchase Agency RMBS, the Federal Reserve, other governmental entities and government-
sponsored entities, many of which have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. Some competitors
mayhave a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources that may not be available to us, such as funding from the U.S.
government.Additionally, many of our competitors are not subject to REIT tax compliance or required to maintain an exemption from the
InvestmentCompany Act. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could
allowthem to consider a wider variety of investments. Furthermore, competition for investments in Agency RMBS may lead the price
of suchinvestments to increase, which may further limit our ability to generate desired returns. As a result, we may not be able to acquire
sufficient Agency RMBS at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs, which would materially adversely affect our business,
financialcondition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

We are highly dependent on communications and information systems operated by third parties, and systems failures could
significantly disrupt our business, which may, in turn, adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operationsand our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Our business is highly dependent on communications and information systems that allow us to monitor, value, buy, sell,
financeand hedge our investments. These systems are operated by third parties and, as a result, we have limited ability to ensure their

continued operation. In the event of a systems failure or interruption, we will have limited ability to affect the timing and success
ofsystems restoration. Any failure or interruption of our systems could cause delays or other problems in our securities trading
activities,including Agency RMBS trading activities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results ofoperations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

Computer malware, ransomware, viruses, and computer hacking and phishing attacks have become more prevalent in the
financial services industry and may occur on our or certain of our third party service providers' systems in the future. We rely
heavily onour Manager’s financial, accounting and other data processing systems. Although we have not detected a breach to date, financial
services institutions have reported breaches of their systems, some of which have been significant. During the COVID-19
pandemic, aportion of our Manager’s employees have worked remotely, which has caused us to rely more on virtual communication and may
increase our exposure to cybersecurity risks. Even with all reasonable security efforts, not every breach can be prevented or even
detected. It is possible that we, our Manager or certain of our third-party service providers have experienced an undetected breach,
and it is likely that other financial institutions have experienced more breaches than have been detected and reported. There is no
assurance that we, our Manager, or certain of the third parties that facilitate our and our Manager’s business activities, have not or
willnot experience a breach. It is difficult to determine what, if any, negative impact may directly result from any specific interruption
orcyber-attacks or security breaches of our networks or systems (or the networks or systems of certain third parties that facilitate our
business activities) or any failure to maintain performance, reliability and security of our or our certain third-party service
providers'technical infrastructure, but such computer malware, ransomware, viruses, and computer hacking and phishing attacks may
negativelyaffect our operations.
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Changes in banks’ inter-bank lending rate reporting practices or the method pursuant to which LIBOR is determined may
adversely affect the value of the financial obligations to be held or issued by us that are linked to LIBOR.

LIBOR and other indices which are deemed “benchmarks” are the subject of national, international, and other regulatory
guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be implemented. These
reformsmay cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. In
particular, regulators and law enforcement agencies in the U.K. and elsewhere are conducting criminal and civil investigations
intowhether the banks that contributed information to the British Bankers’ Association (“BBA”) in connection with the daily
calculation ofLIBOR may have been under-reporting or otherwise manipulating or attempting to manipulate LIBOR. A number of BBA
member bankshave entered into settlements with their regulators and law enforcement agencies with respect to this alleged manipulation of
LIBOR.Actions by the regulators or law enforcement agencies, as well as ICE Benchmark Administration (the current administrator of
LIBOR),may result in changes to the manner in which LIBOR is determined or the establishment of alternative reference rates.

The development of alternative reference rates is complex. In the United States, a committee was formed in 2014 to study
theprocess and come up with an alternative reference rate. The Alternative Reference Rate Committee (the “ARRC”) selected the

SOFR,an overnight secured U.S. Treasury repo rate, as the new rate and adopted a Paced Transition Plan (“PTP”), which provides a
framework for the transition from LIBOR to SOFR. SOFR is published daily at 8:00 a.m. Eastern Time by the NY Federal
Reserve Bankfor the previous business day’s trades. However, since SOFR is an overnight rate and many forms of loans or instruments used for
hedging have much longer terms, there is a need for a term structure for the new reference rate. Various central banks, including
theFed, as well as the ARRC are in the process of developing term rates to support cash markets that currently use LIBOR. Examples
ofthe cash market would be floating rate notes, syndicated and bilateral corporate loans, securitizations, secured funding transactions
and various mortgage and consumer loans – including many of the securities the Company owns from time to time such as IIOs. 
TheCompany also uses derivative securities tied to LIBOR to hedge its funding costs. Development of term rates for derivatives is
beingconducted by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”). However, ARRC and ISDA may utilize different
mechanisms to develop term rates which may cause potential mismatches between cash products or assets of the Company and
hedge instruments. The process for determining term rates by both ARRC and ISDA is not finalized at this time.

On December 31, 2021, the one week and two month USD LIBOR tenors phased out, and on June 30, 2023 all other USD
LIBOR tenors will phase out. On November 30, 2020, the United States Federal Reserve concurrently issued a statement advising
banks to stop new USD LIBOR issuances by the end of 2021, and on October 20, 2021, the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency,Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau(the “CFPB”) and National Credit Union Administration advised banks that entering into new contracts that use LIBOR as a
referencerate after December 31, 2021 would create safety and soundness risks. In light of these recent announcements, the future of
LIBOR atthis time is uncertain and any changes in the methods by which LIBOR is determined or regulatory activity related to LIBOR’s
phaseoutcould cause LIBOR to perform differently than in the past or cease to exist. Although regulators and IBA have clarified that the
recentannouncements should not be read to say that LIBOR has ceased or will cease, in the event LIBOR does cease to exist, the risks
associated with the transition to an alternative reference rate will be accelerated and magnified.

As of December 31, 2020, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac stopped issuing most LIBOR-indexed products and stopped
purchasingLIBOR-based loans. On August 3, 2020, Fannie Mae started accepting whole loan and MBS deliveries of ARMs indexed to

SOFR, andFreddie Mac announced that it priced its first SOFR linked offering on October 16, 2020. On October 19, 2021, Fannie Mae
priced itsfirst credit risk transfer transaction linked to SOFR, and on January 19, 2022 it priced its first multifamily real estate mortgage
investment conduit using SOFR. 

More generally, any of the above changes or any other consequential changes to LIBOR or any other “benchmark” as a
result ofinternational, national or other proposals for reform or other initiatives or investigations, or any further uncertainty in relation to

thetiming and manner of implementation of such changes, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any
securities based on or linked to a “benchmark.”
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New laws may be passed affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, on the one hand, and the federal
government, on the other, which could adversely affect the price of, or our ability to invest in and finance, Agency RMBS.

The interest and principal payments we expect to receive on the Agency RMBS in which we invest are guaranteed by Fannie
Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae. Principal and interest payments on Ginnie Mae certificates are directly guaranteed by the U.S.
government. Principal and interest payments relating to the securities issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are only guaranteed
byeach respective GSE.

In September 2008, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed into the conservatorship of the FHFA, their federal regulator,
pursuant to its powers under The Federal Housing Finance Regulatory Reform Act of 2008, a part of the Housing and Economic
Recovery Act of 2008 (the “Recovery Act”). In addition to the FHFA becoming the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac,
theU.S. Treasury entered into Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (“PSPAs”) with the FHFA and have taken various actions
intended toprovide Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac with additional liquidity in an effort to ensure their financial stability. In September 2019,
theFHFA and the U.S. Treasury agreed to modifications to the PSPAs that will permit Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to maintain
capitalreserves of $25 billion and $20 billion, respectively. As of September 30, 2020, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac had retained equity
capital of approximately $21 billion and $14 billion, respectively. In December 2020, a final rule was published in the federal
registerregarding GSE capital framework (the “December rule”), which requires Tier 1 capital in excess of 4% (approximately $265
billion) anda risk-weight floor of 20% for residential mortgages. On January 14, 2021, the U.S. Treasury and the FHFA executed letter
agreements (the “January agreement”) allowing the GSEs to continue to retain capital up to their regulatory minimums, including
buffers, as prescribed in the December rule. These letter agreements provide, in part, (i) there will be no exit from
conservatorship untilall material litigation is settled and the GSE has common equity Tier 1 capital of at least 3% of its assets, (ii) the GSEs will
comply withthe FHFA’s regulatory capital framework, (iii) higher-risk single-family mortgage acquisitions will be restricted to current levels,
and (iv)the U.S. Treasury and the FHFA will establish a timeline and process for future GSE reform. On September 14, 2021, the U.S.
Treasury and the FHFA suspended certain policy provisions in the January agreement, including limits on loans acquired for cash
consideration, multifamily loans, loans with higher risk characteristics and second homes and investment properties. On
September15, 2021, the FHFA announced a notice of proposed rulemaking for the purpose of amending the December rule to, among other
things, reduce the Tier 1 capital and risk-weight floor requirements.

Shortly after Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed in federal conservatorship, the Secretary of the U.S. Treasury
suggestedthat the guarantee payment structure of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in the U.S. housing finance market should be re-examined.

Thefuture roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be significantly reduced and the nature of their guarantees could be eliminated
orconsiderably limited relative to historical measurements. The U.S. Treasury could also stop providing credit support to Fannie
Mae andFreddie Mac in the future. Any changes to the nature of the guarantees provided by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could redefine
whatconstitutes an Agency RMBS and could have broad adverse market implications. If Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac was eliminated,
or theirstructures were to change in a material manner that is not compatible with our business model, we would not be able to acquire
Agency RMBS from these entities, which could adversely affect our business operations.

On June 23, 2021, the Supreme Court ruled in Collins v. Mnuchin, a case presenting a question of the constitutionality of the
FHFA and its director’s protection from being replaced at will by the President. The Supreme Court held that the FHFA did not
exceedits powers or functions as a conservator under the Recovery Act, and that the President may replace the director at will. On June
23,2021, President Biden appointed Sandra Thompson as acting director of the FHFA. 

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest in Our Relationship with Our Manager and Bimini

The management agreement with our Manager was not negotiated on an arm’s-length basis and the terms, including fees
payable and our inability to terminate, or our election not to renew, the management agreement based on our Manager’s 
poorperformance without paying our Manager a significant termination fee, except for a termination of the Manager with cause,
maynot be as favorable to us as if it were negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.
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The management agreement with our Manager was negotiated between related parties, and we did not have the benefit of
arm’s-length negotiations of the type normally conducted with an unaffiliated third party. The terms of the management
agreement withour Manager, including fees payable and our inability to terminate, or our election not to renew, the management agreement based
onour Manager’s poor performance without paying our Manager a significant termination fee, except for a termination of the
Manager withcause, may not reflect the terms we may have received if it was negotiated with an unrelated third party. In addition, as a result of
therelationship with our Manager, we may choose not to enforce, or to enforce less vigorously, our rights under the management
agreement because of our desire to maintain our ongoing relationship with our Manager. 

We have no employees and our Manager is responsible for making all of our investment decisions. None of our or our
Manager’sofficers are required to devote any specific amount of time to our business, and each of them may provide their services to
Bimini, which could result in conflicts of interest.

Our Manager is responsible for making all of our investments. We do not have any employees, and we are completely reliant
onour Manager to provide us with investment advisory services. Each of our and our Manager’s officers is an employee of Bimini

andnone of them will devote their time to us exclusively. Each of Messrs. Cauley and Haas, who are the members of our Manager’s
investment committee, is an officer of Bimini and has significant responsibilities to Bimini. Due to the fact that each of our
officers isresponsible for providing services to Bimini, they may not devote sufficient time to the management of our business operations.
Attimes when there are turbulent conditions in the mortgage markets or distress in the credit markets or other times when we will
needfocused support and assistance from our executive officers and our Manager, Bimini and its affiliates will likewise require greater
focusand attention from them. In such situations, we may not receive the level of support and assistance that we otherwise would likely
havereceived if we were internally managed or if such executives were not otherwise committed to provide support to Bimini. 

Our Board of Directors has adopted investment guidelines that require that any investment transaction between us and
Bimini orany affiliate of Bimini receive the prior approval of a majority of our independent directors. However, this policy will not

eliminate theconflicts of interest that our officers will face in making investment decisions on behalf of Bimini and us. Further, we do not have
anyagreement or understanding with Bimini that would give us any priority over Bimini or any of its affiliates. Accordingly, we may
competefor access to the benefits that we expect our relationship with our Manager and Bimini to provide. 

We are completely dependent upon our Manager and certain key personnel of Bimini who provide services to us through the
management agreement, and we may not find suitable replacements for our Manager and these personnel if the management
agreement is terminated or such key personnel are no longer available to us.

We are completely dependent on our Manager to conduct our operations pursuant to the management agreement. Because
wedo not have any employees or separate facilities, we are reliant on our Manager to provide us with the personnel, services and

resources necessary to carry out our day-to-day operations. Our management agreement does not require our Manager to dedicate
specific personnel to our operations or a specific amount of time to our business. Additionally, because we are affiliated with
Bimini, wemay be negatively impacted by an event or factors that negatively impacts or could negatively impact Bimini’s business or
financialcondition. 

Our management agreement is automatically renewed in accordance with the terms of the agreement, each year, on February
20. Upon the expiration of any automatic renewal term, our Manager may elect not to renew the management agreement without
cause, and without penalty, on 180-days’ prior written notice to us. If we elect not to renew the management agreement without 
cause,we would have to pay a termination fee equal to three times the average annual management fee earned by our Manager during
theprior 24-month period immediately preceding the most recently completed calendar quarter prior to the effective date of
termination.During the term of the management agreement and for two years after its expiration or termination, we may not, without the
consent ofour Manager, employ any employee of the Manager or any of its affiliates or any person who has been employed by our Manager
orany of its affiliates at any time within the two-year period immediately preceding the date on which the person commences
employment
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with us. We do not have retention agreements with any of our officers. We believe that the successful implementation of our
investmentand financing strategies depends to a significant extent upon the experience of Bimini’s executive officers. None of these
individuals’continued service is guaranteed. If the management agreement is terminated or these individuals leave Bimini, we may be unable
toexecute our business plan. 

We, Bimini and other accounts managed by our Manager may compete for opportunities to acquire assets, which are
allocated inaccordance with the Investment Allocation Agreement by and among Bimini, our Manager and us.

From time to time Bimini may seek to purchase for itself the same or similar assets that our Manager seeks to purchase for
us, orour Manager may seek to purchase the same or similar assets for us as it does for other accounts that may be managed by our

Manager in the future. In such an instance, our Manager has no duty to allocate such opportunities in a manner that preferentially
favors us. Bimini and our Manager make available to us opportunities to acquire assets that they determine, in their reasonable
andgood faith judgment, based on our objectives, policies and strategies, and other relevant factors, are appropriate for us in
accordancewith the Investment Allocation Agreement. 

Because many of our targeted assets are typically available only in specified quantities and because many of our targeted
assetsare also targeted assets for Bimini and may be targeted assets for other accounts our Manager may manage in the future, neither

Bimini nor our Manager may be able to buy as much of any given asset as required to satisfy the needs of Bimini, us and any
otheraccount our Manager may manage in the future. In these cases, the Investment Allocation Agreement will require the allocation of
suchassets to multiple accounts in proportion to their needs and available capital. The Investment Allocation Agreement will permit
departure from such proportional allocation when (i) allocating purchases of whole-pool Agency RMBS, because those securities
cannot be divided into multiple parts to be allocated among various accounts, and (ii) such allocation would result in an
inefficientlysmall amount of the security being purchased for an account. In that case, the Investment Allocation Agreement allows for a
protocol ofallocating assets so that, on an overall basis, each account is treated equitably. 

There are conflicts of interest in our relationships with our Manager and Bimini, which could result in decisions that are not
in thebest interests of our stockholders.

We are subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with Bimini and our Manager. All of our executive
officers areemployees of Bimini. As a result, our officers may have conflicts between their duties to us and their duties to Bimini or our

Manager. 
We may acquire or sell assets in which Bimini or its affiliates have or may have an interest. Similarly, Bimini or its affiliates
mayacquire or sell assets in which we have or may have an interest. Although such acquisitions or dispositions may present conflicts

ofinterest, we nonetheless may pursue and consummate such transactions. Additionally, we may engage in transactions directly with
Bimini or its affiliates, including the purchase and sale of all or a portion of a portfolio asset. 

The officers of Bimini and our Manager devote as much time to us as our Manager deems appropriate. However, these
officersmay have conflicts in allocating their time and services among us, Bimini and our Manager. During turbulent conditions in the

mortgageindustry, distress in the credit markets or other times when we will need focused support and assistance from our Manager’s 
officersand Bimini’s employees, Bimini and other entities for which our Manager may serve as a manager in the future will likewise
requiregreater focus and attention, placing our Manager’s and Bimini’s resources in high demand. In such situations, we may not receive
thenecessary support and assistance we require or would otherwise receive if we were internally managed. 

Mr. Cauley, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors, also serves as Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bimini and owns shares of common stock of Bimini. Mr. Haas, our Chief Financial Officer,
ChiefInvestment Officer, Secretary and a member of our Board of Directors, also serves as the President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief
Investment Officer and Treasurer of Bimini and owns shares of common stock of Bimini. Accordingly, Messrs. Cauley and Haas
mayhave a conflict of interest with respect to actions by our Board of Directors that relate to Bimini or our Manager. 
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As of February 25, 2022, Bimini owned approximately 1.5% of our outstanding shares of common stock. In evaluating
opportunities for us and other management strategies, this may lead our Manager to emphasize certain asset acquisition,
disposition ormanagement objectives over others, such as balancing risk or capital preservation objectives against return objectives. This could
increase the risks or decrease the returns of your investment. 

If we elect to not renew the management agreement without cause, we would be required to pay our Manager a substantial
termination fee. These and other provisions in our management agreement make non-renewal of our management agreement
difficult and costly.

Electing not to renew the management agreement without cause would be difficult and costly for us. Our management
agreement is automatically renewed in accordance with the terms of the agreement, each year, on February 20. However, with the
consent of the majority of our independent directors, we may elect not to renew our management agreement in subsequent years
upon180-days’ prior written notice. If we elect to not renew the agreement because of a decision by our Board of Directors that the
management fee is unfair, our Manager has the right to renegotiate a mutually agreeable management fee. If we elect to not renew
themanagement agreement without cause, we are required to pay our Manager a termination fee equal to three times the average
annualmanagement fee earned by our Manager during the prior 24-month period immediately preceding the most recently completed
calendar quarter prior to the effective date of termination. These provisions may increase the effective cost to us of electing to not
renew the management agreement, thereby adversely affecting our inclination to end our relationship with our Manager even if we
believe our Manager’s performance is unsatisfactory. 

Our Manager’s management fee is payable regardless of our performance.

Our Manager is entitled to receive a management fee from us that is based on the amount of our equity (as defined in the
management agreement), regardless of the performance of our investment portfolio. For example, we would pay our Manager a
management fee for a specific period even if we experienced a net loss during the same period. Our Manager’s entitlement to
substantial non-performance-based compensation may reduce its incentive to devote sufficient time and effort to seeking
investmentsthat provide attractive risk-adjusted returns for our investment portfolio. This in turn could materially adversely affect our
business,financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. 

Our Manager will not be liable to us for any acts or omissions performed in accordance with the management agreement,
including with respect to the performance of our investments.

Our Manager has not assumed any responsibility other than to render the services called for under the management
agreementin good faith and is not responsible for any action of our Board of Directors in following or declining to follow its advice or

recommendations, including as set forth in the investment guidelines. Our Manager and its affiliates, and the directors, officers,
employees, members and stockholders of our Manager and its affiliates, will not be liable to us, our Board of Directors or our
stockholders for any acts or omissions performed in accordance with and pursuant to the management agreement, except by
reason ofacts constituting bad faith, willful misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their respective duties under the
managementagreement. We have agreed to indemnify our Manager and its affiliates, and the directors, officers, employees, members and
stockholders of our Manager and its affiliates, with respect to all expenses, losses, damages, liabilities, demands, charges and
claimsin respect of or arising from any acts or omissions of our Manager, its affiliates, and the directors, officers, employees, members
andstockholders of our Manager and its affiliates, performed in good faith under the management agreement and not constituting bad
faith,willful misconduct, gross negligence, or reckless disregard of their respective duties. Therefore, our stockholders have no recourse
against our Manager with respect to the performance of investments made in accordance with the management agreement.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
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Investing in our common stock may involve a high degree of risk.

The investments we make in accordance with our investment objectives may result in a high amount of risk when compared
toalternative investment options and volatility or loss of principal. Our investments may be highly speculative and aggressive, and

therefore an investment in our common stock may not be suitable for someone with lower risk tolerance. 

We have not established a minimum distribution payment level, and we cannot assure you of our ability to make distributions
toour stockholders in the future.

We intend to continue to make monthly distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that we distribute all or
substantially allof our REIT taxable income in each year, subject to certain adjustments. We have not established a minimum distribution payment

level, and our ability to make distributions might be harmed by the risk factors described herein. All distributions will be made at
thediscretion of our Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor and will depend on our earnings, our financial
condition,maintaining our qualification as a REIT and such other factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant from time to time.
Wecannot assure you that we will have the ability to make distributions to our stockholders in the future. To the extent that we decide
topay distributions from the proceeds of a securities offering, such distributions would generally be considered a return of capital for
U.S.federal income tax purposes. A return of capital reduces the basis of a stockholder’s investment in our common stock to the extent
ofsuch basis and is treated as capital gain thereafter. 

Shares of our common stock eligible for future sale may harm our share price.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of shares of our common stock, or the availability of shares for future
sales,on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of these shares of our common stock, or the perception

thatthese sales could occur, may harm prevailing market prices for our common stock. The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan provides for
grantsof up to an aggregate of 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock (on a fully diluted basis) at the time of the
award, subject to a maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2021 Equity Incentive
Planof 4,000,000 shares of common stock plus 3,366,623 shares of our common stock that remained available for issuance under the
2012Equity Incentive Plan as of the date of the Board’s adoption of the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. As of February 25, 2022, Bimini
owns2,595,357 shares of our common stock. If Bimini sells a large number of our securities in the public market, the sale could reduce
themarket price of our common stock and could impede our ability to raise future capital.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory changes that could reduce the market price of our common stock.

At any time, laws or regulations, or the administrative interpretations of those laws or regulations, which impact our
business andMaryland corporations may be amended. In addition, the markets for RMBS and derivatives, including interest rate swaps, have

beenthe subject of intense scrutiny in recent years. We cannot predict when or if any new law, regulation or administrative
interpretation, orany amendment to any existing law, regulation or administrative interpretation, will be adopted or promulgated or will become 
effective.Additionally, revisions to these laws, regulations or administrative interpretations could cause us to change our investments. We
couldbe materially adversely affected by any such change to any existing, or any new, law, regulation or administrative interpretation,
whichcould reduce the market price of our common stock.

In addition, at any time, the U.S. federal income tax laws or regulations governing REITs or the administrative
interpretations ofthose laws or regulations may be amended. We cannot predict when or if any new U.S. federal income tax law, regulation or

administrative interpretation, or any amendment to any existing U.S. federal income tax law, regulation or administrative
interpretation,will be adopted, promulgated or become effective and any such law, regulation or interpretation may take effect retroactively. We
andour stockholders could be adversely affected by any such change in, or any new, U.S. federal income tax law, regulation or
administrative interpretation. Prospective stockholders are urged to consult with their tax advisors with respect to any legislative,
regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on investment in our common stock.
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Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Loss of our exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act would negatively affect the value of shares of our
common stock and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

We have operated and intend to continue to operate our business so as to be exempt from registration under the Investment
Company Act, because we are “primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens
onand interests in real estate.” Specifically, we invest and intend to continue to invest so that at least 55% of the assets that we own
onan unconsolidated basis consist of qualifying mortgages and other liens and interests in real estate, which are collectively referred
to as“qualifying real estate assets,” and so that at least 80% of the assets we own on an unconsolidated basis consist of real estate-
relatedassets (including our qualifying real estate assets). We treat Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae whole-pool residential
mortgage pass-through securities issued with respect to an underlying pool of mortgage loans in which we hold all of the
certificatesissued by the pool as qualifying real estate assets based on no-action letters issued by the SEC. To the extent that the SEC
publishesnew or different guidance with respect to these matters, we may fail to qualify for this exemption. 

If we fail to qualify for this exemption, we could be required to restructure our activities in a manner that, or at a time when,
wewould not otherwise choose to do so, which could negatively affect the value of shares of our common stock and our ability to

distributedividends. For example, if the market value of our investments in CMOs or structured Agency RMBS, neither of which are
qualifyingreal estate assets for Investment Company Act purposes, were to increase by an amount that resulted in less than 55% of our assets
being invested in pass-through Agency RMBS, we might have to sell CMOs or structured Agency RMBS in order to maintain our
exemption from the Investment Company Act. The sale could occur during adverse market conditions, and we could be forced to
accept a price below that which we believe is acceptable. 

Alternatively, if we fail to qualify for this exemption, we may have to register under the Investment Company Act and we 
couldbecome subject to substantial regulation with respect to our capital structure (including our ability to use leverage), management,

operations, transactions with affiliated persons (as defined in the Investment Company Act), portfolio composition, including
restrictionswith respect to diversification and industry concentration, and other matters. 

We may be required at times to adopt less efficient methods of financing certain of our securities, and we may be precluded
fromacquiring certain types of higher yielding securities. The net effect of these factors would be to lower our net interest income. If

we failto qualify for an exemption from registration as an investment company or an exclusion from the definition of an investment
company,our ability to use leverage would be substantially reduced, and we would not be able to conduct our business as described herein.
Ourbusiness will be materially and adversely affected if we fail to qualify for and maintain an exemption from regulation pursuant to
theInvestment Company Act. 

Failure to obtain and maintain an exemption from being regulated as a commodity pool operator could subject us to
additionalregulation and compliance requirements and may result in fines and other penalties which could materially adversely affect
ourbusiness and financial condition.

The Dodd-Frank Act established a comprehensive new regulatory framework for derivative contracts commonly referred to
as“swaps.” As a result, any investment fund that trades in swaps may be considered a “commodity pool,” which would cause its

operators(in some cases the fund’s directors) to be regulated as “commodity pool operators” (“CPOs”). Under new rules adopted by the
U.S.Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”), those funds that become commodity pools solely because of their use of
swapsmust register with the National Futures Association (the “NFA”). Registration requires compliance with the CFTC’s regulations
and theNFA’s rules with respect to capital raising, disclosure, reporting, recordkeeping and other business conduct. However, the CFTC’s
Division of Swap Dealer and Intermediary Oversight issued a no-action letter saying, although it believes that mortgage REITs are
properly considered commodity pools, it would not recommend that the CFTC take enforcement action against the operator of a
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mortgage REIT who does not register as a CPO if, among other things, the mortgage REIT limits the initial margin and premiums
required to establish its swaps, futures and other commodity interest positions to not more than five percent (5%) of its total
assets, themortgage REIT limits the net income derived annually from those commodity interest positions which are not qualifying hedging
transactions to less than five percent (5%) of its gross income and interests in the mortgage REIT are not marketed to the public as
orin a commodity pool or otherwise as or in a vehicle for trading in the commodity futures, commodity options or swaps markets. 

We use hedging instruments in conjunction with our investment portfolio and related borrowings to reduce or mitigate risks
associated with changes in interest rates, mortgage spreads, yield curve shapes and market volatility. These hedging instruments
mayinclude interest rate swaps, interest rate futures and options on interest rate futures. We do not currently engage in any speculative
derivatives activities or other non-hedging transactions using swaps, futures or options on futures. We do not use these
instruments forthe purpose of trading in commodity interests, and we do not consider the Company or its operations to be a commodity pool as to
which CPO registration or compliance is required. We have claimed the relief afforded by the above-described no-action letter.
Consequently, we will be restricted to operating within the parameters discussed in the no-action letter and will not enter into 
hedgingtransactions covered by the no-action letter if they would cause us to exceed the limits set forth in the no-action letter. However,
therecan be no assurance that the CFTC will agree that we are entitled to the no-action letter relief claimed. 

The CFTC has substantial enforcement power with respect to violations of the laws over which it has jurisdiction, including
theiranti-fraud and anti-manipulation provisions. For example, the CFTC may suspend or revoke the registration of or the no-action

reliefafforded to a person who fails to comply with commodities laws and regulations, prohibit such a person from trading or doing
businesswith registered entities, impose civil money penalties, require restitution and seek fines or imprisonment for criminal violations. In
theevent that the CFTC asserts that we are not entitled to the no-action letter relief claimed, we may be obligated to furnish additional
disclosures and reports, among other things. Further, a private right of action exists against those who violate the laws over which
theCFTC has jurisdiction or who willfully aid, abet, counsel, induce or procure a violation of those laws. In the event that we fail to
complywith statutory requirements relating to derivatives or with the CFTC’s rules thereunder, including the no-action letter described 
above,we may be subject to significant fines, penalties and other civil or governmental actions or proceedings, any of which could have a
materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our
stockholders. 

Our ownership limitations and certain other provisions of applicable law and our charter and bylaws may restrict business
combination opportunities that would otherwise be favorable to our stockholders.

Our charter and bylaws and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a change in control or other
transaction that might involve a premium price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders,
includingbusiness combination provisions, supermajority vote and cause requirements for removal of directors, provisions that vacancies on
ourBoard of Directors may be filled only by the remaining directors for the full term of the directorship in which the vacancy
occurred, thepower of our Board of Directors to increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock or the number of
shares ofany class or series of stock, to cause us to issue additional shares of stock of any class or series and to fix the terms of one or more
classes or series of stock without stockholder approval, the restrictions on ownership and transfer of our stock and advance notice
requirements for director nominations and stockholder proposals. 

To assist us in qualifying as a REIT, among other purposes, ownership of our stock by any person will generally be limited
to9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of any class or series of our stock. Additionally, our charter will

prohibit beneficial or constructive ownership of our stock that would otherwise result in our failure to qualify as a REIT. The
ownershiprules in our charter are complex and may cause the outstanding stock owned by a group of related individuals or entities to be
deemedto be owned by one individual or entity. As a result, these ownership rules could cause an individual or entity to unintentionally
ownshares beneficially or constructively in excess of our ownership limits. Any attempt to own or transfer shares of our common
stock orpreferred stock in excess of our ownership limits without the consent of our Board of Directors will result in such shares being
transferred to a charitable trust. These provisions may inhibit market activity and the resulting opportunity for our stockholders to
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receive a premium for their stock that might otherwise exist if any person were to attempt to assemble a block of shares of our
stock inexcess of the number of shares permitted under our charter and that may be in the best interests of our security holders. 

Our Board of Directors may, without stockholder approval, amend our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number 
ofour shares or the number of shares of any class or series that we have the authority to issue and to classify or reclassify any

unissuedshares of common stock or preferred stock, and set the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares.
As aresult, our Board of Directors may take actions with respect to our common stock or preferred stock that may have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change in control, including transactions at a premium over the market price of our shares, even if
stockholders believe that a change in control is in their interest. These provisions, along with the restrictions on ownership and
transfercontained in our charter and certain provisions of Maryland law described below, could discourage unsolicited acquisition 
proposals ormake it more difficult for a third party to gain control of us, which could adversely affect the market price of our securities. 

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which could limit
yourrecourse in the event of actions not in your best interests.

Our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages, except for
liabilityresulting from:

● actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or
● a final judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was material to the

cause of action adjudicated. 

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers that obligate us to indemnify
them tothe maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. In addition, our charter authorizes the Company to obligate itself to indemnify 

ourpresent and former directors and officers for actions taken by them in those and other capacities to the maximum extent permitted
byMaryland law. Our bylaws require us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify each present and former
directoror officer in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made, or threatened to be made, a party by reason of his or her
service to us. In addition, we may be obligated to advance the defense costs incurred by our directors and officers. As a result, we
andour stockholders may have more limited rights against our directors and officers than might otherwise exist absent the provisions
in ourcharter, bylaws and indemnification agreements or that might exist with other companies.

 
Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”), may have the effect of inhibiting a third party
frommaking a proposal to acquire us or impeding a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide our

stockholderswith the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of our common stock, including: 

● “business combination” provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between us and an
“interested stockholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our
outstanding voting stock or an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period immediately prior
to thedate in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our then-outstanding stock) or an
affiliate ofan interested stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the stockholder became an interested
stockholder,and thereafter require two supermajority stockholder votes to approve any such combination; and

● “control share” provisions that provide that a holder of “control shares” of the Company (defined as voting shares of stock
which, when aggregated with all other shares of stock owned by the acquiror or in respect of which the acquiror is able to
exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), entitle the acquiror to
exerciseone of three increasing ranges of voting power in electing directors) acquired in a “control share acquisition” (defined as
thedirect or indirect acquisition of ownership or control of issued and outstanding “control shares,” subject to certain
exceptions)
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generally has no voting rights with respect to the control shares except to the extent approved by our stockholders by the
affirmative vote of two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all interested shares.

We have elected to opt-out of these provisions of the MGCL, in the case of the business combination provisions, by
resolution ofour Board of Directors (provided that such business combination is first approved by our Board of Directors, including a majority

of ourdirectors who are not affiliates or associates of such person), and in the case of the control share provisions, pursuant to a
provision inour bylaws. However, our Board of Directors may by resolution elect to repeal the foregoing opt-out from the business
combinationprovisions of the MGCL, and we may, by amendment to our bylaws, opt-in to the control share provisions of the MGCL in the
future. 

Our bylaws designate the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of
actionsand proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit stockholders' ability to obtain a favorable
judicialforum for disputes with us or our directors or officers and could discourage lawsuits against us and our directors and
officers.
Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for
Baltimore City,Maryland, or, if that court does not have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the District of Maryland, Baltimore

Division, willbe the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any Internal Corporate Claim, as such term is defined in the MGCL, (b) any derivative
action orproceeding brought on our behalf, (c) any action asserting a claim of breach of any duty owed by any of our directors or officers
to us orto our stockholders, (d) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors or officers arising pursuant to any provision
of theMGCL or our charter or bylaws or (e) any other action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors or officers that is
governed bythe internal affairs doctrine. 

This exclusive forum provision may limit the ability of our stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such
stockholdersfind favorable for disputes with us or our directors or officers, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors

andofficers. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provisions contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or
unenforceablein an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could materially
adverselyaffect our business, financial condition, and operating results.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Risks

Your investment has various U.S. federal income tax risks.

This summary of certain tax risks is limited to the U.S. federal income tax risks addressed below. Additional risks or issues
mayexist that are not addressed in this Form 10-K and that could affect the U.S. federal income tax treatment of us or our

stockholders. This summary is not intended to be used and cannot be used by any stockholder to avoid penalties that may be imposed on
stockholders under the Code. We strongly urge you to seek advice based on your particular circumstances from your tax advisor
concerning the effects of U.S. federal, state and local income tax law on an investment in our common stock and on your
individual taxsituation.

Our failure to maintain our qualification as a REIT would subject us to U.S. federal income tax, which could adversely
affect thevalue of the shares of our common stock and would substantially reduce the cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 

We believe that commencing with our short taxable year ended December 31, 2013, we have been organized and have
operatedin conformity with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Code, and we intend to operate in a manner that will

enable usto continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. However, we cannot assure you that we will remain
qualified as a REIT. Moreover, our qualification and taxation as a REIT will depend upon our ability to meet on a continuing 
basis,through actual annual operating results, certain qualification tests set forth in the U.S. federal tax laws. Accordingly, given the
complexnature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations, including the potential tax treatment of
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investments we make, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given that our actual results
ofoperations for any particular taxable year will satisfy such requirements. 

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any calendar year, we would be required to pay U.S. federal income tax (and any applicable
stateand local tax) on our taxable income at regular corporate rates, and dividends paid to our stockholders would not be deductible by

us incomputing our taxable income. Further, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we might need to borrow money or sell assets in order to
pay anyresulting tax. Our payment of income tax would decrease the amount of our income available for distribution to our stockholders.
Furthermore, if we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we no longer would be required under U.S. federal tax laws to
distributesubstantially all of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders. Unless our failure to qualify as a REIT was subject to relief
under U.S.federal tax laws, we could not re-elect to qualify as a REIT until the fifth calendar year following the year in which we failed to
qualify. 

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego or liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

Tocontinue to qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy various tests regarding the sources of our income, the nature and
diversificationof our assets, the amounts we distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of our stock. In order to meet these tests, we may

berequired to forego investments we might otherwise make. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our
investmentperformance. 

In particular, we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our total assets consists of
cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets, including Agency RMBS. The remainder of our
investment in securities (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10%
ofthe outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one
issuer.In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our total assets (other than government securities, TRS securities, and
qualifiedreal estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, no more than 20% of the value of our total assets can be
represented by securities of one or more TRSs and no more than 25% of the value of our assets can be represented by debt of
“publicly offered REITs” (i.e., REITs that are required to file annual and period reports with the SEC under the Exchange Act)
that is notsecured by real property or interests in real property. Generally, if we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any
calendarquarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of such calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief 
provisionsto avoid losing our REIT qualification and becoming subject to U.S. federal income tax (and any applicable state and local taxes)
on allof our income. As a result, we may be required to liquidate from our portfolio otherwise attractive investments or contribute such
investments to a TRS. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our
stockholders. 

Failure to make required distributions would subject us to tax, which would reduce the cash available for distribution to our
stockholders.

To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders each calendar year at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income (including certain items of non-cash income), determined without regard to the deductions for dividends paid and
excluding netcapital gain. To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income,
we willbe subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our undistributed income. In addition, we will incur a 4% nondeductible excise
tax onthe amount, if any, by which our distributions in any calendar year are less than the sum of: 

● 85% of our REIT ordinary income for that year;
● 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for that year; and
● any undistributed taxable income from prior years

We intend to distribute our REIT taxable income to our stockholders in a manner intended to satisfy the 90% distribution
requirement and to avoid both U.S. federal corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax.
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Our taxable income may be substantially different than our net income as determined based on generally accepted
accountingprinciples in the United States (“GAAP”), because, for example, realized capital losses will be deducted in determining our GAAP

netincome but may not be deductible in computing our taxable income. In addition, unrealized portfolio gains and losses are included
inGAAP net income, but are not included in REIT taxable income. Also, we may invest in assets that generate taxable income in
excessof economic income or in advance of the corresponding cash flow from the assets. As a result of the foregoing, we may generate
lesscash flow than taxable income in a particular year. To the extent that we generate such non-cash taxable income in a taxable year,
wemay incur U.S. federal corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax on that income if we do not distribute such
income tostockholders in that year. In that event, we may be required to use cash reserves, incur debt, sell assets, make taxable distributions
ofour stock or debt securities or liquidate non-cash assets at rates or at times that we regard as unfavorable to satisfy the distribution
requirement and to avoid U.S. federal corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax in that year. 

Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flows.

Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our income and
assets, including taxes on any undistributed income, tax on income from some activities conducted as a result of a foreclosure, and
state or local income, property and transfer taxes. In addition, any TRSs we form will be subject to regular corporate U.S. federal,
stateand local taxes. Any of these taxes would decrease cash available for distributions to stockholders. 

The failure of Agency RMBS subject to a repurchase agreement to qualify as real estate assets would adversely affect our
abilityto continue to qualify as a REIT.

We have entered and intend to continue to enter into repurchase agreements under which we nominally sell certain of our
Agency RMBS to a counterparty and simultaneously enter into an agreement to repurchase the sold assets. We believe that for
U.S.federal income tax purposes these transactions will be treated as secured debt and we will be treated as the owner of the Agency
RMBS that are the subject of any such agreement, notwithstanding that such agreements may transfer record ownership of such
assets to the counterparty during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, that the IRS could successfully assert that we
donot own the Agency RMBS during the term of the repurchase agreement, in which case we could fail to qualify as a REIT. 

Our ability to invest in and dispose of forward settling contracts, including TBA securities, could be limited by the
requirementsnecessary to continue to qualify as a REIT, and we could fail to qualify as a REIT as a result of these investments.

We may purchase Agency RMBS through forward settling contracts, including TBA securities transactions. We may
recognizeincome or gains on the disposition of forward settling contracts. For example, rather than take delivery of the Agency RMBS

subject toa TBA, we may dispose of the TBA through a “roll” transaction in which we agree to purchase similar securities in the future at a
predetermined price or otherwise, which may result in the recognition of income or gains. The law is unclear regarding whether
forwardsettling contracts will be qualifying assets for the 75% asset test and whether income and gains from dispositions of forward
settlingcontracts will be qualifying income for the 75% gross income test. 

Until we receive a favorable private letter ruling from the IRS or we are advised by counsel that forward settling contracts
shouldbe treated as qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test, we will limit our investment in forward settling contracts and

anynon-qualifying assets to no more than 25% of our total gross assets at the end of any calendar quarter and will limit the forward
settlingcontracts issued by any one issuer to no more than 5% of our total gross assets at the end of any calendar quarter. Further, until we
receive a favorable private letter ruling from the IRS or we are advised by counsel that income and gains from the disposition of
forwardsettling contracts should be treated as qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, we will limit our income and
gainsfrom dispositions of forward settling contracts and any non-qualifying income to no more than 25% of our gross income for each
calendar year. Accordingly, our ability to purchase Agency RMBS through forward settling contracts and to dispose of forward
settlingcontracts through roll transactions or otherwise, could be limited. 
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Moreover, even if we are advised by counsel that forward settling contracts should be treated as qualifying assets or that
incomeand gains from dispositions of forward settling contracts should be treated as qualifying income, it is possible that the IRS could

successfully take the position that such assets are not qualifying assets and such income is not qualifying income. In that event, we
could be subject to a penalty tax or we could fail to qualify as a REIT if (i) the value of our forward settling contracts, together
with ourother non-qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test, exceeded 25% of our total gross assets at the end of any calendar
quarter, (ii) the value of our forward settling contracts, including TBAs, issued by any one issuer exceeded 5% of our total assets
at theend of any calendar quarter, or (iii) our income and gains from the disposition of forward settling contracts, together with our
other non-qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, exceeded 25% of our gross income for any taxable year. 

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively.

The REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge. Our aggregate gross income from non-qualifying
hedges,fees, and certain other non-qualifying sources cannot exceed 5% of our annual gross income. As a result, we might have to limit

ouruse of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. Any hedging income earned by a TRS would
besubject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax at regular corporate rates. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities
orexpose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. 

Our ownership of and relationship with any TRSs that we form will be limited and a failure to comply with the limits would
jeopardize our REIT qualification and may result in the application of a 100% excise tax.

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs. A TRS may earn income that would not be qualifying
income ifearned directly by the parent REIT. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary as a TRS. A

corporation(other than a REIT) of which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value of the stock will
automatically be treated as a TRS. Overall, no more than 20% of the value of a REIT’s total assets may consist of stock or
securities ofone or more TRSs. A domestic TRS will pay U.S. federal, state and local income tax at regular corporate rates on any income that
itearns. In addition, the Code limits the deductibility of interest paid or accrued by a TRS to its parent REIT to ensure that the TRS
issubject to an appropriate level of corporate taxation. The rules also impose a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between a
TRSand its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm’s length basis. Any domestic TRS that we may form will pay U.S. federal,
stateand local income tax on its taxable income, and its after-tax net income will be available for distribution to us (but is not required
to bedistributed to us unless necessary to maintain our REIT qualification). 

We may pay taxable dividends in cash and our common stock, in which case stockholders may sell shares of our common
stockto pay tax on such dividends, placing downward pressure on the market price of our common stock.

We may make taxable dividends that are payable partly in cash and partly in our common stock. The IRS has issued
RevenueProcedure 2017-45 authorizing elective cash/stock dividends to be made by publicly offered REITs. Pursuant to Revenue

Procedure2017-45 the IRS will treat the distribution of stock pursuant to an elective cash/stock dividend as a distribution of property under
Section 301 of the Code (i.e., a dividend), as long as at least 20% of the total dividend is available in cash and certain other
parametersdetailed in the Revenue Procedure are satisfied. On November 30, 2021, the IRS issued Revenue Procedure 2021-53, which
temporarily reduces (through June 30, 2022) the minimum amount of the total distribution that must be available in cash to 10%.
Although we have no current intention of paying dividends in our own stock, if in the future we choose to pay dividends in our
ownstock, our stockholders may be required to pay tax in excess of the cash that they receive. If a U.S. stockholder sells the shares
that itreceives as a dividend in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with respect to
thedividend, depending on the market price of our common stock at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with respect to certain non-
U.S.stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. federal income tax with respect to such dividends, including in respect of all or
aportion of such dividend that is payable in common stock. If we pay dividends in our common stock and a significant number of
our
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stockholders determine to sell shares of our common stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividends, it may put downward
pressure onthe trading price of our common stock. 

Our ownership limitations may restrict change of control or business combination opportunities in which our stockholders
mightreceive a premium for their stock.

In order for us to qualify as a REIT for each taxable year after 2013, no more than 50% in value of our outstanding stock
may beowned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals during the last half of any calendar year. “Individuals” for this purpose

includenatural persons, private foundations, some employee benefit plans and trusts, and some charitable trusts. In order to assist us in
qualifying as a REIT, among other purposes, ownership of our stock by any person is generally limited to 9.8% in value or
number ofshares, whichever is more restrictive, of any class or series of our stock. 

These ownership limitations could have the effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which holders of our
commonstock might receive a premium for their common stock over the then-prevailing market price or which holders might believe to be

otherwise in their best interests. 

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends. 

The maximum tax rate applicable to “qualified dividend income” payable to U.S. stockholders that are taxed at individual
ratesmay be lower than ordinary income tax rates. Dividends payable by REITs, however, are generally not eligible for the reduced

rates onqualified dividend income. Rather, ordinary REIT dividends constitute “qualified business income” and thus a 20% deduction is
available to individual taxpayers with respect to such dividends.To qualify for this deduction, the U.S. stockholder receiving such
dividends must hold the dividend-paying REIT stock for at least 46 days (taking into account certain special holding periods) of
the 91-day period beginning 45 days before the stock becomes ex-dividend and cannot be under an obligation to make related payments
withrespect to a position in substantially similar or related property. The 20% deduction results in a 29.6% maximum U.S. federal 
incometax rate (plus the 3.8% surtax on net investment income, if applicable) for individual U.S. stockholders. Without further legislative
action, the 20% deduction applicable to ordinary REIT dividends will expire on January 1, 2026. The more favorable rates
applicable toregular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors who are taxed at individual rates to perceive investments in REITs to
berelatively less attractive than investments in the stock of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect
thevalue of the shares of REITs, including our common stock. 

Certain financing activities may subject us to U.S. federal income tax and could have negative tax consequences for our
stockholders.

We currently do not intend to enter into any transactions that could result in all, or a portion, of our assets being treated as a
taxable mortgage pool for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If we enter into such a transaction in the future, we will be taxable at
thehighest corporate income tax rate on a portion of the income arising from a taxable mortgage pool, referred to as “excess inclusion
income,” that is allocable to the percentage of our stock held in record name by disqualified organizations (generally tax-exempt
entitiesthat are exempt from the tax on unrelated business taxable income, such as state pension plans, charitable remainder trusts and
government entities). In that case, under our charter, we will reduce distributions to such stockholders by the amount of tax paid
by usthat is attributable to such stockholder’s ownership. 

If we were to realize excess inclusion income, IRS guidance indicates that the excess inclusion income would be allocated
among our stockholders in proportion to our dividends paid. Excess inclusion income cannot be offset by losses of our
stockholders. Ifthe stockholder is a tax-exempt entity and not a disqualified organization, then this income would be fully taxable as unrelated
businesstaxable income under Section 512 of the Code. If the stockholder is a foreign person, it would be subject to U.S. federal income
tax atthe maximum tax rate and withholding will be required on this income without reduction or exemption pursuant to any otherwise
applicable income tax treaty. 
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Our recognition of “phantom” income may reduce a stockholder’s after-tax return on an investment in our common stock.

We may recognize taxable income in excess of our economic income, known as phantom income, in the first years that we
holdcertain investments, and experience an offsetting excess of economic income over our taxable income in later years. As a result,

stockholders at times may be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on distributions that economically represent a return of
capitalrather than a dividend. These distributions would be offset in later years by distributions representing economic income that would
betreated as returns of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Taking into account the time value of money, this acceleration
ofU.S. federal income tax liability may reduce a stockholder’s after-tax return on his or her investment to an amount less than the
after-tax return on an investment with an identical before-tax rate of return that did not generate phantom income. 

Liquidation of our assets may jeopardize our REIT qualification. 

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income.
Ifwe are compelled to liquidate our assets to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements,

thereby jeopardizing our qualification as a REIT, or we may be subject to a 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets that
aretreated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. 

Our qualification as a REIT and exemption from U.S. federal income tax with respect to certain assets may be dependent on
theaccuracy of legal opinions or advice rendered or given or statements by the issuers of assets that we acquire, and the
inaccuracyof any such opinions, advice or statements may adversely affect our REIT qualification and result in significant corporate-
leveltax. 

When purchasing securities, we may rely on opinions or advice of counsel for the issuer of such securities, or statements
madein related offering documents, for purposes of determining whether such securities represent debt or equity securities for U.S.

federalincome tax purposes, the value of such securities, and the extent to which those securities constitute qualified real estate assets for
purposes of the REIT asset tests and produce income that qualifies under the 75% gross income test. The inaccuracy of any such
opinions, advice or statements may adversely affect our REIT qualification and result in significant corporate-level tax.

Risks Related to COVID-19

The market and economic disruptions caused by COVID-19 have negatively impacted our business.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused and continues to cause significant disruptions to the U.S. and global economies and
hascontributed to volatility, illiquidity and dislocations in the financial markets. The COVID-19 outbreak has led governments and

otherauthorities around the world to impose measures intended to control its spread, including restrictions on freedom of movement
andbusiness operations such as travel bans, border closings, closing non-essential businesses, quarantines and shelter-in-place orders.
The market and economic disruptions caused by COVID-19 have negatively impacted and could further negatively impact our
business.

Beginning in mid-March 2020, Agency RMBS markets experienced significant volatility and sharp declines in liquidity,
whichnegatively impacted our portfolio. Our portfolio was pledged as collateral under daily mark-to-market repurchase agreements.

Fluctuations in the value of our Agency RMBS resulted in margin calls, requiring us to post additional collateral with our lenders
underthese repurchase agreements. These fluctuations and requirements to post additional collateral were material. 

The Agency RMBS market largely stabilized after the Fed announced on March 23, 2020 that it would purchase Agency
RMBSand U.S. Treasuries in the amounts needed to support smooth market functioning. The Fed continued to increase its holdings of

U.S.Treasuries and Agency RMBS throughout 2020 and 2021 to sustain smooth functioning of markets for these securities; however,
in
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response to growing inflation concerns in late 2021, the FOMC began tapering its net asset purchases and announced on January
26,2022 that it would completely phase them out by early March 2022. If the COVID-19 outbreak continues or worsens, or if the
currentpolicy response changes or is ineffective, the Agency RMBS market may experience significant volatility, illiquidity and
dislocations inthe future, which may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Our inability to access funding or the terms on which such funding is available could have a material adverse effect on our
financialcondition, particularly in light of ongoing market dislocations resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our ability to fund our operations, meet financial obligations and finance asset acquisitions is dependent upon our ability to
secureand maintain our repurchase agreements with our counterparties. Because repurchase agreements are short-term commitments of

capital, lenders may respond to market conditions in ways that make it more difficult for us to renew or replace on a continuous
basisour maturing short-term borrowings and have imposed and may continue to impose more onerous terms when rolling such
financings.If we are not able to renew our existing repurchase agreements or arrange for new financing on terms acceptable to us, or if we are
required to post more collateral or face larger haircuts, we may have to curtail our asset acquisition activities and/or dispose of
assets.

Issues related to financing are exacerbated in times of significant dislocation in the financial markets, such as those
experiencedrelated to the COVID-19 pandemic. It is possible our lenders will become unwilling or unable to provide us with financing, and

we couldbe forced to sell our assets at an inopportune time when prices are depressed. In addition, if the regulatory capital requirements
imposed on our lenders change, they may be required to significantly increase the cost of the financing that they provide to us.
Ourlenders also have revised and may continue to revise the terms of such financings, including haircuts and requiring additional
collateralin the form of cash, based on, among other factors, the regulatory environment and their management of actual and perceived risk.
Moreover, the amount of financing we receive under our repurchase agreements will be directly related to our lenders’ valuation
of ourassets that collateralize the outstanding borrowings. Typically, repurchase agreements grant the lender the absolute right to re-
evaluate the fair market value of the assets that cover outstanding borrowings at any time. If a lender determines in its sole
discretionthat the value of the assets has decreased, the lender has the right to initiate a margin call. These valuations may be different than
thevalues that we ascribe to these assets and may be influenced by recent asset sales at distressed levels by forced sellers. A margin
callrequires us to transfer additional assets to a lender without any advance of funds from the lender for such transfer or to repay a
portionof the outstanding borrowings. Significant margin calls could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition, business, liquidity and ability to make distributions to our stockholders, and could cause the value of our common stock
todecline. In addition, we experienced an increase in haircuts on financings we have rolled. As haircuts are increased, we are
required topost additional collateral. We may also be forced to sell assets at significantly depressed prices to meet such margin calls and to
maintain adequate liquidity. As a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced margin calls in 2020 well beyond
historicalnorms. As of December 31, 2021, we had met all margin call requirements, but a sufficiently deep and/or rapid increase in margin
callsor haircuts will have an adverse impact on our liquidity.

We cannot predict the effect that government policies, laws and plans adopted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
global recessionary economic conditions will have on us.

Governments have adopted, and may continue to adopt, policies, laws and plans intended to address the COVID-19 pandemic
and adverse developments in the economy and continued functioning of the financial markets. We cannot assure you that these
programs will be effective, sufficient or will otherwise have a positive impact on our business.

There can be no assurance as to how, in the long term, these and other actions by the U.S. government will affect the
efficiency,liquidity and stability of the financial and mortgage markets or prepayments on Agency RMBS. To the extent the financial or

mortgagemarkets do not respond favorably to any of these actions, such actions do not function as intended, or prepayments increase
materiallyas a result of these actions, our business, results of operations and financial condition may continue to be materially adversely
affected.

Measures intended to prevent the spread of COVID-19 have disrupted our ability to operate our business.
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In response to the outbreak of COVID-19 and the federal and state mandates implemented to control its spread, some of our
Manager’s employees worked remotely until June of 2021. If our Manager’s employees are unable to work effectively as a result 
ofCOVID-19, including because of illness, quarantines, office closures, ineffective remote work arrangements or technology failures
orlimitations, our operations would be adversely impacted. Further, remote work arrangements may increase the risk of
cybersecurityincidents, data breaches or cyber-attacks, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations, due
to, among other things, the loss of proprietary data, interruptions or delays in the operation of our business and damage to our
reputation.

General Risk Factors

The occurrence of cyber-incidents, or a deficiency in our cybersecurity or in those of any of our third party service providers
couldnegatively impact our business by causing a disruption to our operations, a compromise or corruption of our confidential
information or damage to our business relationships or reputation, all of which could negatively impact our business and
resultsof operations.

A cyber-incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our
information resources or the information resources of our third party service providers. More specifically, a cyber-incident is an
intentional attack or an unintentional event that can include gaining unauthorized access to systems to disrupt operations, corrupt
data,or steal confidential information. As our reliance on technology has increased, so have the risks posed to our systems, both
internaland those we have outsourced. The primary risks that could directly result from the occurrence of a cyber-incident include
operationalinterruption and private data exposure. We have implemented processes, procedures and controls to help mitigate these risks, but
these measures, as well as our focus on mitigating the risk of a cyber-incident, do not guarantee that our business and results of
operations will not be negatively impacted by such an incident.

We face possible risks associated with the effects of climate change and severe weather. 

We cannot predict the rate at which climate change will progress. However, the physical effects of climate change could
have amaterial adverse effect on our operations and business. Our headquarters and our Manager are located very close to the Florida

coastline. To the extent that climate change impacts changes in weather patterns, our headquarters and our Manager could
experiencesevere weather, including hurricanes and coastal flooding due to increases in storm intensity and rising sea levels. Such weather
events could disrupt our operations or damage our headquarters. There can be no assurance that climate change and severe
weatherwill not have a material adverse effect on our operations or business.

If we issue debt securities, our operations may be restricted and we will be exposed to additional risk. 

If we decide to issue debt securities in the future, it is likely that such securities will be governed by an indenture or other
instrument containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that
weissue in the future may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our common stock. We, and indirectly
ourstockholders, will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities. Holders of debt securities may be granted specific rights,
including but not limited to, the right to hold a perfected security interest in certain of our assets, the right to accelerate payments
dueunder the indenture, rights to restrict dividend payments, and rights to approve the sale of assets. Such additional restrictive
covenantsand operating restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and
ourability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

There may not be an active market for our common stock, which may cause our common stock to trade at a discount and
make itdifficult to sell the common stock you purchase.
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Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “ORC.” Trading on the NYSE does not ensure that there will
continueto be an actual market for our common stock. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to:

● the likelihood that an actual market for our common stock will continue;
● the liquidity of any such market;
● the ability of any holder to sell shares of our common stock; or
● the prices that may be obtained for our common stock.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would be senior to our common stock upon liquidation, or equity securities, which
woulddilute our existing stockholders and may be senior to our common stock for the purposes of distributions, may harm the
value ofour common stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or equity securities,
including commercial paper, medium-term notes, senior or subordinated notes and classes of preferred stock or common stock, as
wellas warrants to purchase shares of common stock or convertible preferred stock. Upon the liquidation of the Company, holders of
ourdebt securities and shares of preferred stock and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive a distribution of our
availableassets prior to the holders of our common stock. Additional equity offerings by us may dilute the holdings of our existing
stockholders orreduce the market value of our common stock, or both. Our preferred stock, if issued, would have a preference on distributions
thatcould limit our ability to make distributions to the holders of our common stock. Furthermore, our Board of Directors may,
withoutstockholder approval, amend our charter to increase the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series
that we have the authority to issue, and to classify or reclassify any unissued shares of common stock or preferred stock. Because
ourdecision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we
cannotpredict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future securities offerings. Our stockholders are therefore subject to the
risk ofour future securities offerings reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their common stock. 

The market value of our common stock may be volatile.

The market value of shares of our common stock may be based primarily upon current and expected future cash dividends
andour book value. The market price of shares of our common stock may be influenced by the dividends on those shares relative to

marketinterest rates. Rising interest rates may lead potential buyers of our common stock to expect a higher dividend rate, which could
adversely affect the market price of shares of our common stock. In addition, our book value could decrease, which could reduce
themarket price of our common stock to the extent our common stock trades relative to our book value. As a result, the market price
of ourcommon stock may be highly volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations. In addition, the trading volume in our common stock
mayfluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Some of the factors that could negatively affect the share price or trading
volume of our common stock include:

● actual or anticipated variations in our operating results or distributions;
● changes in our earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us or the real estate or specialty finance

industry;● the market valuations of Agency RMBS;
● increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of our common stock to expect a higher dividend yield;
● government action or regulation;
● changes in our book value;
● changes in market valuations of similar companies;
● adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;
● a change in our Manager or additions or departures of key management personnel;
● actions by institutional stockholders;
● speculation in the press or investment community; and
● general market and economic conditions.



43

We cannot make any assurances that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the
future.
We are subject to risks related to corporate social responsibility. 

Our business faces public scrutiny related to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) activities. We risk damage to
ourreputation if we or our Manager fail to act responsibly in a number of areas, such as diversity and inclusion, environmental

stewardship,support for local communities, corporate governance and transparency and considering ESG factors in our investment processes.
Adverse incidents with respect to ESG activities could impact the cost of our operations and relationships with investors, all of
whichcould adversely affect our business and results of operations. Additionally, new legislative or regulatory initiatives related to ESG
couldadversely affect our business.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own any real property. Our offices are owned by Bimini, the parent of our Manager, and are located at 3305
FlamingoDrive, Vero Beach, Florida 32963. We consider this property to be adequate for our business as currently conducted. Our

telephonenumber is (772) 231-1400.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not party to any material pending legal proceedings as described in Item 103 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OFEQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Holders

Our common stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol “ORC.” As of February 14, 2022, we had 176,993,049 shares of
common stock issued and outstanding which were held by 14 stockholders of record and 67,045 beneficial owners whose shares
wereheld in “street name” by brokers and depository institutions.

Dividend Distribution Policy

We intend to continue to make regular monthly cash distributions to our stockholders, as more fully described below. To 
maintainour qualification as a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stockholders an amount at least equal to 90% of our REIT taxable

income, determined without regard to the deductions for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain. We will be subject to
income tax on our taxable income that is not distributed and to an excise tax to the extent that certain percentages of our taxable
income are not distributed by specified dates. Income as computed for purposes of the foregoing tax rules will not necessarily
correspond to our income as determined for financial reporting purposes pursuant to GAAP.

Any additional distributions we make will be authorized by and at the discretion of our Board of Directors based upon a
variety offactors deemed relevant by our directors, which may include:

● actual results of operations;
● our financial condition;
● our level of retained cash flows;
● our capital requirements; 
● any debt service requirements; 
● our taxable income; 
● the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code;
● applicable provisions of Maryland law; and
● other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

 We have not established a minimum distribution payment level, and we cannot assure you of our ability to make
distributions toour stockholders in the future. 

Our charter authorizes us to issue preferred stock that could have a preference over our common stock with respect to
distributions. If we issue any preferred stock, the distribution preference on the preferred stock could limit our ability to make
distributions to the holders of our common stock. 

Our ability to make distributions to our stockholders will depend upon the performance of our investment portfolio, and, in
turn,upon our Manager’s management of our business. To the extent that our cash available for distribution is less than the amount

requiredto be distributed under the REIT provisions of the Code, we may consider various funding sources to cover any shortfall,
includingselling certain of our assets, borrowing funds or using a portion of the net proceeds we receive in future securities offerings (and
thusall or a portion of such distributions may constitute a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes). We also may elect to
payall or a portion of any distribution in the form of a taxable distribution of our stock or debt securities. In addition, our Board of
Directorsmay change our distribution policy in the future.
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Total Return Performance

Orchid Island Capital, Inc. NAREIT Mortgage REIT TRR Index

S&P 500 Total Return Index Agency REIT Peer Group

Performance Graph

Set forth below is a graph comparing the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total return on our common stock, with
thecumulative total return of the S&P 500 Total Return Index, the FTSE NAREIT Mortgage REIT Index and an index of selected

issuers inour Agency REIT Peer Group (composed of AGNC Investment Corp., Annaly Capital Management, Inc., Anworth Mortgage
AssetCorporation, Arlington Asset Investment Corp., ARMOUR Residential REIT, Inc., Capstead Mortgage Corporation, Cherry Hill
Mortgage Investment Corporation and Dynex Capital, Inc.) for the period beginning December 31, 2016, and ending December
31,2021, assuming the investment of $100 on December 31, 2016 and the reinvestment of dividends. 

The information in the performance chart and the table below has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but its
accuracy nor its completeness can be guaranteed. The historical information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future
performance.

12/31/16 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21
Orchid Island Capital, Inc. 100.00 101.13 80.57 86.10 90.62 90.75
Agency REIT Peer Group 100.00 112.90 102.32 105.99 96.18 101.49
NAREIT Mortgage REIT TRR Index 100.00 119.79 116.77 141.67 115.08 133.08
S&P 500 Total Return Index 100.00 121.83 116.49 153.17 181.35 233.41

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Information about securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans required for this Item 5 is
incorporatedby reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

The Company did not issue or sell equity securities that were not registered under the Securities Act during the year ended
December31, 2021.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
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On July 29, 2015, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2,000,000 shares of the Company's 
commonstock. On February 8, 2018, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the stock repurchase program for up to an additional

4,522,822 shares of the Company's common stock. On December 9, 2021, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the number 
ofshares of the Company’s common stock available in the stock repurchase program for up to an additional 16,861,994 shares, bringing 
theremaining authorization under the stock repurchase program to up to 17,699,305 shares, representing approximately 10% of the
Company’s then outstanding shares of common stock. Unless modified or revoked by the Board, the authorization does not expire.
TheCompany did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2021.

ITEM 6. RESERVED.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and notes to those statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. The discussion may contain certain forward-
lookingstatements that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are those that are not historical in nature. As a result
ofmany factors, such as those set forth under “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K, our actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in such forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a specialty finance company that invests in residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) which are issued and
guaranteed by a federally chartered corporation or agency (“Agency RMBS”). Our investment strategy focuses on, and our
portfolioconsists of, two categories of Agency RMBS: (i) traditional pass-through Agency RMBS, such as mortgage pass-through
certificatesissued by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae (the “GSEs”) and collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”) issued by the
GSEs(“PT RMBS”) and (ii) structured Agency RMBS, such as interest-only securities (“IOs”), inverse interest-only securities (“IIOs”)
andprincipal only securities (“POs”), among other types of structured Agency RMBS. We were formed by Bimini in August 2010,
commenced operations on November 24, 2010 and completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) on February 20, 2013. We are
externally managed by Bimini Advisors, an investment adviser registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”).

Our business objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted total returns over the long term through a combination of capital
appreciation and the payment of regular monthly distributions. We intend to achieve this objective by investing in and
strategicallyallocating capital between the two categories of Agency RMBS described above. We seek to generate income from (i) the net
interestmargin on our leveraged PT RMBS portfolio and the leveraged portion of our structured Agency RMBS portfolio, and (ii) the
interestincome we generate from the unleveraged portion of our structured Agency RMBS portfolio. We intend to fund our PT RMBS
andcertain of our structured Agency RMBS through short-term borrowings structured as repurchase agreements. PT RMBS and
structuredAgency RMBS typically exhibit materially different sensitivities to movements in interest rates. Declines in the value of one
portfoliomay be offset by appreciation in the other. The percentage of capital that we allocate to our two Agency RMBS asset categories
willvary and will be actively managed in an effort to maintain the level of income generated by the combined portfolios, the stability
of thatincome stream and the stability of the value of the combined portfolios. We believe that this strategy will enhance our liquidity,
earnings, book value stability and asset selection opportunities in various interest rate environments. 

We operate so as to qualify to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). We generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent that we currently distribute all of
ourREIT taxable income (as defined in the Code) to our stockholders and maintain our REIT qualification.

The Company’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ORC”. 

Capital Raising Activities

On August 2, 2017, we entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “August 2017 Equity Distribution Agreement”) with
twosales agents pursuant to which we could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $125,000,000 of shares of

ourcommon stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a
totalof 15,123,178 shares under the August 2017 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of $125.0 million, and
netproceeds of approximately $123.1 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in July 2019.

On July 30, 2019, we entered into an underwriting agreement (the “2019 Underwriting Agreement”) with Morgan Stanley &
Co.LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representatives of the underwriters named therein,

relating tothe offer and sale of 7,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price to the public of $6.55 per share. The
underwriters
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purchased the shares pursuant to the 2019 Underwriting Agreement at a price of $6.3535 per share. The closing of the offering of
7,000,000 shares of common stock occurred on August 2, 2019, with net proceeds to us of approximately $44.2 million after
deductionof underwriting discounts and commissions and other estimated offering expenses.

On January 23, 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “January 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement”)
withthree sales agents pursuant to which we could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $200,000,000 of

sharesof our common stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We
issueda total of 3,170,727 shares under the January 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of $19.8 million,
andnet proceeds of approximately $19.4 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in August 2020.

On August 4, 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “August 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement”) with
foursales agents pursuant to which we could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $150,000,000 of shares of

ourcommon stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a
totalof 27,493,650 shares under the August 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $150.0
million, and net proceeds of approximately $147.4 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in June 2021.

On January 20, 2021, we entered into an underwriting agreement (the “January 2021 Underwriting Agreement”) with J.P.
MorganSecurities LLC (“J.P. Morgan”), relating to the offer and sale of 7,600,000 shares of our common stock. J.P. Morgan purchased

theshares of our common stock from the Company pursuant to the January 2021 Underwriting Agreement at $5.20 per share. In
addition,we granted J.P. Morgan a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 1,140,000 shares of our common stock on the same terms
andconditions, which J.P. Morgan exercised in full on January 21, 2021. The closing of the offering of 8,740,000 shares of our
commonstock occurred on January 25, 2021, with proceeds to us of approximately $45.2 million, net of offering expenses.

On March 2, 2021, we entered into an underwriting agreement (the “March 2021 Underwriting Agreement”) with J.P.
Morgan,relating to the offer and sale of 8,000,000 shares of our common stock. J.P. Morgan purchased the shares of our common stock

fromthe Company pursuant to the March 2021 Underwriting Agreement at $5.45 per share. In addition, we granted J.P. Morgan a 30-
dayoption to purchase up to an additional 1,200,000 shares of our common stock on the same terms and conditions, which J.P.
Morganexercised in full on March 3, 2021. The closing of the offering of 9,200,000 shares of our common stock occurred on March 5,
2021,with proceeds to us of approximately $50.0 million, net of offering expenses.

On June 22, 2021, we entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “June 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement”) with
foursales agents pursuant to which we could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $250,000,000 of shares of

ourcommon stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a
totalof 49,407,336 shares under the June 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $250.0
million, and net proceeds of approximately $246.2 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in October 2021. 

On October 29, 2021, we entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “October 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement”)
withfour sales agents pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $250,000,000 of shares

ofour common stock in transactions that are deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. Through
December 31, 2021, we issued a total of 15,835,700 shares under the October 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate
grossproceeds of approximately $78.3 million, and net proceeds of approximately $77.0 million, after commissions and fees. 

Stock Repurchase Program

On July 29, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2,000,000 shares of our common
stock.The timing, manner, price and amount of any repurchases is determined by the Company in its discretion and is subject to

economicand market conditions, stock price, applicable legal requirements and other factors. The authorization does not obligate the
Companyto acquire any particular amount of common stock and the program may be suspended or discontinued at the Company’s
discretion
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without prior notice.On February 8, 2018, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the stock repurchase program for up to an
additional 4,522,822 shares of the Company’s common stock. Coupled with the 783,757 shares remaining from the original
2,000,000share authorization, the increased authorization brought the total authorization to 5,306,579 shares, representing 10% of the then
outstanding share count. On December 9, 2021, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock available in the stock repurchase program for up to an additional 16,861,994 shares, bringing the
remainingauthorization under the stock repurchase program to 17,699,305 shares, representing approximately 10% of the Company’s
currentlyoutstanding shares of common stock. This stock repurchase program has no termination date.

From the inception of the stock repurchase program through December 31, 2021, the Company repurchased a total of
5,685,511shares at an aggregate cost of approximately $40.4 million, including commissions and fees, for a weighted average price of $7.10

pershare. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased a total of 19,891 shares at an aggregate cost of
approximately $0.1 million, including commissions and fees, for a weighted average price of $3.42 per share. There were no
sharesrepurchased during the year ended December 31, 2021. 

Factors that Affect our Results of Operations and Financial Condition

A variety of industry and economic factors may impact our results of operations and financial condition. These factors
include:

● interest rate trends;
● increases in our cost of funds resulting from increases in the Federal Funds rate that are controlled by the Fed and are

likelyto occur in 2022;
● the difference between Agency RMBS yields and our funding and hedging costs;
● competition for, and supply of, investments in Agency RMBS;
● actions taken by the U.S. government, including the presidential administration, the Fed,the Federal Housing Financing

Agency (the “FHFA”), the Federal Housing Administration (the “FHA”), the Federal Open Market Committee (the 
“FOMC”) andthe U.S. Treasury; 

● prepayment rates on mortgages underlying our Agency RMBS and credit trends insofar as they affect prepayment rates;
and● other market developments.

In addition, a variety of factors relating to our business may also impact our results of operations and financial condition.
Thesefactors include:

● our degree of leverage;
● our access to funding and borrowing capacity;
● our borrowing costs;
● our hedging activities;
● the market value of our investments; and
● the requirements to qualify as a REIT and the requirements to qualify for a registration exemption under the Investment

Company Act. 

Results of Operations

Described below are the Company’s results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, as compared to the
Company’sresults of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Net (Loss) Income Summary

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $64.8 million, or $0.54 per share. Net income for the year ended December 
31,
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2020 was $2.1 million, or $0.03 per share. Net income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $24.3 million, or $0.43 per share.
Thecomponents of net (loss) income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below:

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019

Interest income $ 134,700 $ 116,045 $ 142,324
Interest expense (7,090) (25,056) (83,666)
Net interest income 127,610 90,989 58,658
Losses on RMBS and derivative contracts (177,119) (78,317) (24,008)
Net portfolio (loss) income (49,509) 12,672 34,650
Expenses (15,251) (10,544) (10,385)
Net (loss) income $ (64,760)$ 2,128 $ 24,265

GAAP and Non-GAAP Reconciliations

In addition to the results presented in accordance with GAAP, our results of operations discussed below include certain non-
GAAPfinancial information, including “Net Earnings Excluding Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses”, “Economic Interest Expense” 

and“Economic Net Interest Income.”

Net Earnings Excluding Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses

We have elected to account for our Agency RMBS under the fair value option. Securities held under the fair value option are
recorded at estimated fair value, with changes in the fair value recorded as unrealized gains or losses through the statements of
operations.

In addition, we have not designated our derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes as hedges for accounting
purposes, but rather hold them for economic hedging purposes. Changes in fair value of these instruments are presented in a separate
line item in the Company’s statements of operations and are not included in interest expense. As such, for financial reporting 
purposes,interest expense and cost of funds are not impacted by the fluctuation in value of the derivative instruments. 

Presenting net earnings excluding realized and unrealized gains and losses allows management to: (i) isolate the net interest 
incomeand other expenses of the Company over time, free of all fair value adjustments and (ii) assess the effectiveness of our funding and

hedging strategies on our capital allocation decisions and our asset allocation performance. Our funding and hedging strategies, 
capitalallocation and asset selection are integral to our risk management strategy, and therefore critical to the management of our portfolio. 
Webelieve that the presentation of our net earnings excluding realized and unrealized gains is useful to investors because it provides a 
meansof comparing our results of operations to those of our peers who have not elected the same accounting treatment. Our presentation of
netearnings excluding realized and unrealized gains and losses may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures of other companies, 
whomay use different calculations. As a result, net earnings excluding realized and unrealized gains and losses should not be considered as
asubstitute for our GAAP net income (loss) as a measure of our financial performance or any measure of our liquidity under GAAP. 
Thetable below presents a reconciliation of our net income (loss) determined in accordance with GAAP and net earnings excluding
realizedand unrealized gains and losses.
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Net Earnings Excluding Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses
(in thousands, except per share data)

Per Share
Net Earnings Net Earnings

Excluding Excluding
Realized and Realized and Realized and Realized and

Net Unrealized Unrealized Net Unrealized Unrealized
Income Gains and Gains and Income Gains and Gains and
(GAAP) Losses(1) Losses (GAAP) Losses Losses

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ (44,564) $ (82,597) $ 38,033 $ (0.27) $ (0.49) $ 0.22
September 30, 2021 26,038 (2,887) 28,925 0.20 (0.02) 0.22
June 30, 2021 (16,865) (40,844) 23,979 (0.17) (0.41) 0.24
March 31, 2021 (29,369) (50,791) 21,422 (0.34) (0.60) 0.26
December 31, 2020 16,479 (4,605) 21,084 0.23 (0.07) 0.30
September 30, 2020 28,076 5,745 22,331 0.42 0.09 0.33
June 30, 2020 48,772 28,749 20,023 0.74 0.43 0.31
March 31, 2020 (91,199) (108,206) 17,007 (1.41) (1.68) 0.27
December 31, 2019 18,612 3,840 14,772 0.29 0.06 0.23
September 30, 2019 (8,477) (19,431) 10,954 (0.14) (0.32) 0.18
June 30, 2019 3,533 (7,670) 11,203 0.07 (0.15) 0.22
March 31, 2019 10,597 (747) 11,344 0.22 (0.02) 0.24
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ (64,760)$ (177,119)$ 112,359 $ (0.54) $ (1.46) $ 0.92
December 31, 2020 2,128 (78,317) 80,445 0.03 (1.17) 1.20
December 31, 2019 24,265 (24,008) 48,273 0.43 (0.43) 0.86

(1) Includes realized and unrealized gains (losses) on RMBS and derivative financial instruments, including net interest income or expense on 
interestrate swaps.

Economic Interest Expense and Economic Net Interest Income

We use derivative and other hedging instruments, specifically Eurodollar, Fed Funds and T-Note futures contracts, short
positions inU.S. Treasury securities, interest rate swaps and swaptions, to hedge a portion of the interest rate risk on repurchase agreements in a

rising rate environment. 

We have not elected to designate our derivative holdings for hedge accounting treatment. Changes in fair value of these 
instrumentsare presented in a separate line item in our statements of operations and not included in interest expense. As such, for financial 

reportingpurposes, interest expense and cost of funds are not impacted by the fluctuation in value of the derivative instruments. 

For the purpose of computing economic net interest income and ratios relating to cost of funds measures, GAAP interest 
expensehas been adjusted to reflect the realized and unrealized gains or losses on certain derivative instruments the Company uses,

specificallyEurodollar, Fed Funds and U.S. Treasury futures, and interest rate swaps and swaptions, that pertain to each period presented. We
believe that adjusting our interest expense for the periods presented by the gains or losses on these derivative instruments would not
accurately reflect our economic interest expense for these periods. The reason is that these derivative instruments may cover periods
thatextend into the future, not just the current period. Any realized or unrealized gains or losses on the instruments reflect the change in
market value of the instrument caused by changes in underlying interest rates applicable to the term covered by the instrument, not
justthe current period. For each period presented, we have combined the effects of the derivative financial instruments in place for the
respective period with the actual interest expense incurred on borrowings to reflect total economic interest expense for the applicable
period. Interest expense, including the effect of derivative instruments for the period, is referred to as economic interest expense. Net
interest income, when calculated to include the effect of derivative instruments for the period, is referred to as economic net interest
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income. This presentation includes gains or losses on all contracts in effect during the reporting period, covering the current period as 
wellas periods in the future.

The Company may invest in TBAs, which are forward contracts for the purchase or sale of Agency RMBS at a predetermined 
price,face amount, issuer, coupon and stated maturity on an agreed-upon future date. The specific Agency RMBS to be delivered into the

contract are not known until shortly before the settlement date. We may choose, prior to settlement, to move the settlement of these
securities out to a later date by entering into a dollar roll transaction. The Agency RMBS purchased or sold for a forward settlement 
dateare typically priced at a discount to equivalent securities settling in the current month. Consequently, forward purchases of Agency 
RMBSand dollar roll transactions represent a form of off-balance sheet financing. These TBAs are accounted for as derivatives and marked 
tomarket through the income statement. Gains or losses on TBAs are included with gains or losses on other derivative contracts and are
notincluded in interest income for purposes of the discussions below.

We believe that economic interest expense and economic net interest income provide meaningful information to consider, in 
additionto the respective amounts prepared in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP measures help management to evaluate its financial

position and performance without the effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustments that are not necessarily indicative of our
current investment portfolio or operations. The unrealized gains or losses on derivative instruments presented in our statements of
operations are not necessarily representative of the total interest rate expense that we will ultimately realize. This is because as interest
rates move up or down in the future, the gains or losses we ultimately realize, and which will affect our total interest rate expense in
futureperiods, may differ from the unrealized gains or losses recognized as of the reporting date. 

Our presentation of the economic value of our hedging strategy has important limitations. First, other market participants may
calculate economic interest expense and economic net interest income differently than the way we calculate them. Second, while we
believe that the calculation of the economic value of our hedging strategy described above helps to present our financial position and
performance, it may be of limited usefulness as an analytical tool. Therefore, the economic value of our investment strategy should 
not beviewed in isolation and is not a substitute for interest expense and net interest income computed in accordance with GAAP.

The tables below present a reconciliation of the adjustments to interest expense shown for each period relative to our derivative
instruments, and the income statement line item, gains (losses) on derivative instruments, calculated in accordance with GAAP for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and each quarter during 2021, 2020 and 2019.



 
 

 
             

       

       

       

       

       

    
 
       

 

 
 

 

 
               

        

        

        

        

        

    
 
        

 

53

Gains (Losses) on Derivative Instruments
(in thousands)

Economic Hedges
Recognized in Attributed to Attributed to

Income U.S. Treasury and TBA Current Future
Statement Securities Gain (Loss) Period Periods

(GAAP) (Short Positions) (Long Positions) (Non-GAAP) (Non-GAAP)
Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 10,945 $ 2,568 $ - $ (7,949) $ 16,326
September 30, 2021 5,375 (2,306) - (1,248) 8,929
June 30, 2021 (34,915) (5,963) - (5,104) (23,848)
March 31, 2021 45,472 9,133 (8,559) (4,044) 48,942
December 31, 2020 8,538 (436) 5,480 (5,790) 9,284
September 30, 2020 4,079 131 3,336 (6,900) 7,512
June 30, 2020 (8,851) 582 1,133 (5,751) (4,815)
March 31, 2020 (82,858) (7,090) - (4,900) (70,868)
December 31, 2019 10,792 (512) - 3,823 7,481
September 30, 2019 (8,648) 572 1,907 1,244 (12,371)
June 30, 2019 (34,288) (1,684) - 1,464 (34,068)
March 31, 2019 (19,032) (4,641) - 2,427 (16,818)
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 26,877 $ 3,432 $ (8,559) $ (18,345)$ 50,349
December 31, 2020 (79,092) (6,813) 9,949 (23,341) (58,887)
December 31, 2019 (51,176) (6,265) 1,907 8,958 (55,776)

Economic Interest Expense and Economic Net Interest Income
(in thousands)

Interest Expense on Borrowings
Gains

(Losses) on
Derivative

Instruments Net Interest Income
GAAP Attributed Economic GAAP Economic

Interest Interest to Current Interest Net Interest Net Interest
Income Expense Period(1) Expense(2) Income Income(3)

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 44,421 $ 2,023 $ (7,949) $ 9,972 $ 42,398 $ 34,449
September 30, 2021 34,169 1,570 (1,248) 2,818 32,599 31,351
June 30, 2021 29,254 1,556 (5,104) 6,660 27,698 22,594
March 31, 2021 26,856 1,941 (4,044) 5,985 24,915 20,871
December 31, 2020 25,893 2,011 (5,790) 7,801 23,882 18,092
September 30, 2020 27,223 2,043 (6,900) 8,943 25,180 18,280
June 30, 2020 27,258 4,479 (5,751) 10,230 22,779 17,028
March 31, 2020 35,671 16,523 (4,900) 21,423 19,148 14,248
December 31, 2019 37,529 20,022 3,823 16,199 17,507 21,330
September 30, 2019 35,907 22,321 1,244 21,077 13,586 14,830
June 30, 2019 36,455 22,431 1,464 20,967 14,024 15,488
March 31, 2019 32,433 18,892 2,427 16,465 13,541 15,968
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 134,700 $ 7,090 $ (18,345) $ 25,435 $ 127,610 $ 109,265
December 31, 2020 116,045 25,056 (23,341) 48,397 90,989 67,648
December 31, 2019 142,324 83,666 8,958 74,708 58,658 67,616
(1) Reflects the effect of derivative instrument hedges for only the period presented.
(2) Calculated by adding the effect of derivative instrument hedges attributed to the period presented to GAAP interest expense.
(3) Calculated by adding the effect of derivative instrument hedges attributed to the period presented to GAAP net interest income.
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Net Interest Income

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we generated $127.6 million of net interest income, consisting of $134.7 million of 
interestincome from RMBS assets offset by $7.1 million of interest expense on borrowings. For the comparable period ended December 31,

2020, we generated $91.0 million of net interest income, consisting of $116.0 million of interest income from RMBS assets offset by
$25.1million of interest expense on borrowings. The $18.7 million increase in interest income was driven bya $1,569.3 million increase in
average RMBS that was partially offset by a 72 basis point ("bps") decrease in yield on average RMBS. The $18.0 million decrease in
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was driven by a 63 bps decrease in the average cost of funds, offset by a
$1,510.5 million increase in average borrowings. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, we generated $58.7 million of net interest income, consisting of $142.3 million of 
interestincome from RMBS assets offset by $83.7 million of interest expense on borrowings. The $26.3 million decrease in interest income

for theyear ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, was due to a 69 bps decrease in yield on average
RMBS, combined with a $71.6 million decrease in average RMBS during the period. The $58.6 million decrease in interest expense
for theyear ended December 31, 2020 was due to a $114.7 million decrease in average borrowings, combined with a 175 bps decrease in the
average cost of funds.

On an economic basis, our interest expense on borrowings for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $25.4
million, $48.4 million and $74.7 million, respectively, resulting in $109.3 million, $67.6 million and $67.6 million of economic net
interestincome, respectively. 

The tables below provide information on our portfolio average balances, interest income, yield on assets, average borrowings, 
interestexpense, cost of funds, net interest income and net interest spread for each quarter in 2021, 2020 and 2019 and for the years ended

December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 on both a GAAP and economic basis.

($ in thousands)
Average Yield on Interest Expense Average Cost of Funds
RMBS Interest Average Average GAAP Economic GAAP Economic
Held(1) Income RMBS Borrowings(1) Basis Basis(2) Basis Basis(3)

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 6,056,259 $ 44,421 2.93% $ 5,728,988 $ 2,023 $ 9,972 0.14% 0.70%
September 30, 2021 5,136,331 34,169 2.66% 4,864,287 1,570 2,818 0.13% 0.23%
June 30, 2021 4,504,887 29,254 2.60% 4,348,192 1,556 6,660 0.14% 0.61%
March 31, 2021 4,032,716 26,856 2.66% 3,888,633 1,941 5,985 0.20% 0.62%
December 31, 2020 3,633,631 25,893 2.85% 3,438,444 2,011 7,801 0.23% 0.91%
September 30, 2020 3,422,564 27,223 3.18% 3,228,021 2,043 8,943 0.25% 1.11%
June 30, 2020 3,126,779 27,258 3.49% 2,992,494 4,479 10,230 0.60% 1.37%
March 31, 2020 3,269,859 35,671 4.36% 3,129,178 16,523 21,423 2.11% 2.74%
December 31, 2019 3,705,920 37,529 4.05% 3,631,042 20,022 16,199 2.21% 1.78%
September 30, 2019 3,674,087 35,907 3.91% 3,571,752 22,321 21,077 2.50% 2.36%
June 30, 2019 3,307,885 36,455 4.41% 3,098,133 22,431 20,967 2.90% 2.71%
March 31, 2019 3,051,509 32,433 4.25% 2,945,895 18,892 16,465 2.57% 2.24%
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 4,932,548 $ 134,700 2.73% $ 4,707,525 $ 7,090 $ 25,435 0.15% 0.54%
December 31, 2020 3,363,208 116,045 3.45% 3,197,034 25,056 48,397 0.78% 1.51%
December 31, 2019 3,434,850 142,324 4.14% 3,311,705 83,666 74,708 2.53% 2.26%
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($ in thousands)
Net Interest Income Net Interest Spread

GAAP Economic GAAP Economic
Basis Basis(2) Basis Basis(4)

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 42,398 $ 34,449 2.79% 2.23%
September 30, 2021 32,599 31,351 2.53% 2.43%
June 30, 2021 27,698 22,594 2.46% 1.99%
March 31, 2021 24,915 20,871 2.46% 2.04%
December 31, 2020 23,882 18,093 2.62% 1.94%
September 30, 2020 25,180 18,280 2.93% 2.07%
June 30, 2020 22,779 17,028 2.89% 2.12%
March 31, 2020 19,148 14,248 2.25% 1.62%
December 31, 2019 17,507 21,330 1.84% 2.27%
September 30, 2019 13,586 14,830 1.41% 1.55%
June 30, 2019 14,024 15,488 1.51% 1.70%
March 31, 2019 13,541 15,968 1.68% 2.01%
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 127,610 $ 109,265 2.58% 2.19%
December 31, 2020 90,989 67,649 2.67% 1.94%
December 31, 2019 58,658 67,616 1.61% 1.88%

(1) Portfolio yields and costs of borrowings presented in the tables above and the tables on pages 60 and 61 are calculated based on the
average balances of the underlying investment portfolio/borrowings balances and are annualized for the periods presented. Average
balances for quarterly periods are calculated using two data points, the beginning and ending balances.

(2) Economic interest expense and economic net interest incomepresented in the table above and the tables on page 61 includes the effect
of our derivative instrument hedges for only the periods presented.

(3) Represents interest cost of our borrowings and the effect of derivative instrument hedges attributed to the period divided by average
RMBS.

(4) Economic net interest spread is calculated by subtracting average economic cost of funds from realized yield on average RMBS.

Interest Income and Average Asset Yield

Our interest income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $134.7 million and $116.0 million, respectively. We
hadaverage RMBS holdings of $4,932.5 million and $3,363.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Theyield on our portfolio was 2.73% and 3.45% for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, there was a $18.7 million increase in interest income due to a
$1,569.3 million increase in average RMBS, offset by a 72 bps decrease in the yield on average RMBS. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, we had interest income of $142.3 million and average RMBS holdings of $3,434.9 
million,resulting in a yield on our portfolio of 4.14%. For the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to the year ended December 31,

2019,there was a $26.3 million decrease in interest income due to a $71.6 million decrease in average RMBS, combined with a 69 bps
decreasein the yield on average RMBS. 

The table below presents the average portfolio size, income and yields of our respective sub-portfolios, consisting of structured 
RMBSand PT RMBS for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and for each quarter during 2021, 2020 and 2019.



 
   

 
 

 
 

 

56

($ in thousands)
Average RMBS Held Interest Income Realized Yield on Average RMBS

PT Structured PT Structured PT Structured
RMBS RMBS Total RMBS RMBS Total RMBS RMBS Total

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 5,878,376 $ 177,883 $ 6,056,259 $ 42,673 $ 1,748 $ 44,421 2.90% 3.93% 2.93%
September 30, 2021 5,016,550 119,781 5,136,331 33,111 1,058 34,169 2.64% 3.53% 2.66%
June 30, 2021 4,436,135 68,752 4,504,887 29,286 (32) 29,254 2.64% (0.18)% 2.60%
March 31, 2021 3,997,965 34,751 4,032,716 26,869 (13) 26,856 2.69% (0.15)% 2.66%
December 31, 2020 3,603,885 29,746 3,633,631 25,933 (40) 25,893 2.88% (0.53)% 2.85%
September 30, 2020 3,389,037 33,527 3,422,564 27,021 202 27,223 3.19% 2.41% 3.18%
June 30, 2020 3,088,603 38,176 3,126,779 27,004 254 27,258 3.50% 2.67% 3.49%
March 31, 2020 3,207,467 62,392 3,269,859 35,286 385 35,671 4.40% 2.47% 4.36%
December 31, 2019 3,611,461 94,459 3,705,920 36,600 929 37,529 4.05% 3.93% 4.05%
September 30, 2019 3,558,075 116,012 3,674,087 36,332 (425) 35,907 4.08% (1.47)% 3.91%
June 30, 2019 3,181,976 125,909 3,307,885 34,992 1,463 36,455 4.40% 4.65% 4.41%
March 31, 2019 2,919,415 132,094 3,051,509 30,328 2,105 32,433 4.16% 6.37% 4.25%
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 4,832,257 $ 100,291 $ 4,932,548 $ 131,939 $ 2,761 $ 134,700 2.73% 2.75% 2.73%
December 31, 2020 3,322,248 40,960 3,363,208 115,244 801 116,045 3.47% 1.96% 3.45%
December 31, 2019 3,317,732 117,118 3,434,850 138,252 4,072 142,324 4.17% 3.48% 4.14%

Interest Expense and the Cost of Funds

We had average outstanding borrowings of $4,707.5 million and $3,197.0 million and total interest expense of $7.1 million and
$25.1million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our average cost of funds was 0.15% for the year ended

December 31, 2021, compared to 0.78% for the comparable period in 2020. There was a $1,510.5 million increase in average 
outstandingborrowings during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, we had average borrowings of $3,311.7 million and total interest expense of $83.7
million,resulting in an average cost of funds of 2.53%. There was a 175 bps decrease in the average cost of funds and an $114.7 million

decrease in average outstanding borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2019.

Our economic interest expense was $25.4 million, $48.4 million and $74.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and2019, respectively. There was a 97 bps decrease in the average economic cost of funds to 0.54% for the year ended December 31,

2021from 1.51% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The reason for the decrease in economic cost of funds is primarily due to the 
lowercost of our borrowings noted above, offset by the negative performance of our hedging activities during the period. There was a 75
bpsdecrease in the average economic cost of funds to 1.51% for the year ended December 31, 2020 from 2.26% for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

Since all of our repurchase agreements are short-term, changes in market rates directly affect our interest expense. Our average 
costof funds calculated on a GAAP basis was 5 bps above average one-month LIBOR and 9 bps below average six-month LIBOR for the

quarter ended December 31, 2021. Our average economic cost of funds was equal to average one-month LIBOR and 47 bps above
average six-month LIBOR for the quarter ended December 31, 2021. The average term to maturity of the outstanding repurchase
agreements was 27 days and 31 days at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The tables below present the average balance of borrowings outstanding, interest expense and average cost of funds, and average
one-month and six-month LIBOR rates for each quarter in 2021, 2020 and 2019 and for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and2019 on both a GAAP and economic basis.
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($ in thousands)
Average Interest Expense Average Cost of Funds

Balance of GAAP Economic GAAP Economic
Borrowings Basis Basis Basis Basis

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 5,728,988 $ 2,023 $ 9,972 0.14% 0.70%
September 30, 2021 4,864,287 1,570 2,818 0.13% 0.23%
June 30, 2021 4,348,192 1,556 6,660 0.14% 0.61%
March 31, 2021 3,888,633 1,941 5,985 0.20% 0.62%
December 31, 2020 3,438,444 2,011 7,801 0.23% 0.91%
September 30, 2020 3,228,021 2,043 8,943 0.25% 1.11%
June 30, 2020 2,992,494 4,479 10,230 0.60% 1.37%
March 31, 2020 3,129,178 16,523 21,423 2.11% 2.74%
December 31, 2019 3,631,042 20,022 16,199 2.21% 1.78%
September 30, 2019 3,571,752 22,321 21,077 2.50% 2.36%
June 30, 2019 3,098,133 22,431 20,967 2.90% 2.71%
March 31, 2019 2,945,895 18,892 16,465 2.57% 2.24%
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 4,707,525 $ 7,090 $ 25,435 0.15% 0.54%
December 31, 2020 3,197,034 25,056 48,397 0.78% 1.51%
December 31, 2019 3,311,705 83,666 74,708 2.53% 2.26%

Average GAAP Cost of Funds Average Economic Cost of Funds
Relative to Average Relative to Average

Average LIBOR One-Month Six-Month One-Month Six-Month
One-Month Six-Month LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2021 0.09% 0.23% 0.05% (0.09)% 0.61% 0.47%
September 30, 2021 0.09% 0.16% 0.04% (0.03)% 0.14% 0.07%
June 30, 2021 0.10% 0.18% 0.04% (0.04)% 0.51% 0.43%
March 31, 2021 0.13% 0.23% 0.07% (0.03)% 0.49% 0.39%
December 31, 2020 0.15% 0.27% 0.08% (0.04)% 0.76% 0.64%
September 30, 2020 0.17% 0.35% 0.08% (0.10)% 0.94% 0.76%
June 30, 2020 0.55% 0.70% 0.05% (0.10)% 0.82% 0.67%
March 31, 2020 1.34% 1.43% 0.77% 0.68% 1.40% 1.31%
December 31, 2019 1.90% 1.98% 0.31% 0.23% (0.12)% (0.20)%
September 30, 2019 2.22% 2.18% 0.28% 0.32% 0.14% 0.18%
June 30, 2019 2.45% 2.49% 0.45% 0.41% 0.26% 0.22%
March 31, 2019 2.51% 2.77% 0.06% (0.20)% (0.27)% (0.53)%
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 0.10% 0.20% 0.05% (0.05)% 0.44% 0.34%
December 31, 2020 0.55% 0.69% 0.23% 0.09% 0.96% 0.82%
December 31, 2019 2.27% 2.35% 0.26% 0.18% (0.01)% (0.09)%
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Gains or Losses

The table below presents our gains or losses for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. 

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019

Realized losses on sales of RMBS $ (5,542)$ (24,986)$ (10,877)
Unrealized (losses) gains on RMBS (198,454) 25,761 38,045
Total (losses) gains on RMBS (203,996) 775 27,168
Losses on interest rate futures (856) (13,044) (18,858)
Gains (losses) on interest rate swaps 23,613 (66,212) (26,582)
Gains (losses) on payer swaptions (short positions) 9,062 (3,070) (1,379)
(Losses) gains on payer swaptions (long positions) (2,580) 98 -
Gains on interest rate floors 2,765 - -
Gains (losses) on TBA securities (short positions) 3,432 (6,719) (6,264)
(Losses) gains on TBA securities (long positions) (8,559) 9,950 1,907
Losses on U.S. Treasury securities - (95) -
Total $ (177,119)$ (78,317)$ (24,008)

We invest in RMBS with the intent to earn net income from the realized yield on those assets over their related funding and 
hedgingcosts, and not for the purpose of making short term gains from sales. However, we have sold, and may continue to sell, existing 

assets toacquire new assets, which our management believes might have higher risk-adjusted returns in light of current or anticipated interest 
rates,federal government programs or general economic conditions or to manage our balance sheet as part of our asset/liability 
managementstrategy. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company received proceeds of $2,851.7 million, $4,200.5
million and $3,321.2 million, respectively, from the sales of RMBS. Approximately $1.1 billion of the sales during the year ended 
December31, 2020 occurred during the second half of March 2020 as we sold assets in order to maintain sufficient cash and liquidity and
reduce riskassociated with the market turmoil brought about by COVID-19.

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on RMBS are driven in part by changes in yields and interest rates, which affect the 
pricingof the securities in our portfolio. Gains and losses on interest rate futures contracts are affected by changes in implied forward rates

duringthe reporting period.The table below presents historical interest rate data for each quarter end during 2021, 2020 and 2019.

5 Year 10 Year 15 Year 30 Year Three
U.S. Treasury U.S. Treasury Fixed-Rate Fixed-Rate Month

Rate(1) Rate(1) Mortgage Rate(2) Mortgage Rate(2) LIBOR(3)

December 31, 2021 1.26% 1.51% 2.35% 3.10% 0.21%
September 30, 2021 1.00% 1.53% 2.18% 2.90% 0.12%
June 30, 2021 0.87% 1.44% 2.27% 2.98% 0.13%
March 31, 2021 0.94% 1.75% 2.39% 3.08% 0.19%
December 31, 2020 0.36% 0.92% 2.22% 2.68% 0.23%
September 30, 2020 0.27% 0.68% 2.39% 2.89% 0.24%
June 30, 2020 0.29% 0.65% 2.60% 3.16% 0.31%
March 31, 2020 0.38% 0.70% 2.89% 3.45% 1.10%
December 31, 2019 1.69% 1.92% 3.18% 3.72% 1.91%
September 30, 2019 1.55% 1.68% 3.12% 3.61% 2.13%
June 30, 2019 1.76% 2.00% 3.24% 3.80% 2.40%
March 31, 2019 2.24% 2.41% 3.72% 4.27% 2.61%

(1) Historical 5 and 10 Year U.S. Treasury Rates are obtained from quoted end of day prices on the Chicago Board Options Exchange.
(2) Historical 30 Year and 15 Year Fixed Rate Mortgage Rates are obtained from Freddie Mac’s Primary Mortgage Market Survey.
(3) Historical LIBOR is obtained from the Intercontinental Exchange Benchmark Administration Ltd.
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Expenses

Total operating expenses were $15.3 million, $10.5 million and $10.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019,respectively. The table below provides a breakdown of operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019

Management fees $ 8,156 $ 5,281 $ 5,528
Overhead allocation 1,632 1,514 1,380
Accrued incentive compensation 1,132 38 115
Directors fees and liability insurance 1,169 998 998
Audit, legal and other professional fees 1,112 1,045 1,105
Direct REIT operating expenses 1,475 1,057 997
Other administrative 575 611 262
Total expenses $ 15,251 $ 10,544 $ 10,385

We are externally managed and advised by Bimini Advisors, LLC (the “Manager”) pursuant to the terms of a management
agreement. The management agreement has been renewed through February 20, 2023 and provides for automatic one-year
extensionoptions thereafter and is subject to certain termination rights. Under the terms of the management agreement, the Manager is
responsible for administering the business activities and day-to-day operations of the Company. The Manager receives a monthly
management fee in the amount of:

● One-twelfth of 1.5% of the first $250 million of the Company’s month end equity, as defined in the management
agreement,● One-twelfth of 1.25% of the Company’s month end equity that is greater than $250 million and less than or equal to $500
million, and

● One-twelfth of 1.00% of the Company’s month end equity that is greater than $500 million.

The Company is obligated to reimburse the Manager for any direct expenses incurred on its behalf and to pay the Manager the
Company’s pro rata portion of certain overhead costs set forth in the management agreement. 

The Company has contracted with AVM, L.P. (“AVM”) to provide repurchase agreement trading, clearing and administrative
services to the Company. Commencing in 2022, the Manager will begin performing these functions and the contracted
relationship withAVM may be reduced or eliminated. Following the termination of the arrangements with AVM, the Company will pay the
Manageradditional fees for its performance of repurchase agreement funding transaction services and related clearing and operational
servicesas set forth in the management agreement, as amended.

Should the Company terminate the management agreement without cause, it will pay the Manager a termination fee equal to
threetimes the average annual management fee, as defined in the management agreement, before or on the last day of the term of the

agreement.

The following table summarizes the management fee and overhead allocation expenses for each quarter in 2021, 2020 and
2019and for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
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($ in thousands)
Average Average Advisory Services
Orchid Orchid Management Overhead

Three Months Ended MBS Equity Fee Allocation Total
December 31, 2021 $ 6,056,259 $ 806,382 $ 2,587 $ 443 $ 3,030
September 30, 2021 5,136,331 672,384 2,156 390 2,546
June 30, 2021 4,504,887 542,679 1,792 395 2,187
March 31, 2021 4,032,716 456,687 1,621 404 2,025
December 31, 2020 3,633,631 387,503 1,384 442 1,826
September 30, 2020 3,422,564 368,588 1,252 377 1,629
June 30, 2020 3,126,779 361,093 1,268 348 1,616
March 31, 2020 3,269,859 376,673 1,377 347 1,724
December 31, 2019 3,705,920 414,018 1,477 379 1,856
September 30, 2019 3,674,087 394,788 1,440 351 1,791
June 30, 2019 3,307,885 363,961 1,326 327 1,653
March 31, 2019 3,051,509 363,204 1,285 323 1,608
Years Ended
December 31, 2021 $ 4,932,548 $ 619,533 $ 8,156 $ 1,632 $ 9,788
December 31, 2020 3,363,208 373,464 5,281 1,514 6,795
December 31, 2019 3,434,850 383,993 5,528 1,380 6,908

Financial Condition:

Mortgage-Backed Securities

As of December 31, 2021, our RMBS portfolio consisted of $6,511.1 million of Agency RMBS at fair value and had a weighted
average coupon on assets of 3.03%. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we received principal repayments of $591.1 million
compared to $523.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The average three month prepayment speeds for the quarters 
endedDecember 31, 2021 and 2020 were 11.4% and 20.1%, respectively.

The following table presents the 3-month constant prepayment rate (“CPR”) experienced on our structured and PT RMBS sub-
portfolios, on an annualized basis, for the quarterly periods presented. CPR is a method of expressing the prepayment rate for a
mortgagepool that assumes that a constant fraction of the remaining principal is prepaid each month or year. Specifically, the CPR in the chart
below represents the three month prepayment rate of the securities in the respective asset category. 

Structured
PT RMBS RMBS Total

Three Months Ended Portfolio (%) Portfolio (%) Portfolio (%)
December 31, 2021 9.0 24.6 11.4
September 30, 2021 9.8 25.1 12.4
June 30, 2021 10.9 29.9 12.9
March 31, 2021 9.9 40.3 12.0
December 31, 2020 16.7 44.3 20.1
September 30, 2020 14.3 40.4 17.0
June 30, 2020 13.9 35.3 16.3
March 31, 2020 9.8 22.9 11.9
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The following tables summarize certain characteristics of the Company’s PT RMBS and structured RMBS as of December 31, 
2021and 2020:

($ in thousands)
Weighted

Percentage Average
of Weighted Maturity

Fair Entire Average in Longest
Asset Category Value Portfolio Coupon Months Maturity

December 31, 2021
Fixed Rate RMBS $ 6,298,189 96.7% 2.93% 342 1-Dec-51
Total Mortgage-backed Pass-through 6,298,189 96.7% 2.93% 342 1-Dec-51
Interest-Only Securities 210,382 3.2% 3.40% 263 25-Jan-52
Inverse Interest-Only Securities 2,524 0.1% 3.75% 300 15-Jun-42
Total Structured RMBS 212,906 3.3% 3.41% 264 25-Jan-52
Total Mortgage Assets $ 6,511,095 100.0% 3.03% 325 25-Jan-52
December 31, 2020
Fixed Rate RMBS $ 3,560,746 95.5% 3.09% 339 1-Jan-51
Fixed Rate CMOs 137,453 3.7% 4.00% 312 15-Dec-42
Total Mortgage-backed Pass-through 3,698,199 99.2% 3.13% 338 1-Jan-51
Interest-Only Securities 28,696 0.8% 3.98% 268 25-May-50
Total Structured RMBS 28,696 0.8% 3.98% 268 25-May-50
Total Mortgage Assets $ 3,726,895 100.0% 3.19% 333 1-Jan-51

($ in thousands)
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Percentage of Percentage of
Agency Fair Value Entire Portfolio Fair Value Entire Portfolio
Fannie Mae $ 4,719,349 72.5% $ 2,733,960 73.4%
Freddie Mac 1,791,746 27.5% 992,935 26.6%
Total Portfolio $ 6,511,095 100.0% $ 3,726,895 100.0%

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Weighted Average Pass-through Purchase Price $ 107.19 $ 107.43
Weighted Average Structured Purchase Price $ 15.21 $ 20.06
Weighted Average Pass-through Current Price $ 105.31 $ 108.94
Weighted Average Structured Current Price $ 14.08 $ 10.87
Effective Duration(1) 3.390 2.360

(1) Effective duration is the approximate percentage change in price for a 100 bps change in rates. An effective duration of 3.390 indicates that
aninterest rate increase of 1.0% would be expected to cause a 3.390% decrease in the value of the RMBS in the Company’s investment
portfolioat December 31, 2021. An effective duration of 2.360 indicates that an interest rate increase of 1.0% would be expected to cause a 2.360%
decrease in the value of the RMBS in the Company’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2020. These figures include the structured
securitiesin the portfolio, but do not include the effect of the Company’s funding cost hedges. Effective duration quotes for individual investments
areobtained from The Yield Book, Inc.
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The following table presents a summary of portfolio assets acquired during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

($ in thousands)
2021 2020

Total Cost
Average

Price

Weighted
Average

Yield Total Cost
Average

Price

Weighted
Average

Yield
Pass-through RMBS $ 6,224,819 $ 106.68 1.63% $ 4,858,602 $ 107.71 1.38%
Structured RMBS 205,906 13.61 3.88% 832 12.96 2.80%

Borrowings

As of December 31, 2021, we had established borrowing facilities in the repurchase agreement market with a number of
commercialbanks and other financial institutions and had borrowings in place with 23 of these counterparties. None of these lenders are affiliated

 withthe Company. These borrowings are secured by the Company’s RMBS and cash, and bear interest at prevailing market rates. We
believeour established repurchase agreement borrowing facilities provide borrowing capacity in excess of our needs.

As of December 31, 2021, we had obligations outstanding under the repurchase agreements of approximately $6,244.1 million
with anet weighted average borrowing cost of 0.15%. The remaining maturity of our outstanding repurchase agreement obligations ranged

from5 to 257 days, with a weighted average remaining maturity of 27 days. Securing the repurchase agreement obligations as of
December31, 2021 are RMBS with an estimated fair value, including accrued interest, of approximately $6,525.2 million and a weighted 
averagematurity of 345 months, and cash pledged to counterparties of approximately $57.3 million. Through February 25, 2022, we have
beenable to maintain our repurchase facilities with comparable terms to those that existed at December 31, 2021 with maturities extending
 tovarious dates through September 14, 2022.

The table below presents information about our period end, maximum and average balances of borrowings for each quarter in
2021 and 2020.

($ in thousands)
Difference Between Ending

Ending Maximum Average Borrowings and
Balance of Balance of Balance of Average Borrowings

Three Months Ended Borrowings Borrowings Borrowings Amount Percent
December 31, 2021 $ 6,244,106 $ 6,419,689 $ 5,728,988 $ 515,118 8.99%
September 30, 2021 5,213,869 5,214,254 4,864,287 349,582 7.19%
June 30, 2021 4,514,704 4,517,953 4,348,192 166,512 3.83%
March 31, 2021 4,181,680 4,204,935 3,888,633 293,047 7.54%
December 31, 2020 3,595,586 3,597,313 3,438,444 157,142 4.57%
September 30, 2020 3,281,303 3,286,454 3,228,021 53,282 1.65%
June 30, 2020 3,174,739 3,235,370 2,992,494 182,245 6.09%
March 31, 2020 2,810,250 4,297,621 3,129,178 (318,928) (10.19)%(1)

(1) The lower ending balance relative to the average balance during the quarter ended March 31, 2020 reflects the sale of RMBS pledged as
collateral in order to maintain cash and liquidity in response to the dislocations in the financial and mortgage markets resulting from the
economic impacts of COVID-19. During the quarter ended March 31, 2020, the Company’s investment in RMBS decreased $642.1
million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is our ability to turn non-cash assets into cash, purchase additional investments, repay principal and interest on
borrowings,fund overhead, fulfill margin calls and pay dividends. We have both internal and external sources of liquidity. However, our material

unused sources of liquidity include cash balances, unencumbered assets and our ability to sell encumbered assets to raise cash. At the
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onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in the spring of 2020, the markets the Company operates in were severely disrupted and the
Companywas forced to rely on these sources of liquidity. Our balance sheet also generates liquidity on an on-going basis through payments of
principal and interest we receive on our RMBS portfolio. Management believes that we currently have sufficient liquidity and capital
resources available for (a) the acquisition of additional investments consistent with the size and nature of our existing RMBS
portfolio, (b)the repayments on borrowings and (c) the payment of dividends to the extent required for our continued qualification as a REIT. We
mayalso generate liquidity from time to time by selling our equity or debt securities in public offerings or private placements.

Internal Sources of Liquidity

Our internal sources of liquidity include our cash balances, unencumbered assets and our ability to liquidate our encumbered 
securityholdings. Our balance sheet also generates liquidity on an on-going basis through payments of principal and interest we receive on

ourRMBS portfolio. Because our PT RMBS portfolio consists entirely of government and agency securities, we do not anticipate having
difficulty converting our assets to cash should our liquidity needs ever exceed our immediately available sources of cash. Our
structuredRMBS portfolio also consists entirely of governmental agency securities, although they typically do not trade with comparable bid /
askspreads as PT RMBS. However, we anticipate that we would be able to liquidate such securities readily, even in distressed markets,
although we would likely do so at prices below where such securities could be sold in a more stable market. To enhance our liquidity 
evenfurther, we may pledge a portion of our structured RMBS as part of a repurchase agreement funding, but retain the cash in lieu of
acquiringadditional assets. In this way we can, at a modest cost, retain higher levels of cash on hand and decrease the likelihood we will have
tosell assets in a distressed market in order to raise cash.

Our strategy for hedging our funding costs typically involves taking short positions in interest rate futures, treasury futures, 
interest rateswaps, interest rate swaptions or other instruments. When the market causes these short positions to decline in value we are required 

tomeet margin calls with cash. This can reduce our liquidity position to the extent other securities in our portfolio move in price in such
a waythat we do not receive enough cash via margin calls to offset the derivative related margin calls. If this were to occur in sufficient
magnitude, the loss of liquidity might force us to reduce the size of the levered portfolio, pledge additional structured securities to
raisefunds or risk operating the portfolio with less liquidity.

External Sources of Liquidity

Our primary external sources of liquidity are our ability to (i) borrow under master repurchase agreements, (ii) use the TBA 
securitymarket and (iii) sell our equity or debt securities in public offerings or private placements. Our borrowing capacity will vary over 

time as themarket value of our interest earning assets varies. Our master repurchase agreements have no stated expiration, but can be terminated
 atany time at our option or at the option of the counterparty. However, once a definitive repurchase agreement under a master 
repurchaseagreement has been entered into, it generally may not be terminated by either party. A negotiated termination can occur, but may
involvea fee to be paid by the party seeking to terminate the repurchase agreement transaction.

Under our repurchase agreement funding arrangements, we are required to post margin at the initiation of the borrowing. The
marginposted represents the haircut, which is a percentage of the market value of the collateral pledged. To the extent the market value of

theasset collateralizing the financing transaction declines, the market value of our posted margin will be insufficient and we will be
required topost additional collateral. Conversely, if the market value of the asset pledged increases in value, we would be over collateralized and
wewould be entitled to have excess margin returned to us by the counterparty. Our lenders typically value our pledged securities daily
toensure the adequacy of our margin and make margin calls as needed, as do we. Typically, but not always, the parties agree to a
minimumthreshold amount for margin calls so as to avoid the need for nuisance margin calls on a daily basis.Our master repurchase agreements
do not specify the haircut; rather haircuts are determined on an individual repurchase transaction basis. Throughout the year ended
December 31, 2021, haircuts on our pledged collateral remained stable and as of December 31, 2021, our weighted average haircut 
wasapproximately 4.9% of the value of our collateral.

TBAs represent a form of off-balance sheet financing and are accounted for as derivative instruments. (See Note 4 to our 
Financial
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Statements in this Form 10-K for additional details on of our TBAs). Under certain market conditions, it may be uneconomical for us
to rollour TBAs into future months and we may need to take or make physical delivery of the underlying securities. If we were required to
takephysical delivery to settle a long TBA, we would have to fund our total purchase commitment with cash or other financing sources
and ourliquidity position could be negatively impacted. 

Our TBAs are also subject to margin requirements governed by the Mortgage-Backed Securities Division ("MBSD") of the
FICC andby our master securities forward transaction agreements, which may establish margin levels in excess of the MBSD. Such provisions

require that we establish an initial margin based on the notional value of the TBA, which is subject to increase if the estimated fair
value ofour TBAs or the estimated fair value of our pledged collateral declines. The MBSD has the sole discretion to determine the value of
ourTBAs and of the pledged collateral securing such contracts. In the event of a margin call, we must generally provide additional 
collateral onthe same business day.

Settlement of our TBA obligations by taking delivery of the underlying securities as well as satisfying margin requirements could
negatively impact our liquidity position. However, since we do not use TBA dollar roll transactions as our primary source of 
financing, webelieve that we will have adequate sources of liquidity to meet such obligations.

As discussed earlier, we invest a portion of our capital in structured Agency RMBS. We generally do not apply leverage to this
portionof our portfolio. The leverage inherent in structured securities replaces the leverage obtained by acquiring PT securities and funding 

themin the repurchase market. This structured RMBS strategy has been a core element of the Company’s overall investment strategy since
inception. However, we have and may continue to pledge a portion of our structured RMBS in order to raise our cash levels, but
generallywill not pledge these securities in order to acquire additional assets.

In future periods, we expect to continue to finance our activities in a manner that is consistent with our current operations through
repurchase agreements. As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $385.1 million. We generated cash flows of
$716.5 million from principal and interest payments on our RMBS and had average repurchase agreements outstanding of $4,707.5 
millionduring the year ended December 31, 2021.

As described more fully below, we may also access liquidity by selling our equity or debt securities in public offerings or
privateplacements.

Stockholders’ Equity

On August 2, 2017, we entered into the August 2017 Equity Distribution Agreement with two sales agents pursuant to which
wecould offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $125,000,000 of shares of our common stock in transactions

thatwere deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a total of 15,123,178 shares under
theAugust 2017 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of $125.0 million, and net proceeds of approximately
$123.1million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in July 2019.

On July 30, 2019, we entered into the 2019 Underwriting Agreement with Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Citigroup Global
Markets Inc.and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representatives of the underwriters named therein, relating to the offer and sale of 7,000,000

shares of the Company’s common stock at a price to the public of $6.55 per share. The underwriters purchased the shares pursuant
tothe 2019 Underwriting Agreement at a price of $6.3535 per share. The closing of the offering of 7,000,000 shares of common
stockoccurred on August 2, 2019, with net proceeds to us of approximately $44.2 million after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other estimated offering expenses.

On January 23, 2020, we entered into the January 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement with three sales agents pursuant to
whichwe could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $200,000,000 of shares of our common stock in

transactionsthat were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a total of 3,170,727 shares
under
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the January 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of $19.8 million, and net proceeds of approximately
$19.4 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in August 2020.

On August 4, 2020, we entered into the August 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement with four sales agents pursuant to which
wecould offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $150,000,000 of shares of our common stock in transactions

thatwere deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a total of 27,493,650 shares under
theAugust 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $150.0 million, and net proceeds of
approximately $147.4 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in June 2021.

On January 20, 2021, we entered into the January 2021 Underwriting Agreement with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“J.P. 
Morgan”),relating to the offer and sale of 7,600,000 shares of our common stock. J.P. Morgan purchased the shares of our common stock

fromthe Company pursuant to the January 2021 Underwriting Agreement at $5.20 per share. In addition, we granted J.P. Morgan a 30-
dayoption to purchase up to an additional 1,140,000 shares of our common stock on the same terms and conditions, which J.P.
Morganexercised in full on January 21, 2021. The closing of the offering of 8,740,000 shares of our common stock occurred on January
25,2021, with proceeds to us of approximately $45.2 million, net of offering expenses.

On March 2, 2021, we entered into the March 2021 Underwriting Agreement with J.P. Morgan, relating to the offer and sale
of8,000,000 shares of our common stock. J.P. Morgan purchased the shares of our common stock from the Company pursuant to the

March 2021 Underwriting Agreement at $5.45 per share. In addition, we granted J.P. Morgan a 30-day option to purchase up to an
additional 1,200,000 shares of our common stock on the same terms and conditions, which J.P. Morgan exercised in full on March
3,2021. The closing of the offering of 9,200,000 shares of our common stock occurred on March 5, 2021, with proceeds to us of
approximately $50.0 million, net of offering expenses.

On June 22, 2021, we entered into the June 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement with four sales agents pursuant to which we
couldoffer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $250,000,000 of shares of our common stock in transactions that

weredeemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. We issued a total of 49,407,336 shares under the
June2021 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $250.0 million, and net proceeds of
approximately$246.2 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its termination in October 2021. 

On October 29, 2021, we entered into the October 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement with four sales agents pursuant to
whichwe may offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $250,000,000 of shares of our common stock in

transactionsthat are deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately negotiated transactions. Through December 31, 2021, we issued a
total of15,835,700 shares under the October 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $78.3
million,and net proceeds of approximately $77.0 million, after commissions and fees.

Outlook

Economic Summary

COVID-19 continued to impact the United States and the rest of the world during the fourth quarter of 2021 and into the first
quarter of 2022. The most recent variant, Omicron, spreads much more readily than past variants, but also tends to be much less
severe. Instances of new cases spiked rapidly, starting in December of 2021 and peaked, in the U.S., the week ended January 16,
2022 at 5.58 million. Since then cases have declined fairly rapidly, as have hospitalizations, which have also tended to involve
muchshorter stays in the hospital, especially in comparison to the Delta variant. Despite the Omicron wave, the economy added
467,000jobs in January 2022 and retail sales also rose well above estimates at 3.8%, causing the markets and the Fed to meaningfully
reviseexpectations for the path of monetary policy in 2022 and beyond.
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The rationale for the shift in expectations for monetary policy was found in the economic data that was released during the
fourthquarter of 2021. There were several economic indicators that reached milestone levels and made it clear the economy had more

thanrecovered from the pandemic. The Fed focuses on two areas of economic performance – inflation and the labor market – tied to
theirdual mandates of stable prices and maximum employment. With respect to inflation, the year-over-year consumer price index
readingincreased from the 4% increase reported in September of 2021 to 5.43% in December of 2021. Core personal consumption
expenditures – the Fed’s preferred inflation measure – increased from 3.7% year-over-year to 4.85% between September and
December of 2021. In the latter case, this was the highest reading since the early 1980s. The producer price index was also
increasingrapidly – approaching 7% year over year in December of 2021. This led the Fed to formally declare that their assessment of
inflationas “transitory” was no longer the case.

Labor market indicators also reached new milestones. Initial claims for unemployment insurance breached the 200,000 level
during the fourth quarter of 2021– the first time this happened since the late 1960s. Continuing claims for unemployment
insurancereached levels even lower than the lows reached prior to the pandemic, and the unemployment rate reached 3.9% in December,
still0.4% above the lowest level reached prior to the pandemic but below the Fed’s long-term target level and their proxy for full
employment. The final piece of information was gross domestic product growth of 6.9% for the fourth quarter, released in
January of2022. The Fed’s outlook for monetary policy pivoted materially beginning in November of 2021.

The economic data has strengthened further in early 2022. In particular, measures of inflation have accelerated from the trend
oflate 2021 and are very broad based, as prices for essentially every category of goods and services are accelerating. The

employmentdata has also been very strong, exhibiting little effect from the Omicron variant. The combination of accelerating inflation well
above theFed’s target level and a very tight labor market have led the market to anticipate the Fed will react aggressively soon. The Fed has
signaled they are about to start an accelerated removal of the extreme monetary accommodation necessitated by the pandemic. In
January of 2022 the FOMC announced they would end their asset purchases in March of 2022 and were likely to start decreasing
thereinvestment of their U.S. Treasury and RMBS assets as they matured or were repaid starting shortly after their first rate hike. The
firstrate hike is likely to be in March as well. Current pricing in the futures market indicates the Fed will increase the Fed Funds rate at
leastsix times by January of 2023 and by approximately 75 basis points more in 2023.

There is a potentially significant geo-political development in the outlook as well. Russia appears to be threatening to take
militaryaction in the Ukraine. They have moved over 100,000 troops and significant other military assets such as tanks, combat aircraft,

missile systems, naval forces and medical personnel into areas on the north, east and south of Ukraine. The situation has been
developing since late 2021 and diplomatic efforts to ease tensions in the area do not appear to be working. The United States and
several NATO allies have sent troops to the region and military supplies to Ukraine. There is also the possibility hostilities may
not belimited to direct military confrontation. This may have begun already as reports of cyber attacks throughout Ukraine and other
forms ofnon-military intervention have occurred. Should the situation deteriorate further and military action lead to a protracted war, there
wouldlikely be an economic impact on Europe and therefore indirectly in the U.S., potentially slowing economic activity at the margin
andpossibly lessening the need for the Fed to remove monetary policy as aggressively as expected otherwise.

Legislative Response and the Federal Reserve 

Congress passed the CARES Act (described below) quickly in response to the pandemic’s emergence during the spring of
2020. As provisions of the CARES Act expired and the effects of the pandemic continued to adversely impact the country, the federal

government passed an additional stimulus package in late December of 2020. Further, on March 11, 2021, President Biden signed
intolaw an additional $1.9 trillion coronavirus aid package as part of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021. This law provided for,
amongother things, direct payments to most Americans with a gross income of less than $75,000 a year, expansion of the child tax credit,
extension of expanded unemployment benefits through September 6, 2021, funding for procurement of vaccines and health
providers,loans to qualified businesses, funding for rental and mortgage assistance and funding for schools. The expanded federal
unemployment benefits expired on September 6, 2021. In addition, the Fed provided as much support to the markets and the
economyas it could within the constraints of its mandate. 
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During the third quarter of 2020, the Fed unveiled a new monetary policy framework focused on average inflation rate
targetingthat allows the Fed Funds rate to remain quite low, even if inflation is expected to temporarily surpass the 2% target level. Further,

theFed stated they would look past the presence of very tight labor markets, should they be present at the time. This marks a
significantshift from their prior policy framework, which was focused on the unemployment rate as a key indicator of impending inflation. 
Adherence to this policy could steepen the U.S. Treasury curve as short-term rates could remain low for a considerable period but
longer-term rates could rise given the Fed’s intention to let inflation potentially run above 2% in the future as the economy more
fullyrecovers. As mentioned above, this policy shift will not likely have an effect on current monetary policy as inflation is now
runningconsiderably higher than the Fed’s 2% target level and the Fed appears likely to move quickly to remove the extreme monetary
accommodation they provided as the pandemic emerged in the U.S. in the spring of 2020.

Interest Rates

At the beginning of 2021, interest rates were still close to the lowest levels ever observed in 2020. As the country and
economyemerged from the effects of the pandemic and the federal government and the Fed took unprecedented actions to buttress the

economy from the effects of the pandemic, interest rates increased over the course of the year. Increases in interest rates were not
uniform over the year as shorter maturity rates, typically more sensitive to anticipated increases in short term rates controlled by
theFed, increased more than longer term rates. As inflation accelerated in the fourth quarter of 2021, and even more so in early 2022,
thistrend intensified and currently the spread between certain intermediate rates – such as 5-year and 7-year maturities – trade at
yieldsonly marginally below longer-term rates such as 10-year U.S. Treasuries. This flattening of the rates curve is typical as the
economystrengthens and the market anticipates increases in short-term rates by the Fed. As economic and/or inflation data strengthen and
themarket anticipates progressively more increases in short-term rates, this flattening effect intensifies as well. Eventually the rates
curvecould actually invert, whereby the intermediate rates mentioned above actually yield more than longer-term rates. This would
occurwhen the market anticipates the increases to short-term rates by the Fed will actually slow the economy too much in the future and
apossible recession is on the horizon. Given the unprecedented nature of the monetary and fiscal stimulus needed to combat the
pandemic and the related supercharged effect on the economy, the current recovery and pending rate increase cycle will be
difficult tomanage by the Fed and we expect that such an outcome is more likely to occur than in past cycles.

The Agency RMBS Market

As was anticipated, the Fed announced a tapering of their U.S. Treasury and Agency RMBS asset purchases at their
November2021 meeting. As described above, the forthcoming data was likely to necessitate an accelerated pace of accommodation removal

and in December of 2021, and again in January of 2022, the Fed announced revised schedules for tapering. This means a material
source of demand for Agency RMBS is about to leave the market. Given Fed purchases are a source of reserves into the banking
system, this also means banks, which have also been a material source for Agency RMBS, may also be buying fewer securities.
However, the securities that were the focus of the Fed and bank buying, namely production coupon securities, performed 
relatively wellduring the fourth quarter of 2021.

Total returns for Agency RMBS for the fourth quarter and full year of 2021 were -0.4% and -1.2%, respectively. Agency
RMBSreturns generally trailed other major domestic fixed income categories. High yield debt returned 0.7% and 5.4% for the fourth

quarterand full year of 2021, respectively. Investment grade returns for the same two periods were 0.2% and -1.0%. Legacy non-Agency
RMBS returns were equal to or exceeded high yield returns. Relative to comparable duration U.S. Treasuries Agency RMBS
returnswere -1.0% and -1.6%, respectively for the same two periods. Again, these returns trailed the same other major domestic fixed-
incomecategories and by comparable amounts. Within the Agency RMBS 30-year coupons, production coupons – 2.0% and 2.5% -
outperformed higher, liquid securities – 3.0% and 3.5%, both on an absolute and relative to comparable duration U.S. Treasury
basisfor the fourth quarter of 2021. 

Recent Legislative and Regulatory Developments
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The Fed conducted large scale overnight repo operations from late 2019 until July 2020 to address disruptions in the U.S.
Treasury, Agency debt and Agency MBS financing markets. These operations ceased in July 2020 after the central bank
successfullytamed volatile funding costs that had threatened to cause disruption across the financial system. 

The Fed has taken a number of other actions to stabilize markets as a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. On
Sunday, March 15, 2020, the Fed announced a $700 billion asset purchase program to provide liquidity to the U.S. Treasury and
Agency MBS markets. Specifically, the Fed announced that it would purchase at least $500 billion of U.S. Treasuries and at least
$200billion of Agency MBS. The Fed also lowered the Fed Funds rate to a range of 0.0% – 0.25%, after having already lowered the
FedFunds rate by 50 bps on March 3, 2020. On June 30, 2020, Fed Chairman Powell announced expectations to maintain interest
rates atthis level until the Fed is confident that the economy has weathered recent events and is on track to achieve maximum
employmentand price stability goals. The Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”) continued to reaffirm this commitment at all
subsequentmeetings through December of 2021, as well as an intention to allow inflation to climb modestly above their 2% target and
maintain thatlevel for a period sufficient for inflation to average 2% long term.On January 26, 2022, the FOMC reiterated its goals of maximum
employment and a 2% long-run inflation rate and stated that, with a strong labor market and inflation well above 2%, it expected
itwould soon be appropriate to raise the target federal funds rate.

In response to the deterioration in the markets for U.S. Treasuries, Agency MBS and other mortgage and fixed income
markets asinvestors liquidated investments in response to the economic crisis resulting from the actions to contain and minimize the impacts

ofthe COVID-19 pandemic, on the morning of Monday, March 23, 2020, the Fed announced a program to acquire U.S. Treasuries
andAgency MBS in the amounts needed to support smooth market functioning. With these purchases, market conditions improved
substantially, and in early April, the Fed began to gradually reduce the pace of these purchases. Through November of 2021, the
Fedwas committed to purchasing $80 billion of U.S. Treasuries and $40 billion of Agency MBS each month. In November of 2021, it
begantapering its net asset purchases each month, reducing them to $70 billion, $60 billion and $40 billion of U.S. Treasuries and $35
billion,$30 billion and $20 billion of Agency MBS in November of 2021, December of 2021 and January of 2022, respectively. On
January 26,2022, the FOMC announced that it would continue to increase its holdings of U.S. Treasuries by $20 billion per month and its
holdingsof Agency RMBS by $10 billion per month for February of 2022 and would end its net asset purchases entirely by early March of
2022. 

The CARES Act was passed by Congress and signed into law by President Trump on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act
providedmany forms of direct support to individuals and small businesses in order to stem the steep decline in economic activity. This

over $2trillion COVID-19 relief bill, among other things, provided for direct payments to each American making up to $75,000 a year,
increasedunemployment benefits for up to four months (on top of state benefits), funding to hospitals and health providers, loans and
investments to businesses, states and municipalities and grants to the airline industry. On April 24, 2020, President Trump signed
anadditional funding bill into law that provides an additional $484 billion of funding to individuals, small businesses, hospitals,
health careproviders and additional coronavirus testing efforts. Various provisions of the CARES Act began to expire in July 2020, including
amoratorium on evictions (July 25, 2020), expanded unemployment benefits (July 31, 2020), and a moratorium on foreclosures
(August31, 2020). On August 8, 2020, President Trump issued Executive Order 13945, directing the Department of Health and Human
Services, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”), the Department of Housing and Urban Development, and
Department of the Treasury to take measures to temporarily halt residential evictions and foreclosures, including through
temporaryfinancial assistance. 

On December 27, 2020, President Trump signed into law an additional $900 billion coronavirus aid package as part of the
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, providing for extensions of many of the CARES Act policies and programs as well as
additionalrelief. The package provided for, among other things, direct payments to most Americans with a gross income of less than
$75,000 ayear, extension of unemployment benefits through March 14, 2021, funding for procurement of vaccines and health providers,
loans toqualified businesses, funding for rental assistance and funding for schools. On January 29, 2021, the CDC issued guidance
extendingeviction moratoriums for covered persons through March 31, 2021. The FHFA subsequently extended the foreclosure moratorium
begun under the CARES Act for loans backed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the eviction moratorium for real estate owned
by
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Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac until July 31, 2021 and September 30, 2021, respectively. The U.S. Housing and Urban
DevelopmentDepartment subsequently extended the FHA foreclosure and eviction moratoria to July 31, 2021 and September 30, 2021,
respectively. Despite the expirations of these foreclosure moratoria, a final rule adopted by the CFPB on June 28, 2021 effectively prohibited
servicers from initiating a foreclosure before January 1, 2022 in most instances.

On March 11, 2021, President Biden signed into law an additional $1.9 trillion coronavirus aid package as part of the 
AmericanRescue Plan Act of 2021. This law provided for, among other things, direct payments to most Americans with a gross income of

lessthan $75,000 a year, expansion of the child tax credit, extension of expanded unemployment benefits through September 6, 2021,
funding for procurement of vaccines and health providers, loans to qualified businesses, funding for rental and mortgage
assistanceand funding for schools. The expanded federal unemployment benefits expired on September 6, 2021.

In January 2019, the Trump administration made statements of its plans to work with Congress to overhaul Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac and expectations to announce a framework for the development of a policy for comprehensive housing finance
reformsoon. On September 30, 2019, the FHFA announced that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were allowed to increase their capital
buffersto $25 billion and $20 billion, respectively, from the prior limit of $3 billion each. This step could ultimately lead to Fannie Mae
andFreddie Mac being privatized and represents the first concrete step on the road to GSE reform. On June 30, 2020, the FHFA
releaseda proposed rule on a new regulatory framework for the GSEs which seeks to implement both a risk-based capital framework and
minimum leverage capital requirements. The final rule on the new capital framework for the GSEs was published in the federal
registerin December 2020. On January 14, 2021, the U.S. Treasury and the FHFA executed letter agreements allowing the GSEs to
continueto retain capital up to their regulatory minimums, including buffers, as prescribed in the December rule. These letter agreements
provide, in part, (i) there will be no exit from conservatorship until all material litigation is settled and the GSE has common
equity Tier 1capital of at least 3% of its assets, (ii) the GSEs will comply with the FHFA’s regulatory capital framework, (iii) higher-risk
single-familymortgage acquisitions will be restricted to current levels, and (iv) the U.S. Treasury and the FHFA will establish a timeline and
processfor future GSE reform. However, no definitive proposals or legislation have been released or enacted with respect to ending the
conservatorship, unwinding the GSEs, or materially reducing the roles of the GSEs in the U.S. mortgage market.On September 14,
2021, the U.S. Treasury and the FHFA suspended certain policy provisions in the January agreement, including limits on loans
acquired for cash consideration, multifamily loans, loans with higher risk characteristics and second homes and investment
properties. On September 15, 2021, the FHFA announced a notice of proposed rulemaking for the purpose of amending the December rule to,
among other things, reduce the Tier 1 capital and risk-weight floor requirements.

In 2017, policymakers announced that LIBOR will be replaced by December 31, 2021. The directive was spurred by the fact
thatbanks are uncomfortable contributing to the LIBOR panel given the shortage of underlying transactions on which to base levels

and theliability associated with submitting an unfounded level. However, the ICE Benchmark Administration, in its capacity as
administrator ofUSD LIBOR, has announced that it intends to extend publication of USD LIBOR (other than one-week and two-month tenors) by
18months to June 2023. Notwithstanding this possible extension, a joint statement by key regulatory authorities calls on banks to
ceaseentering into new contracts that use USD LIBOR as a reference rate by no later than December 31, 2021. The ARRC, a steering
committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions, has proposed replacing USD-LIBOR with a new SOFR, a rate based on
U.S.repo trading. Many banks believe that it may take four to five years to complete the transition to SOFR, despite the December 31,
2021deadline. We will monitor the emergence of SOFR carefully as it appears likely to become the new benchmark for hedges and a
rangeof interest rate investments. At this time, however, no consensus exists as to what rate or rates may become accepted alternatives 
toLIBOR.

On December 7, 2021, the CFPB released a final rule that amends Regulation Z, which implemented the Truth in Lending
Act,aimed at addressing cessation of LIBOR for both closed-end (e.g., home mortgage) and open-end (e.g., home equity line of credit)

products. The rule, which mostly becomes effective in April of 2022, establishes requirements for the selection of replacement
indicesfor existing LIBOR-linked consumer loans. Although the rule does not mandate the use of SOFR as the alternative rate, it
identifiesSOFR as a comparable rate for closed-end products and states that for open-end products, the CFPB has determined that ARRC’s
recommended spread-adjusted indices based on SOFR for consumer products to replace the one-month, three-month, or six-month
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USD LIBOR index “have historical fluctuations that are substantially similar to those of the LIBOR indices that they are intended
toreplace.” The CFPB reserved judgment, however, on a SOFR-based spread-adjusted replacement index to replace the one-year
USDLIBOR until it obtained additional information. 

On December 8, 2021, the House of Representatives passed the Adjustable Interest Rate (LIBOR) Act of 2021 (H.R. 4616)
(the“LIBOR Act”), which provides for a statutory replacement benchmark rate for contracts that use LIBOR as a benchmark and do

notcontain any fallback mechanism independent of LIBOR. Pursuant to the LIBOR Act, SOFR becomes the new benchmark rate by
operation of law for any such contract. The LIBOR Act establishes a safe harbor from litigation for claims arising out of or related
to theuse of SOFR as the recommended benchmark replacement. The LIBOR Act makes clear that it should not be construed to
disfavor theuse of any benchmark on a prospective basis.

The LIBOR Act also attempts to forestall challenges that it is impairing contracts. It provides that the discontinuance of
LIBOR andthe automatic statutory transition to a replacement rate neither impairs or affects the rights of a party to receive payment under

suchcontracts, nor allows a party to discharge their performance obligations or to declare a breach of contract. It amends the Trust
Indenture Act of 1939 to state that the “the right of any holder of any indenture security to receive payment of the principal of and
interest on such indenture security shall not be deemed to be impaired or affected” by application of the LIBOR Act to any
indenturesecurity. On December 9, 2021, the United States Senate referred the LIBOR Act to the Committee on Banking, Housing and
UrbanAffairs.

One-week and two-month U.S. dollar LIBOR rates phased out on December 31, 2021, but other U.S. dollar tenors may
continueuntil June 30, 2023. We will monitor the emergence of SOFR carefully as it appears likely to become the new benchmark for

hedgesand a range of interest rate investments. At this time, however, no consensus exists as to what rate or rates may become accepted
alternatives to LIBOR.

Effective January 1, 2021, Fannie Mae, in alignment with Freddie Mac, extended the timeframe for its delinquent loan buyout
policy for Single-Family Uniform Mortgage-Backed Securities (UMBS) and Mortgage-Backed Securities (MBS) from four
consecutivelymissed monthly payments to twenty-four consecutively missed monthly payments (i.e., 24 months past due). This new timeframe
applied to outstanding single-family pools and newly issued single-family pools and was first reflected when January 2021 factors
werereleased on the fourth business day in February 2021. 

For Agency RMBS investors, when a delinquent loan is bought out of a pool of mortgage loans, the removal of the loan from
thepool is the same as a total prepayment of the loan. The respective GSEs anticipated, however, that delinquent loans will be

repurchased in most cases before the 24-month deadline under one of the following exceptions listed below.

• a loan that is paid in full, or where the related lien is released and/or the note debt is satisfied or forgiven;
• a loan repurchased by a seller/servicer under applicable selling and servicing requirements;
• a loan entering a permanent modification, which generally requires it to be removed from the MBS. During any
modificationtrial period, the loan will remain in the MBS until the trial period ends;
• a loan subject to a short sale or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure; or
• a loan referred to foreclosure.

Because of these exceptions, the GSEs believe based on prevailing assumptions and market conditions this change will have
onlya marginal impact on prepayment speeds, in aggregate. Cohort level impacts may vary. For example, more than half of loans

referredto foreclosure are historically referred within six months of delinquency. The degree to which speeds are affected depends on
delinquency levels, borrower response, and referral to foreclosure timelines.

The scope and nature of the actions the U.S. government or the Fed will ultimately undertake are unknown and will continue
toevolve.
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Effect on Us

Regulatory developments, movements in interest rates and prepayment rates affect us in many ways, including the following:

Effects on our Assets

A change in or elimination of the guarantee structure of Agency RMBS may increase our costs (if, for example, guarantee
feesincrease) or require us to change our investment strategy altogether. For example, the elimination of the guarantee structure of

AgencyRMBS may cause us to change our investment strategy to focus on non-Agency RMBS, which in turn would require us to
significantlyincrease our monitoring of the credit risks of our investments in addition to interest rate and prepayment risks.

Lower long-term interest rates can affect the value of our Agency RMBS in a number of ways. If prepayment rates are
relativelylow (due, in part, to the refinancing problems described above), lower long-term interest rates can increase the value of higher-

couponAgency RMBS. This is because investors typically place a premium on assets with yields that are higher than market yields.
Althoughlower long-term interest rates may increase asset values in our portfolio, we may not be able to invest new funds in similarly-
yieldingassets.

If prepayment levels increase, the value of our Agency RMBS affected by such prepayments may decline. This is because a
principal prepayment accelerates the effective term of an Agency RMBS, which would shorten the period during which an
investorwould receive above-market returns (assuming the yield on the prepaid asset is higher than market yields). Also, prepayment
proceedsmay not be able to be reinvested in similar-yielding assets. Agency RMBS backed by mortgages with high interest rates are more
susceptible to prepayment risk because holders of those mortgages are most likely to refinance to a lower rate. IOs and IIOs,
however,may be the types of Agency RMBS most sensitive to increased prepayment rates. Because the holder of an IO or IIO receives no
principal payments, the values of IOs and IIOs are entirely dependent on the existence of a principal balance on the underlying
mortgages. If the principal balance is eliminated due to prepayment, IOs and IIOs essentially become worthless. Although
increasedprepayment rates can negatively affect the value of our IOs and IIOs, they have the opposite effect on POs. Because POs act like
zero-coupon bonds, meaning they are purchased at a discount to their par value and have an effective interest rate based on the discount
and the term of the underlying loan, an increase in prepayment rates would reduce the effective term of our POs and accelerate the
yields earned on those assets, which would increase our net income.

Higher long-term rates can also affect the value of our Agency RMBS. As long-term rates rise, rates available to borrowers
alsorise. This tends to cause prepayment activity to slow and extend the expected average life of mortgage cash flows. As the

expectedaverage life of the mortgage cash flows increases, coupled with higher discount rates, the value of Agency RMBS declines. Some
ofthe instruments the Company uses to hedge our Agency RMBS assets, such as interest rate futures, swaps and swaptions, are
stableaverage life instruments. This means that to the extent we use such instruments to hedge our Agency RMBS assets, our hedges
maynot adequately protect us from price declines, and therefore may negatively impact our book value. It is for this reason we use
interestonly securities in our portfolio. As interest rates rise, the expected average life of these securities increases, causing generally
positiveprice movements as the number and size of the cash flows increase the longer the underlying mortgages remain outstanding. This
makes interest only securities desirable hedge instruments for pass-through Agency RMBS. 

As described above, the Agency RMBS market began to experience severe dislocations in mid-March 2020 as a result of the
economic, health and market turmoil brought about by COVID-19. On March 23, 2020, the Fed announced that it would purchase
Agency RMBS and U.S. Treasuries in the amounts needed to support smooth market functioning, which largely stabilized the
AgencyRMBS market, but announced a tapering of these purchases in November 2021. The Fed’s reduction of these purchases could
negatively impact our investment portfolio. Further, the moratoriums on foreclosures and evictions described above will likely
delaypotential defaults on loans that would otherwise be bought out of Agency MBS pools as described above. Depending on the
ultimateresolution of the foreclosure or evictions, when and if it occurs, these loans may be removed from the pool into which they were
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securitized. If this were to occur, it would have the effect of delaying a prepayment on the Company’s securities until such time.
As themajority of the Company’s Agency RMBS assets were acquired at a premium to par, this will tend to increase the realized yield
on theasset in question.

Because we base our investment decisions on risk management principles rather than anticipated movements in interest rates,
ina volatile interest rate environment we may allocate more capital to structured Agency RMBS with shorter durations. We believe

thesesecurities have a lower sensitivity to changes in long-term interest rates than other asset classes. We may attempt to mitigate our
exposure to changes in long-term interest rates by investing in IOs and IIOs, which typically have different sensitivities to changes
inlong-term interest rates than PT RMBS, particularly PT RMBS backed by fixed-rate mortgages.

Effects on our borrowing costs

We leverage our PT RMBS portfolio and a portion of our structured Agency RMBS with principal balances through the use of
short-term repurchase agreement transactions. The interest rates on our debt are determined by the short term interest rate markets. An

increase in the Fed Funds rate or LIBOR would increase our borrowing costs, which could affect our interest rate spread if there is
nocorresponding increase in the interest we earn on our assets. This would be most prevalent with respect to our Agency RMBS
backedby fixed rate mortgage loans because the interest rate on a fixed-rate mortgage loan does not change even though market rates
maychange.

In order to protect our net interest margin against increases in short-term interest rates, we may enter into interest rate swaps,
which economically convert our floating-rate repurchase agreement debt to fixed-rate debt, or utilize other hedging instruments
such asEurodollar, Fed Funds and T-Note futures contracts or interest rate swaptions.
Summary

The country and economy currently appear to be on the verge of recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic. While the virus
continues to infect people and often results in hospitalizations and deaths, the effect on economic activity has decreased
materially. Coupled with unprecedented monetary and fiscal policy, the most significant combination of the two since the Second World War,
thefading effect of the pandemic is clearly causing the economy to run at unsustainable levels, resulting in very tight labor markets
and thehighest levels of inflation in decades. The Fed has begun the rapid transformation from accommodation to constraint and will
likelybegin raising short-term rates at their meeting in March of 2022. Currently the market anticipates the Fed will continue to raise
ratesthroughout the year and into 2023, possibly by as much as 200 basis points. Further, they are rapidly winding down their asset
purchases and will likely stop asset purchases altogether – possibly by the end of the year – as they begin the process of
“normalizing”the size of their balance sheet. Market experts estimate the Fed may have to shrink the size of their balance sheet by up to $4
trillion,and over a much shorter time frame than the last time they did so over the period from 2017 to 2019. The effect of these
developmentson the level of interest rates has been a material flattening of the U.S. Treasury curve, whereby short and intermediate term rates
riseand more so relative to longer maturity U.S. Treasuries. 

For the Company, this means our funding costs are likely to rise materially over the course of 2022 and possibly into 2023. 
Whilelonger-term maturities have not risen as much as short and intermediate term rates, they have risen and refinancing and purchase

activity in the residential housing market is likely to slow. If this occurs, it would slow premium amortization on the Company’s
AgencyRMBS securities. The net effect of higher funding costs and slower premium amortization will depend on the extent and timing of
both,but may reduce the Company’s net interest income, and perhaps meaningfully so, over this period. 

To the extent geo-political events unfold, such as the current crisis in Ukraine, the Fed may have to alter their monetary policy
decisions over the course of 2022 and beyond. However, given the level of inflation and strength of the economy at present, such
developments would likely have to be severe in order to meaningfully impact the path of monetary policy over the near-term.

Critical Accounting Estimates
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Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. GAAP requires our management to make some complex and
subjective decisions and assessments. Our most critical accounting policies involve decisions and assessments which could
significantly affect reported assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Management has identified its most critical accounting
estimates:

Mortgage-Backed Securities 

Our investments in Agency RMBS are accounted for at fair value. We acquire our Agency RMBS for the purpose of
generatinglong-term returns, and not for the short-term investment of idle capital. 

As discussed in Note 12 to the financial statements, our Agency RMBS are valued using Level 2 valuations, and such
valuationscurrently are determined by our manager based on independent pricing sources and/or third party broker quotes, when available.

Because the price estimates may vary, our Manager must make certain judgments and assumptions about the appropriate price to
useto calculate the fair values. Alternatively, our Manager could opt to have the value of all of our positions in Agency RMBS 
determinedby either an independent third-party or do so internally. 

In managing our portfolio, Bimini Advisors employs the following four-step process at each valuation date to determine the
fairvalue of our Agency RMBS: 

• First, our Manager obtains fair values from subscription-based independent pricing sources. These prices are used by
bothour Manager as well as many of our repurchase agreement counterparty on a daily basis to establish margin requirements for our

borrowings. 
• Second, our Manager requests non-binding quotes from one to four broker-dealers for certain Agency RMBS in order to

validate the values obtained by the pricing service. Our Manager requests these quotes from broker-dealers that actively trade and
make markets in the respective asset class for which the quote is requested.

• Third, our Manager reviews the values obtained by the pricing source and the broker-dealers for consistency across
similarassets.
• Finally, if the data from the pricing services and broker-dealers is not homogenous or if the data obtained is inconsistent
withour Manager’s market observations, our Manager makes a judgment to determine which price appears the most consistent with

observed prices from similar assets and selects that price. To the extent our Manager believes that none of the prices are consistent
with observed prices for similar assets, which is typically the case for only an immaterial portion of our portfolio each quarter, our
Manager may use a third price that is consistent with observed prices for identical or similar assets. In the case of assets that have
quoted prices such as Agency RMBS backed by fixed-rate mortgages, our Manager generally uses the quoted or observed market
price. For assets such as Agency RMBS backed by ARMs or structured Agency RMBS, our Manager may determine the price
basedon the yield or spread that is identical to an observed transaction or a similar asset for which a dealer mark or subscription-based
pricehas been obtained.

Management believes its pricing methodology to be consistent with the definition of fair value described in Financial
AccountingStandards Board (the “FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements. 

Derivative Financial Instruments
 
We use derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk, facilitate asset/liability strategies and manage other exposures, and
wemay continue to do so in the future. The principal instruments that we have used to date are Fed Funds, T-Note and Eurodollar

futurescontracts, interest rate swaps, interest rate swaptions and TBA securities, but we may enter into other derivatives in the future.
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We account for TBA securities as derivative instruments. Gains and losses associated with TBA securities transactions are
reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments in the accompanying statements of operations. 

We have elected not to treat any of our derivative financial instruments as hedges in order to align the accounting treatment of
itsderivative instruments with the treatment of our portfolio assets under the fair value option election. All derivative instruments are

carried at fair value, and changes in fair value are recorded in earnings for each period.Our futures contracts are Level 1 valuations, as
they are exchange-traded instruments and quoted market prices are readily available.Our interest rate swaps, interest rate swaptions
and TBA securities are Level 2 valuations. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow
approachusing forward market interest rates and discount rates, which are observable inputs. The fair value of interest rate swaptions is
determined using an option pricing model. The fair value of our TBA securities are determined by the Company based on
independentpricing sources and/or third party broker quotes, similar to how the fair value of our Agency RMBS is derived, as discussed
above.
Income Recognition 

Since we commenced operations, we have elected to account for all of our Agency RMBS under the fair value option. 

All of our Agency RMBS are either pass-through securities or structured Agency RMBS, including CMOs, IOs, IIOs or POs.
Incomeon pass-through securities, POs and CMOs that contain principal balances is based on the stated interest rate of the security. As a

result of accounting for our RMBS under the fair value option, premium or discount present at the date of purchase is not
amortized.For IOs, IIOs and CMOs that do not contain principal balances, income is accrued based on the carrying value and the effective
yield.The difference between income accrued and the interest received on the security is characterized as a return of investment and
servesto reduce the asset’s carrying value. At each reporting date, the effective yield is adjusted prospectively for future reporting
periodsbased on the new estimate of prepayments, current interest rates and current asset prices. The new effective yield is calculated
basedon the carrying value at the end of the previous reporting period, the new prepayment estimates and the contractual terms of the
security. Changes in fair value of all of our Agency RMBS during the period are recorded in earnings and reported as unrealized 
gains(losses) on mortgage-backed securities in the accompanying statements of operations. For IIO securities, effective yield and
incomerecognition calculations also take into account the index value applicable to the security.

Capital Expenditures

At December 31, 2021, we had no material commitments for capital expenditures.

Dividends

In addition to other requirements that must be satisfied to continue to qualify as a REIT, we must pay annual dividends to our
stockholders of at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deductions for dividends paid and
excludingany net capital gains. REIT taxable income (loss) is computed in accordance with the Code, and can be greater than or less than
ourfinancial statement net income (loss) computed in accordance with GAAP. These book to tax differences primarily relate to the
recognition of interest income on RMBS, unrealized gains and losses on RMBS, and the amortization of losses on derivative
instruments that are treated as funding hedges for tax purposes.

We intend to pay regular monthly dividends to our stockholders and have declared the following dividends since the
completion ofour IPO.

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year
Per Share
Amount Total

2013 $ 1.395 $ 4,662
2014 2.160 22,643
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2015 1.920 38,748
2016 1.680 41,388
2017 1.680 70,717
2018 1.070 55,814
2019 0.960 54,421
2020 0.790 53,570
2021 0.780 97,601
2022 YTD(1) 0.110 19,502
Totals $ 12.545 $ 459,066

(1) On January 13, 2022, the Company declared a dividend of $0.055 per share to be paid on February 24, 2022. On February 16, 2022, the
Company declared a dividend of $0.055 per share to be paid on March 29, 2022. The dollar amount of the dividend declared in February
2022is estimated based on the number of shares outstanding at February 25, 2022. The effects of these dividends are included in the table above
but are not reflected in the Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2021.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange
rates, commodity prices and equity prices. The primary market risks that we are exposed to are interest rate risk, prepayment risk,
spread risk, liquidity risk, extension risk and counterparty credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and
internationaleconomic and political considerations and other factors beyond our control.

Changes in the general level of interest rates can affect our net interest income, which is the difference between the interest
income earned on interest-earning assets and the interest expense incurred in connection with our interest-bearing liabilities, by
affecting the spread between our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Changes in the level of interest rates can
alsoaffect the rate of prepayments of our securities and the value of the RMBS that constitute our investment portfolio, which affects
our netincome, ability to realize gains from the sale of these assets and ability to borrow, and the amount that we can borrow against,
thesesecurities.

We may utilize a variety of financial instruments in order to limit the effects of changes in interest rates on our operations. The
principal instruments that we use are futures contracts, interest rate swaps and swaptions. These instruments are intended to serve
asan economic hedge against future interest rate increases on our repurchase agreement borrowings. Hedging techniques are partly
based on assumed levels of prepayments of our Agency RMBS. If prepayments are slower or faster than assumed, the life of the
Agency RMBS will be longer or shorter, which would reduce the effectiveness of any hedging strategies we may use and may
causelosses on such transactions. Hedging strategies involving the use of derivative securities are highly complex and may produce
volatilereturns. Hedging techniques are also limited by the rules relating to REIT qualification. In order to preserve our REIT status, we
maybe forced to terminate a hedging transaction at a time when the transaction is most needed.

Our profitability and the value of our investment portfolio (including derivatives used for hedging purposes) may be adversely
affected during any period as a result of changing interest rates, including changes in the forward yield curve. 

Our portfolio of PT RMBS is typically comprised of adjustable-rate RMBS (“ARMs”), fixed-rate RMBS and hybrid
adjustable-rateRMBS. We generally seek to acquire low duration assets that offer high levels of protection from mortgage prepayments provided

theyare reasonably priced by the market. Although the duration of an individual asset can change as a result of changes in interest
rates,we strive to maintain a hedged PT RMBS portfolio with an effective duration of less than 2.0. The stated contractual final
maturity of themortgage loans underlying our portfolio of PT RMBS generally ranges up to 30 years. However, the effect of prepayments of the
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underlying mortgage loans tends to shorten the resulting cash flows from our investments substantially. Prepayments occur for
variousreasons, including refinancing of underlying mortgages, loan payoffs in connection with home sales, and borrowers paying more
thantheir scheduled loan payments, which accelerates the amortization of the loans.

The duration of our IO and IIO portfolios will vary greatly depending on the structural features of the securities. While
prepaymentactivity will always affect the cash flows associated with the securities, the interest only nature of IOs may cause their durations to

become extremely negative when prepayments are high, and less negative when prepayments are low. Prepayments affect the
durations of IIOs similarly, but the floating rate nature of the coupon of IIOs (which is inversely related to the level of one month
LIBOR)causes their price movements, and model duration, to be affected by changes in both prepayments and one month LIBOR, both
current and anticipated levels. As a result, the duration of IIO securities will also vary greatly.

Prepayments on the loans underlying our RMBS can alter the timing of the cash flows from the underlying loans to us. As a
result,we gauge the interest rate sensitivity of our assets by measuring their effective duration. While modified duration measures the

pricesensitivity of a bond to movements in interest rates, effective duration captures both the movement in interest rates and the fact
thatcash flows to a mortgage related security are altered when interest rates move. Accordingly, when the contract interest rate on a
mortgage loan is substantially above prevailing interest rates in the market, the effective duration of securities collateralized by
suchloans can be quite low because of expected prepayments.

We face the risk that the market value of our PT RMBS assets will increase or decrease at different rates than that of our
structured RMBS or liabilities, including our hedging instruments. Accordingly, we assess our interest rate risk by estimating the
duration of our assets and the duration of our liabilities. We generally calculate duration using various third party models. 
However,empirical results and various third party models may produce different duration numbers for the same securities.

The following sensitivity analysis shows the estimated impact on the fair value of our interest rate-sensitive investments and
hedgepositions as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, assuming rates instantaneously fall 200 bps, fall 100 bps, fall 50 bps,

rise50 bps, rise 100 bps and rise 200 bps, adjusted to reflect the impact of convexity, which is the measure of the sensitivity of our
hedgepositions and Agency RMBS’ effective duration to movements in interest rates.We have a negatively convex asset profile and a linear
to slightly positively convex hedge portfolio (short positions). It is not at all uncommon for us to have losses in both directions.

All changes in value in the table below are measured as percentage changes from the investment portfolio value and net asset
value at the base interest rate scenario. The base interest rate scenario assumes interest rates and prepayment projections as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Actual results could differ materially fromestimates, especially in the current market environment. To the extent that these
estimates or other assumptions do not hold true, which is likely in a period of high price volatility, actual results will likely differ
materially from projections and could be larger or smaller than the estimates in the table below. Moreover, if different models
wereemployed in the analysis, materially different projections could result. Lastly, while the table below reflects the estimated impact
ofinterest rate increases and decreases on a static portfolio, we may from time to time sell any of our agency securities as a part of
ouroverall management of our investment portfolio.

Interest Rate Sensitivity(1)

Portfolio
Market Book

Change in Interest Rate Value(2)(3) Value(2)(4)

As of December 31, 2021
-200 Basis Points (2.01)% (17.00)%
-100 Basis Points (0.33)% (2.76)%
-50 Basis Points 0.19% 1.59%
+50 Basis Points (0.48)% (4.04)%



     
 
     

     

     

 

77

+100 Basis Points (1.64)% (13.91)%
+200 Basis Points (4.79)% (40.64)%
As of December 31, 2020
-200 Basis Points 2.43% 21.85%
-100 Basis Points 1.35% 12.08%
-50 Basis Points 0.69% 6.18%
+50 Basis Points (0.90)% (8.03)%
+100 Basis Points (2.39)% (21.42)%
+200 Basis Points (4.95)% (44.44)%

(1) Interest rate sensitivity is derived from models that are dependent on inputs and assumptions provided by third parties as well as by our
Manager, and assumes there are no changes in mortgage spreads and assumes a static portfolio. Actual results could differ materially from
these estimates. 

(2) Includes the effect of derivatives and other securities used for hedging purposes. 
(3) Estimated dollar change in investment portfolio value expressed as a percent of the total fair value of our investment portfolio as of such
date. (4) Estimated dollar change in portfolio value expressed as a percent of stockholders' equity as of such date. 

In addition to changes in interest rates, other factors impact the fair value of our interest rate-sensitive investments, such as the
shape of the yield curve, market expectations as to future interest rate changes and other market conditions. Accordingly, in the
eventof changes in actual interest rates, the change in the fair value of our assets would likely differ from that shown above and such
difference might be material and adverse to our stockholders.

 
Prepayment Risk

Because residential borrowers have the option to prepay their mortgage loans at par at any time, we face the risk that we will
experience a return of principal on our investments faster than anticipated. Various factors affect the rate at which mortgage
prepayments occur, including changes in the level of and directional trends in housing prices, interest rates, general economic
conditions, loan age and size, loan-to-value ratio, the location of the property and social and demographic conditions.
Additionally,changes to GSE underwriting practices or other governmental programs could also significantly impact prepayment rates or
expectations. Generally, prepayments on Agency RMBS increase during periods of falling mortgage interest rates and decrease 
duringperiods of rising mortgage interest rates. However, this may not always be the case. We may reinvest principal repayments at a
yieldthat is lower or higher than the yield on the repaid investment, thus affecting our net interest income by altering the average yield
onour assets. 

Spread Risk

When the market spread widens between the yield on our Agency RMBS and benchmark interest rates, our net book value
coulddecline if the value of our Agency RMBS falls by more than the offsetting fair value increases on our hedging instruments tied to

theunderlying benchmark interest rates. We refer to this as "spread risk" or "basis risk." The spread risk associated with our mortgage
assets and the resulting fluctuations in fair value of these securities can occur independent of changes in benchmark interest rates
andmay relate to other factors impacting the mortgage and fixed income markets, such as actual or anticipated monetary policy
actions bythe Fed, market liquidity, or changes in required rates of return on different assets. Consequently, while we use futures contracts
andinterest rate swaps and swaptions to attempt to protect against moves in interest rates, such instruments typically will not protect
ournet book value against spread risk.

Liquidity Risk

The primary liquidity risk for us arises from financing long-term assets with shorter-term borrowings through repurchase
agreements. Our assets that are pledged to secure repurchase agreements are Agency RMBS and cash. As of December 31, 2021,
we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $385.1 million and unpledged securities of approximately $4.7 million (not
including
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unsettled securities purchases or securities pledged to us) available to meet margin calls on our repurchase agreements and
derivativecontracts, and for other corporate purposes. However, should the value of our Agency RMBS pledged as collateral or the value of
ourderivative instruments suddenly decrease, margin calls relating to our repurchase and derivative agreements could increase,
causingan adverse change in our liquidity position. Further, there is no assurance that we will always be able to renew (or roll) our
repurchaseagreements. In addition, our counterparties have the option to increase our haircuts (margin requirements) on the assets we pledge
against repurchase agreements, thereby reducing the amount that can be borrowed against an asset even if they agree to renew or
rollthe repurchase agreement. Significantly higher haircuts can reduce our ability to leverage our portfolio or even force us to sell
assets,especially if correlated with asset price declines or faster prepayment rates on our assets.

Extension Risk

The projected weighted average life and the duration (or interest rate sensitivity) of our investments is based on our Manager's
assumptions regarding the rate at which the borrowers will prepay the underlying mortgage loans. In general, we use futures
contractsand interest rate swaps and swaptions to help manage our funding cost on our investments in the event that interest rates rise.
Thesehedging instruments allow us to reduce our funding exposure on the notional amount of the instrument for a specified period of
time.

However, if prepayment rates decrease in a rising interest rate environment, the average life or duration of our fixed-rate
assets orthe fixed-rate portion of the ARMs or other assets generally extends. This could have a negative impact on our results from

operations,as our hedging instrument expirations are fixed and will, therefore, cover a smaller percentage of our funding exposure on our
mortgage assets to the extent that their average lives increase due to slower prepayments. This situationmay also cause the market
value of our Agency RMBS and CMOs collateralized by fixed rate mortgages or hybrid ARMs to decline by more than otherwise
wouldbe the case, while most of our hedging instruments would not receive any incremental offsetting gains. In extreme situations, we
maybe forced to sell assets to maintain adequate liquidity, which could cause us to incur realized losses.

Counterparty Credit Risk

We are exposed to counterparty credit risk relating to potential losses that could be recognized in the event that the
counterpartiesto our repurchase agreements and derivative contracts fail to perform their obligations under such agreements. The amount of

assetswe pledge as collateral in accordance with our agreements varies over time based on the market value and notional amount of
suchassets as well as the value of our derivative contracts. In the event of a default by a counterparty, we may not receive payments
provided for under the terms of our agreements and may have difficulty obtaining our assets pledged as collateral under such
agreements. Our credit risk related to certain derivative transactions is largely mitigated through daily adjustments to collateral
pledgedbased on changes in market value, and we limit our counterparties to registered central clearing exchanges and major financial
institutions with acceptable credit ratings, monitoring positions with individual counterparties and adjusting collateral posted as
required.However, there is no guarantee our efforts to manage counterparty credit risk will be successful and we could suffer significant
losses ifunsuccessful.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Orchid Island Capital, Inc. 
Vero Beach, Florida 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, the related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established inInternal
Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

(“COSO”)and our report dated February 25, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required
tobe independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
auditto obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidenceregarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
usedand significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believethat our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
materialto the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication
of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or
disclosuresto which it relates. 
 
Valuation of Investments in Mortgage-Backed Securities 
 
As described in Notes1 and12to the financial statements, the Companyaccounts for its Level 2mortgage-backed securities at fair
value, whichtotaled$6.5billion at December 31, 2021.  The fair value of mortgage-backed securities isbased on independent pricing
sources and/or third-party brokerquotes, when available. Because the price estimates may vary, management must make certain
judgments and assumptions about the appropriate price to use to calculate the fair values based on various techniques including
observing the most recent market for like or identical assets (including security coupon rate, maturity, yield, prepayment speed),
marketcredit spreads, and model driven approaches.
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We identified the valuation of mortgage-backed securitiesas a critical audit matter.  The principal considerations for our determination
are: (i)the potential for bias in how management subjectively selects the price from multiple pricing sources to determine the fair

valueof the mortgage-backed securities and (ii)the audit effort involved, including the use ofvaluationprofessionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.    
 
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:   

● Testing thedesign, implementation, and operatingeffectiveness ofcontrolsrelating to the valuation of mortgaged-backed
securities, includingcontrols overmanagement’sprocess to select the price from multiple pricing sources.   

● Reviewingtherange of values used for each investment position,andassessing the price selectedfor management bias
by comparing the priceto the high, low and average of the range of pricing sources.    

● Testing the reasonableness of fair values determined by management by comparing the fair value of certain securities
torecent transactions, if applicable.

 
● Utilizingpersonnel with specialized knowledge and skill in valuation to develop an independent estimate of the fair

value ofeach investment position by considering the stated security coupon rate, yield, maturity, and prepayment speeds, and
comparing to the fair value used by management. 

 
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Certified Public Accountants

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2011.

West Palm Beach, Florida
February 25, 2022
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ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

($ in thousands, except per share data)

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
ASSETS:
Mortgage-backed securities, at fair value (includes pledged assets of $6,506,372 $ 6,511,095 $ 3,726,895

and $3,719,906, respectively)
U.S. Treasury Notes, at fair value (includes pledged assets of$29,740 and $0, respectively) 37,175 -
Cash and cash equivalents 385,143 220,143
Restricted cash 65,299 79,363
Accrued interest receivable 18,859 9,721
Derivative assets 50,786 20,999
Receivable for securities sold, pledged to counterparties - 414
Other assets 320 516
Total Assets $ 7,068,677 $ 4,058,051

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES:
Repurchase agreements $ 6,244,106 $ 3,595,586
Dividends payable 11,530 4,970
Derivative liabilities 7,589 33,227
Accrued interest payable 788 1,157
Due to affiliates 1,062 632
Other liabilities 35,505 7,188
Total Liabilities 6,300,580 3,642,760
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value;100,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 - -
Common Stock, $0.01 par value;500,000,000 shares authorized,176,993,049

shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and76,073,317 shares issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 1,770 761

Additional paid-in capital 849,081 432,524
Accumulated deficit (82,754) (17,994)
Total Stockholders' Equity 768,097 415,291
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 7,068,677 $ 4,058,051

See Notes to Financial Statements
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ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
($ in thousands, except per share data)

2021 2020 2019
Interest income $ 134,700 $ 116,045 $ 142,324
Interest expense (7,090) (25,056) (83,666)
Net interest income 127,610 90,989 58,658
Realized losses on mortgage-backed securities (5,542) (24,986) (10,877)
Unrealized (losses) gains on mortgage-backed securities and U.S. Treasury Notes (198,454) 25,761 38,045
Gains (losses) on derivative instruments 26,877 (79,092) (51,176)
Net portfolio (loss) income (49,509) 12,672 34,650

Expenses:
Management fees 8,156 5,281 5,528
Allocated overhead 1,632 1,514 1,380
Incentive compensation 1,132 38 115
Directors' fees and liability insurance 1,169 998 998
Audit, legal and other professional fees 1,112 1,045 1,105
Direct REIT operating expenses 1,475 1,057 997
Other administrative 575 611 262
Total expenses 15,251 10,544 10,385

Net (loss) income $ (64,760)$ 2,128 $ 24,265

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per share $ (0.54) $ 0.03 $ 0.43

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding 121,144,326 67,210,815 56,328,027
See Notes to Financial Statements
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ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
(in thousands)

Additional Retained
Common Stock Paid-in Earnings

Shares Par Value Capital (Deficit) Total
Balances, January 1, 2019 49,132 $ 491 $ 379,975 $ (44,387)$ 336,079
Net income - - - 24,265 24,265
Cash dividends declared - - (54,421) - (54,421)
Issuance of common stock pursuant to public offerings, net 14,377 145 92,169 - 92,314
Stock based awards and amortization 23 - 294 - 294
Shares repurchased and retired (470) (5) (3,019) - (3,024)
Balances, December 31, 2019 63,062 631 414,998 (20,122) 395,507
Net income - - - 2,128 2,128
Cash dividends declared - - (53,570) - (53,570)
Issuance of common stock pursuant to public offerings, net 13,019 130 70,920 - 71,050
Stock based awards and amortization 12 - 244 - 244
Shares repurchased and retired (20) - (68) - (68)
Balances, December 31, 2020 76,073 761 432,524 (17,994) 415,291
Net loss - - - (64,760) (64,760)
Cash dividends declared - - (97,601) - (97,601)
Issuance of common stock pursuant to public offerings, net 100,828 1,008 513,051 - 514,059
Stock based awards and amortization 92 1 1,107 - 1,108
Balances, December 31, 2021 176,993 $ 1,770 $ 849,081 $ (82,754)$ 768,097

See Notes to Financial Statements
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ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
($ in thousands)

2021 2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net (loss) income $ (64,760)$ 2,128 $ 24,265
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Stock based compensation 772 244 294
Realized and unrealized losses (gains) on mortgage-backed securities 203,731 (775) (27,168)
Unrealized losses on U.S. Treasury Notes 265 - -
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments (35,350) 58,891 45,207
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accrued interest receivable (9,138) 2,683 837
Other assets 196 (446) 80
Accrued interest payable (369) (9,944) 4,656
Other liabilities 663 2,583 22
Due to affiliates 430 10 (32)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 96,440 55,374 48,161

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
From mortgage-backed securities investments:

Purchases (6,430,725) (4,859,434) (4,241,822)
Sales 2,851,708 4,200,536 3,321,206
Principal repayments 591,086 523,699 594,833

Purchases of U.S. Treasury Notes (37,440) - -
Net proceeds from reverse repurchase agreements - 30 -
Net Proceeds from (payments on) on derivative instruments 8,571 (64,171) (29,023)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,016,800) (199,340) (354,806)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from repurchase agreements 35,950,241 33,140,625 45,595,010
Principal payments on repurchase agreements (33,301,721) (32,993,145) (45,171,956)
Cash dividends (90,984) (53,645) (53,307)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 514,059 71,050 92,314
Common stock repurchases, including shares withheld from employee stock awards

for payment of taxes (299) (68) (3,024)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,071,296 164,817 459,037

NET INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 150,936 20,851 152,392
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, beginning of the period 299,506 278,655 126,263
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, end of the period $ 450,442 $ 299,506 $ 278,655

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 7,458 $ 35,000 $ 79,010

See Notes to Financial Statements
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ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2021

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Business Description

Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (“Orchid” or the “Company”), was incorporated in Maryland on August 17, 2010 for the
purpose of creatingand managing a leveraged investment portfolio consisting of residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”). From

incorporation toFebruary 20, 2013 Orchid was a wholly owned subsidiary of Bimini Capital Management, Inc. (“Bimini”). Orchid began 
operations onNovember 24, 2010 (the date of commencement of operations). From incorporation through November 24, 2010, Orchid’s
only activitywas the issuance of common stock to Bimini.

On August 2, 2017, Orchid entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “August 2017 Equity Distribution
Agreement”) withtwo sales agents pursuant to which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $125,000,000 of

shares of the Company’s common stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately 
negotiatedtransactions. The Company issued a total of15,123,178 shares under the August 2017 Equity Distribution Agreement for

aggregategross proceeds of approximately $125.0 million, and net proceeds of approximately $123.1 million, net of commissions and fees,prior
to its termination in July 2019.

On July 30, 2019, Orchid entered into an underwriting agreement (the “2019 Underwriting Agreement”) with Morgan
Stanley & Co.LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representatives of the underwriters named therein,

relating tothe offer and sale of 7,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price to the public of $6.55 per share. The underwriters
purchased the shares pursuant to the 2019 Underwriting Agreement at a price of $6.3535 per share. The closing of the offering of
7,000,000 shares of common stock occurred on August 2, 2019, with net proceeds to the Company of approximately $44.2 million

afterdeduction of underwriting discounts and commissions and other estimated offering expenses.

On January 23, 2020, Orchid entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “January 2020 Equity Distribution
Agreement”) withthree sales agents pursuant to which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $200,000,000

of shares of the Company’s common stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately
negotiatedtransactions. The Company issued a total of3,170,727 shares under the January 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for 

aggregategross proceeds of $19.8 million, and net proceeds of approximately $19.4 million, after commissions and fees, prior to its
termination inAugust 2020.

On August 4, 2020, Orchid entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “August 2020 Equity Distribution
Agreement”) withfour sales agents pursuant to which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $150,000,000 of

shares of the Company’s common stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately 
negotiatedtransactions. The Company issued a total of27,493,650 shares under the August 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for

aggregategross proceeds of approximately $150.0 million, and net proceeds of approximately $147.4 million, after commissions and fees,
prior toits termination in June 2021. 

On January 20, 2021, Orchid entered into an underwriting agreement (the “January 2021 Underwriting Agreement”)
with J.P.Morgan Securities LLC (“J.P. Morgan”), relating to the offer and sale of7,600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. J.P.

Morgan purchased the shares of the Company’s common stock from the Company pursuant to the January 2021
UnderwritingAgreement at $5.20 per share. In addition, the Company granted J.P. Morgan a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional
1,140,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on the same terms and conditions, which J.P. Morgan exercised in full on

January21, 2021. The closing of the offering of8,740,000 shares of the Company’s common stock occurred on January 25, 2021, with
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proceeds to the Company of approximately $45.2 million, after deduction of underwriting discounts and commissions and other
estimated offering expenses.

On March 2, 2021, Orchid entered into an underwriting agreement (the “March 2021 Underwriting Agreement”) with
J.P. Morgan,relating to the offer and sale of8,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. J.P. Morgan purchased the shares of the

Company’s common stock from the Company pursuant to the March 2021 Underwriting Agreement at $5.45 per share. In addition, the
Company granted J.P. Morgan a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional1,200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock

onthe same terms and conditions, which J.P. Morgan exercised in full on March 3, 2021. The closing of the offering of9,200,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock occurred on March 5, 2021, with proceeds to the Company of approximately $50.0 million, after
deduction of underwriting discounts and commissions and other estimated offering expenses.

On June 22, 2021, Orchid entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “June 2021 Equity Distribution
Agreement”) with foursales agents pursuant to which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $250,000,000 of

shares of the Company’s common stock in transactions that were deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately 
negotiatedtransactions. The Company issued a total of49,407,336 shares under the June 2021 Equity Distribution Agreement for

aggregategross proceeds of approximately $250.0 million, and net proceeds of approximately $246.0 million, after commissions and fees,prior to
its termination in October 2021. 

On October 29, 2021, Orchid entered into an equity distribution agreement (the “October 2021 Equity Distribution
Agreement”) withfour sales agents pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate amount of $250,000,000 of

shares of the Company’s common stock in transactions that are deemed to be “at the market” offerings and privately
negotiatedtransactions. Through December 31, 2021, the Company issued a total of15,835,700 shares under the October 2021 Equity
Distribution Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $78.3 million, and net proceeds of approximately $77.0 million,
after commissions and fees.

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in theUnited States (“GAAP”).The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make

estimates andassumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of thefinancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from thoseestimates. The significant estimates affecting the accompanying financial statements are the fair values of RMBS and 
derivatives.Management believes the estimates and assumptions underlying the financial statements are reasonable based on the
informationavailable as of December 31, 2021.

Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)

We obtain interests in VIEs through our investments in mortgage-backed securities. Our interests in these VIEs are
passive innature and are not expected to result in us obtaining a controlling financial interest in these VIEs in the future. As a

result, we do notconsolidate these VIEs and we account for our interest in these VIEs as mortgage-backed securities. See Note 2 for
additionalinformation regarding our investments in mortgage-backed securities. Our maximum exposure to loss for these VIEs is
the carryingvalue of the mortgage-backed securities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit with financial institutions and highly liquid investments with
original maturities ofthree months or less at the time of purchase. Restricted cash includes cash pledged as collateral for repurchase agreements 

and otherborrowings, and interest rate swaps and other derivative instruments.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the statement 
of financialposition that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the statement of cash flows.

(in thousands)
December 31, 2021 December 31,

2020Cash and cash equivalents $ 385,143 $ 220,143
Restricted cash 65,299 79,363
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 450,442 $ 299,506

The Company maintains cash balances at three banks and excess margin on account with two exchange clearing members.
 At times,balances may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances. The

FederalDeposit Insurance Corporation insures eligible accounts up to $250,000 per depositor at each financial institution. Restricted 
cashbalances are uninsured, but are held in separate customer accounts that are segregated from the general funds of the
counterparty. TheCompany limits uninsured balances to only large, well-known banks and exchange clearing members and believes that it is not
 exposed toany significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents or restricted cash balances.

Mortgage-Backed Securities and U.S. Treasury Notes

The Company invests primarily in mortgage pass-through (“PT”) residential mortgage backed (“RMBS”) and
collateralized mortgageobligations (“CMOs”) certificates issued by Freddie Mac, Fannie Mae or Ginnie Mae, interest-only (“IO”) securities and

inverse interest-only(“IIO”) securities representing interest in or obligations backed by pools of RMBS. We refer to RMBS and CMOs as PT
RMBS. We referto IO and IIO securities as structured RMBS. The Company also invests in U.S. Treasury Notes, primarily to satisfy
collateralrequirements of derivative counterparties. The Company has elected to account for its investment in RMBS and U.S.
Treasury Notesunder the fair value option. Electing the fair value option requires the Company to record changes in fair value in the
statement ofoperations, which, in management’s view, more appropriately reflects the results of our operations for a particular reporting
period andis consistent with the underlying economics and how the portfolio is managed.

The Company records securities transactions on the trade date. Security purchases that have not settled as of the balance
sheet dateare included in the portfolio balance with an offsetting liability recorded, whereas securities sold that have not settled as of the

balancesheet date are removed from the portfolio balance with an offsetting receivable recorded.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly 
transactionbetween market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset

ortransfer the liability either occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
occurs in the mostadvantageous market for the asset or liability. Estimated fair values for RMBS are based on independent pricing sources and/or
third partybroker quotes, when available. Estimated fair values for U.S. Treasury Notes are based on quoted prices for identical assets in 
activemarkets.

Income on PT RMBS securities and U.S. Treasury Notes is based on the stated interest rate of the security. Premiums or
discountspresent at the date of purchase are not amortized. Premium lost and discount accretion resulting from monthly principal 

repayments arereflected in unrealized gains (losses) on RMBS in the statements of operations. For IO securities, the income is accrued based
on thecarrying value and the effective yield. The difference between income accrued and the interest received on the security is
characterized asa return of investment and serves to reduce the asset’s carrying value. At each reporting date, the effective yield is adjusted 
prospectivelyfor future reporting periods based on the new estimate of prepayments and the contractual terms of the security. For IIO
securities,effective yield and income recognition calculations also take into account the index value applicable to the security. Changes in
fair valueof RMBS during each reporting period are recorded in earnings and reported as unrealized gains or losses on mortgage-backed 
securitiesin the accompanying statements of operations.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
 
The Company uses derivative and other hedging instruments to manage interest rate risk, facilitate asset/liability strategies
 andmanage other exposures, and it may continue to do so in the future. The principal instruments that the Company has used to

date areTreasury Note (“T-Note”), Fed Funds and Eurodollar futures contracts, short positions in U.S. Treasury securities, interest rate
swaps,options to enter in interest rate swaps (“interest rate swaptions”) and TBA securities transactions, but the Company may enter 
into otherderivative and other hedging instruments in the future. 

The Company accounts for TBA securities as derivative instruments. Gains and losses associated with TBA securities 
transactionsare reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments in the accompanying statements of operations.

Derivative and other hedging instruments are carried at fair value, and changes in fair value are recorded in earnings for
each period.The Company’s derivative financial instruments are not designated as hedge accounting relationships, but rather are used as 

economichedges of its portfolio assets and liabilities. Gains and losses on derivatives, except those that result in cash receipts or
payments, areincluded in operating activities on the statement of cash flows. Cash payments and cash receipts from settlements of
derivatives, includingcurrent period net cash settlements on interest rate swaps, is classified as an investing activity on the statements of cash flows.

Holding derivatives creates exposure to credit risk related to the potential for failure on the part of counterparties and
exchanges tohonor their commitments. In the event of default by a counterparty, the Company may have difficulty recovering its collateral 

and may notreceive payments provided for under the terms of the agreement. The Company’s derivative agreements require it to post or 
receivecollateral to mitigate such risk. In addition, the Company uses only registered central clearing exchanges and well-established 
commercialbanks as counterparties, monitors positions with individual counterparties and adjusts posted collateral as required.

Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value is disclosed, either in the body of
the financialstatements or in the accompanying notes. RMBS, Eurodollar, Fed Funds and T-Note futures contracts, interest rate swaps, 

interest rateswaptions and TBA securities are accounted for at fair value in the balance sheets. The methods and assumptions used to 
estimate fairvalue for these instruments are presented in Note 12 of the financial statements.

The estimated fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accrued interest receivable, receivable for
securities sold,other assets, due to affiliates, repurchase agreements, payable for unsettled securities purchased, accrued interest payable

and otherliabilities generally approximates their carrying values as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 due to the short-
term nature ofthese financial instruments. 

Repurchase Agreements

The Company finances the acquisition of the majority of its RMBS through the use of repurchase agreements under
masterrepurchase agreements. Repurchase agreements are accounted for as collateralized financing transactions, which are 

carried at theircontractual amounts, including accrued interest, as specified in the respective agreements.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements and Obligations to Return Securities Borrowed under Reverse Repurchase 
Agreements

The Company borrows securities to cover short sales of U.S. Treasury securities through reverse repurchase transactions 
under ourmaster repurchase agreements. We account for these as securities borrowing transactions and recognize an obligation to

return theborrowed securities at fair value on the balance sheet based on the value of the underlying borrowed securities as of the 
reporting date.The securities received as collateral in connection with our reverse repurchase agreements mitigate our credit risk exposure to
counterparties. Our reverse repurchase agreements typically have maturities of 30 days or less.
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Manager Compensation

The Company is externally managed by Bimini Advisors, LLC (the “Manager” or “Bimini Advisors”), a Maryland 
limited liabilitycompany and wholly-owned subsidiary of Bimini. The Company’s management agreement with the Manager provides for

payment to theManager of a management fee and reimbursement of certain operating expenses, which are accrued and expensed during the
period forwhich they are earned or incurred. Refer to Note 13 for the terms of the management agreement.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated as net income or loss attributable to common stockholders divided by the
weightedaverage number of shares of common stock outstanding or subscribed during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated using the 

treasurystock or two-class method, as applicable, for common stock equivalents, if any. However, the common stock equivalents are
not includedin computing diluted EPS if the result is anti-dilutive. 

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company may grant equity-based compensation to non-employee members of its board of directors and to the 
executive officersand employees of the Manager. Stock-based awards issued include Performance Units, Deferred Stock Units and immediately 

vestedcommon stock awards. Compensation expense is measured and recognized for all stock-based payment awards made to
employees andnon-employee directors based on the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense is 
recognized over eachaward’s respective service period using the graded vesting attribution method. We do not estimate forfeiture rates; rather, we
adjust forforfeitures in the periods in which they occur.

Income Taxes

Orchid elected and is organized and operated so as to qualify to be taxed as a REIT under the Code. REITs are
generally notsubject to federal income tax on their REIT taxable income provided that they distribute to their stockholders all of their

REIT taxableincome on an annual basis. A REIT must distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without regard to
thedeductions for dividends paid and excluding net capital gain, and meet other requirements of the Code to retain its tax
status.

Orchid assesses the likelihood, based on their technical merit, that uncertain tax positions will be sustained upon
examinationbased on the facts, circumstances and information available at the end of each period. All of Orchid’s tax positions are

categorized ashighly certain. There is no accrual for any tax, interest or penalties related to Orchid’s tax position assessment. The
measurement ofuncertain tax positions is adjusted when new information is available, or when an event occurs that requires a change.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04 “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference RateReform on Financial Reporting.” ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions to GAAP requirements for

modificationson debt instruments, leases, derivatives, and other contracts, related to the expected market transition from the London
InterbankOffered Rate (“LIBOR”), and certain other floating rate benchmark indices, or collectively, IBORs, to alternative
reference rates. ASU2020-04 generally considers contract modifications related to reference rate reform to be an event that does not require
contractremeasurement at the modification date nor a reassessment of a previous accounting determination. The guidance in ASU
2020-04 isoptional and may be elected over time, through December 31, 2022, as reference rate reform activities occur. The
Company does notbelieve the adoption of this ASU will have a material impact on its financial statements.

In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01 “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848). ASU 2021-01 expands the
scope of ASC848 to include all affected derivatives and give market participants the ability to apply certain aspects of the contract

modification and
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hedge accounting expedients to derivative contracts affected by the discounting transition. In addition, ASU 2021-01 adds
implementation guidance to permit a company to apply certain optional expedients to modifications of interest rate indexes
used formargining, discounting or contract price alignment of certain derivatives as a result of reference rate reform initiatives andextends
optional expedients to account for a derivative contract modified as a continuation of the existing contract and to continue
hedgeaccounting when certain critical terms of a hedging relationship change to modifications made as part of the discounting
transition. Theguidance in ASU 2021-01 is effective immediately and available generally through December 31, 2022, as reference rate
reformactivities occur. The Company does not believe the adoption of this ASU will have a material impact on its financial
statements.
NOTE 2. MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES AND U.S. TREASURY NOTES

The following table presents the Company’s RMBS portfolio as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020:

(in thousands)
December 31, 2021 December 31,

2020Pass-Through RMBS Certificates:
Fixed-rate Mortgages $ 6,298,189 $ 3,560,746
Fixed-rate CMOs - 137,453
Total Pass-Through Certificates 6,298,189 3,698,199

Structured RMBS Certificates:
Interest-Only Securities 210,382 28,696
Inverse Interest-Only Securities 2,524 -
Total Structured RMBS Certificates 212,906 28,696

Total $ 6,511,095 $ 3,726,895

As of December 31, 2021, the Company held U.S. Treasury Notes with a fair value of approximately $37.2 million, 
primarily to satisfycollateral requirements of one of its derivative counterparties. The Company did not hold any U.S. Treasury Notes as of

December 31,2020.

The following table is a summary of our net gain (loss) from the sale of mortgage-backed securities for the years ended
December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019.

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019

Total Total Total
Carrying value of RMBS sold $ 2,857,250 $ 4,225,522 $ 3,332,083
Proceeds from sales of RMBS 2,851,708 4,200,536 3,321,206
Net (loss) gain on sales of RMBS $ (5,542)$ (24,986)$ (10,877)

Gross gain on sales of RMBS $ 7,930 $ 8,678 $ 2,177
Gross loss on sales of RMBS (13,472) (33,664) (13,054)
Net gain (loss) on sales of RMBS $ (5,542)$ (24,986)$ (10,877)

NOTE 3. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The Company pledges certain of its RMBS as collateral under repurchase agreements with financial institutions. Interest 
rates aregenerally fixed based on prevailing rates corresponding to the terms of the borrowings, and interest is generally paid at the 

termination of aborrowing. If the fair value of the pledged securities declines, lenders will typically require the Company to post additional 
collateral or paydown borrowings to re-establish agreed upon collateral requirements, referred to as "margin calls." Similarly, if the fair value
of the pledgedsecurities increases, lenders may release collateral back to the Company. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had met all 
margin callrequirements.
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s repurchase agreements had remaining maturities as
summarized below:

($ in thousands)
OVERNIGHTBETWEEN 2 BETWEEN 31 GREATER 
(1 DAY OR AND AND THAN

LESS) 30 DAYS 90 DAYS 90 DAYS TOTAL
December 31, 2021
Fair market value of securities pledged, including

accrued interest receivable $ - $ 4,624,396 $ 1,848,080 $ 52,699 $ 6,525,175
Repurchase agreement liabilities associated with

these securities $ - $ 4,403,182 $ 1,789,327 $ 51,597 $ 6,244,106
Net weighted average borrowing rate - 0.15% 0.13% 0.15% 0.15%
December 31, 2020
Fair market value of securities pledged, including

accrued interest receivable $ - $ 2,112,969 $ 1,560,798 $ 55,776 $ 3,729,543
Repurchase agreement liabilities associated with

these securities $ - $ 2,047,897 $ 1,494,500 $ 53,189 $ 3,595,586
Net weighted average borrowing rate - 0.23% 0.22% 0.30% 0.23%

In addition, cash pledged to counterparties as collateral for repurchase agreements was approximately $57.3 million and $58.8 million
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

If, during the term of a repurchase agreement, a lender files for bankruptcy, the Company might experience difficulty
recovering itspledged assets, which could result in an unsecured claim against the lender for the difference between the amount loaned to the

Companyplus interest due to the counterparty and the fair value of the collateral pledged to such lender, including the accrued interest
receivableand cash posted by the Company as collateral. At December 31, 2021, the Company had an aggregate amount at risk (the 
differencebetween the amount loaned to the Company, including interest payable and securities posted by the counterparty (if any), and
the fairvalue of securities and cash pledged (if any), including accrued interest on such securities) with all counterparties of
approximately $

338.3
million. The Company did not have an amount at risk with any individual counterparty that was greater than 10% of the 
Company’s equityat December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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NOTE 4. DERIVATIVE AND OTHER HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

The table below summarizes fair value information about our derivative and other hedging instruments assets and 
liabilities as ofDecember 31, 2021 and 2020.

(in thousands)
Derivative and Other Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location December 31, 2021 December 31,

2020Assets
Interest rate swaps Derivative assets, at fair value $ 29,293 $ 7
Payer swaptions (long positions) Derivative assets, at fair value 21,493 17,433
TBA securities Derivative assets, at fair value - 3,559
Total derivative assets, at fair value $ 50,786 $ 20,999

Liabilities
Interest rate swaps Derivative liabilities, at fair value$ 2,862 $ 24,711
Payer swaptions (short positions) Derivative liabilities, at fair value 4,423 7,730
TBA securities Derivative liabilities, at fair value 304 786
Total derivative liabilities, at fair value $ 7,589 $ 33,227

Margin Balances Posted to (from) Counterparties
Futures contracts Restricted cash $ 8,035 $ 489
TBA securities Restricted cash - 284
TBA securities Other liabilities (856) (2,520)
Interest rate swaption contracts Other liabilities (6,350) (3,563)
Interest rate swap contracts Restricted cash - 19,761
Total margin balances on derivative contracts $ 829 $ 14,451

Eurodollar, Fed Funds and T-Note futures are cash settled futures contracts on an interest rate, with gains and losses
credited orcharged to the Company’s cash accounts on a daily basis. A minimum balance, or “margin”, is required to be maintained in

the account ona daily basis. The tables below present information related to the Company’s Eurodollar and T-Note futures positions at
December 31,2021 and 2020. 

($ in thousands)
December 31, 2021

Average Weighted Weighted
Contract Average Average
Notional Entry Effective Open

Expiration Year Amount Rate Rate Equity(1)

U.S. Treasury Note Futures Contracts (Short Positions)(2)

March 2022 5-year T-Note futures
(Mar 2022 - Mar 2027 Hedge Period) $ 369,000 1.56% 1.62% $ 1,013

March 2022 10-year Ultra futures
(Mar 2022 - Mar 2032 Hedge Period) $ 220,000 1.22% 1.09% $ (3,861)
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($ in thousands)
December 31, 2020

Average Weighted Weighted
Contract Average Average
Notional Entry Effective Open

Expiration Year Amount Rate Rate Equity(1)

Eurodollar Futures Contracts (Short Positions)
2021 $ 50,000 1.03% 0.18% $ (424)
U.S. Treasury Note Futures Contracts (Short Position)(2)

March 2021 5 year T-Note futures
(Mar 2021 - Mar 2026 Hedge Period) $ 69,000 0.72% 0.67% $ (186)

(1) Open equity represents the cumulative gains (losses) recorded on open futures positions from inception.
(2) 5-Year T-Note futures contracts were valued at a price of $120.98 at December 31, 2021 and $126.16 at December 31, 2020. The contract

values of the short positions were $446.4 million and $87.1 million at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. 10-
Year Ultrafutures contracts were valued at price of $146.44 at December 31, 2021. The contract value of the short position was $322.2 million at

December 31, 2021.

Under our interest rate swap agreements, we typically pay a fixed rate and receive a floating rate based on LIBOR ("payer
swaps").The floating rate we receive under our swap agreements has the effect of offsetting the repricing characteristics of our

repurchaseagreements and cash flows on such liabilities. We are typically required to post collateral on our interest rate swap 
agreements. The tablebelow presents information related to the Company’s interest rate swap positions at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

($ in thousands)
Average Net

Fixed Average Estimated Average
Notional Pay Receive Fair Maturity
Amount Rate Rate Value (Years)

December 31, 2021
Expiration > 3 to ≤ 5 years $ 955,000 0.64% 0.16% $ 21,788 4.0
Expiration > 5 years $ 400,000 1.16% 0.21% $ 4,643 7.3

$ 1,355,000 0.79% 0.18% $ 26,431 5.0
December 31, 2020
Expiration > 1 to ≤ 3 years $ 620,000 1.29% 0.22% $ (23,760) 3.6
Expiration > 3 to ≤ 5 years 200,000 0.67% 0.23% (944) 6.4

$ 820,000 1.14% 0.23% $ (24,704) 4.3

The table below presents information related to the Company’s interest rate swaption positions at December 31,
2021 and 2020.

($ in thousands)
Option Underlying Swap

Weighted Average Weighted
Average Average Adjustable Average

Fair Months to Notional Fixed Rate Term
Expiration Cost Value Expiration Amount Rate (LIBOR) (Years)
December 31, 2021
Payer Swaptions (long positions)
≤ 1 year $ 4,000 $ 1,575 3.2 400,000 1.66% 3 Month 5.0
> 1 year ≤ 2 years 32,690 19,918 18.4 1,258,500 2.46% 3 Month 14.1

$ 36,690 $ 21,493 14.7 $ 1,658,500 2.27% 3 Month 11.9
Payer Swaptions (short positions)
≤ 1 year $ (16,185)$ (4,423) 5.3 $ (1,331,500) 2.29% 3 Month 11.4
December 31, 2020
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Payer Swaptions (long positions)
≤ 1 year $ 3,450 $ 5 2.5 500,000 0.95% 3 Month 4.0
> 1 year ≤ 2 years 13,410 17,428 17.4 675,000 1.49% 3 Month 12.8

$ 16,860 $ 17,433 11.0 $ 1,175,000 1.26% 3 Month 9.0
Payer Swaptions (short positions)
≤ 1 year $ (4,660)$ (7,730) 5.4 $ (507,700) 1.49% 3 Month 12.8

The following table summarizes our contracts to purchase and sell TBA securities as of December 31, 2021
and 2020.

($ in thousands)
Notional Net
Amount Cost Market Carrying

Long (Short)(1) Basis(2) Value(3) Value(4)

December 31, 2021
30-Year TBA securities:

3.0% $ (575,000)$ (595,630)$ (595,934)$ (304)
Total $ (575,000)$ (595,630)$ (595,934)$ (304)
December 31, 2020
30-Year TBA securities:

2.0% $ 465,000 $ 479,531 $ 483,090 $ 3,559
3.0% (328,000) (342,896) (343,682) (786)

Total $ 137,000 $ 136,635 $ 139,408 $ 2,773

(1) Notional amount represents the par value (or principal balance) of the underlying Agency RMBS.
(2) Cost basis represents the forward price to be paid (received) for the underlying Agency RMBS.
(3) Market value represents the current market value of the TBA securit ies (or of the underlying Agency RMBS) as of period-end.
(4) Net carrying value represents the difference between the market value and the cost basis of the TBA securities as of period-end and is

reportedin derivative assets (liabilities), at fair value in our balance sheets.

Gain (Loss) From Derivative and Other Hedging Instruments, Net

The table below presents the effect of the Company’s derivative and other hedging instruments on the statements of
operations forthe years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

(in thousands)
2021 2020 2019

Eurodollar futures contracts (short positions) $ (10) $ (8,337)$ (13,860)
U.S. Treasury Note futures contracts (short position) (846) (4,707) (5,175)
Fed Funds futures contracts (short positions) - - 177
Interest rate swaps 23,613 (66,212) (26,582)
Payer swaptions (long positions) (2,580) 98 (1,379)
Payer swaptions (short positions) 9,062 (3,070) -
Interest rate floors 2,765 - -
TBA securities (short positions) 3,432 (6,719) (6,264)
TBA securities (long positions) (8,559) 9,950 1,907
U.S. Treasury securities (short positions) - (95) -
Total $ 26,877 $ (79,092)$ (51,176)

Credit Risk-Related Contingent Features

The use of derivatives and other hedging instruments creates exposure to credit risk relating to potential losses that 
could berecognized in the event that the counterparties to these instruments fail to perform their obligations under the contracts. We

 attempt tominimize this risk by limiting our counterparties for instruments which are not centrally cleared on a registered exchange to
major financial
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institutions with acceptable credit ratings and monitoring positions with individual counterparties. In addition, we may 
be required topledge assets as collateral for our derivatives, whose amounts vary over time based on the market value, notional amount and
remainingterm of the derivative contract. In the event of a default by a counterparty, we may not receive payments provided for under
the terms ofour derivative agreements, and may have difficulty obtaining our assets pledged as collateral for our derivatives. The cash
 and cashequivalents pledged as collateral for our derivative instruments are included in restricted cash on our balance sheets.

It is the Company's policy not to offset assets and liabilities associated with open derivative contracts. However, 
the ChicagoMercantile Exchange (“CME”) rules characterize variation margin transfers as settlement payments, as opposed to 

adjustments tocollateral. As a result, derivative assets and liabilities associated with centrally cleared derivatives for which the CME serves 
as the centralclearing party are presented as if these derivatives had been settled as of the reporting date.

NOTE 5. PLEDGED ASSETS

Assets Pledged to Counterparties

The table below summarizes our assets pledged as collateral under our repurchase agreements and derivative 
agreements by type,including securities pledged related to securities sold but not yet settled, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

(in thousands)
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Repurchase Derivative Repurchase Derivative
Assets Pledged to Counterparties Agreements Agreements Total Agreements Agreements Total
PT RMBS - fair value $ 6,294,102 $ - $ 6,294,102 $ 3,692,811 $ - $ 3,692,811
Structured RMBS - fair value 212,270 - 212,270 27,095 - 27,095
U.S. Treasury Notes - 29,740 29,740 - - -
Accrued interest on pledged securities 18,804 13 18,817 9,636 - 9,636
Restricted cash 57,264 8,035 65,299 58,829 20,534 79,363
Total $ 6,582,440 $ 37,788 $ 6,620,228 $ 3,788,371 $ 20,534 $ 3,808,905

Assets Pledged from Counterparties

The table below summarizes assets pledged to us from counterparties under our repurchase agreements and derivative 
agreementsas of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

(in thousands)
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Repurchase Derivative Repurchase Derivative
Assets Pledged to Orchid Agreements Agreements Total Agreements Agreements Total
Cash $ 4,339 $ 7,206 $ 11,545 $ 120 $ 6,083 $ 6,203
U.S. Treasury securities - fair value - - - 253 - 253
Total $ 4,339 $ 7,206 $ 11,545 $ 373 $ 6,083 $ 6,456

PT RMBS and U.S. Treasury securities received as margin under our repurchase agreements are not recorded in the
balance sheetsbecause the counterparty retains ownership of the security. Cash received as margin is recognized in cash and cash

equivalents with acorresponding amount recognized as an increase in repurchase agreements or other liabilities in the balance sheets.

NOTE 6. OFFSETTING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company’s derivative agreements and repurchase agreements are subject to underlying agreements with master 
netting or
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similar arrangements, which provide for the right of offset in the event of default or in the event of bankruptcy of either 
party to thetransactions. The Company reports its assets and liabilities subject to these arrangements on a gross basis. 

The following table presents information regarding those assets and liabilities subject to such arrangements as if the 
Company hadpresented them on a net basis as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

(in thousands)
Offsetting of Assets

Gross Amount Not
Net Amount Offset in the Balance Sheet
of Assets Financial

Gross Amount Gross Amount Presented Instruments Cash
of Recognized Offset in the in the Received as Received as Net

Assets Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Collateral Collateral Amount
December 31, 2021
Interest rate swaps $ 29,293 $ - $ 29,293 $ - $ - $ 29,293
Interest rate swaptions 21,493 - 21,493 - (6,350) 15,143

$ 50,786 $ - $ 50,786 $ - $ (6,350)$ 44,436
December 31, 2020
Interest rate swaps $ 7 $ - $ 7 $ - $ - $ 7
Interest rate swaptions 17,433 - 17,433 - (3,563) 13,870
TBA securities 3,559 - 3,559 - (2,520) 1,039

$ 20,999 $ - $ 20,999 $ - $ (6,083)$ 14,916

(in thousands)
Offsetting of Liabilities

Gross Amount Not
Net Amount Offset in the Balance Sheet
of Liabilities Financial

Gross Amount Gross Amount Presented Instruments
of Recognized Offset in the in the Posted as Cash Posted Net

Liabilities Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Collateral Collateral Amount
December 31, 2021
Repurchase Agreements $ 6,244,106 $ - $ 6,244,106 $ (6,186,842)$ (57,264)$ -
Interest rate swaps 2,862 - 2,862 (2,862) - -
Interest rate swaptions 4,423 - 4,423 - - 4,423
TBA securities 304 - 304 - - 304

$ 6,251,695 $ - $ 6,251,695 $ (6,189,704)$ (57,264)$ 4,727
December 31, 2020
Repurchase Agreements $ 3,595,586 $ - $ 3,595,586 $ (3,536,757)$ (58,829)$ -
Interest rate swaps 24,711 - 24,711 - (19,761) 4,950
Interest rate swaptions 7,730 - 7,730 - - 7,730
TBA securities 786 - 786 - (284) 502

$ 3,628,813 $ - $ 3,628,813 $ (3,536,757)$ (78,874)$ 13,182

The amounts disclosed for collateral received by or posted to the same counterparty up to and not exceeding the net
amount of theasset or liability presented in the balance sheets. The fair value of the actual collateral received by or posted to the same 

counterpartytypically exceeds the amounts presented. See Note 5 for a discussion of collateral posted or received against or for repurchase 
obligationsand derivative and other hedging instruments.

NOTE 7. CAPITAL
STOCK

Common Stock 
Issuances
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During 2021 and 2020, the Company completed the following public offerings of shares of its
common stock.

 

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)
Weighted
Average

Price
Received Net

Type of Offering Period Per Share(1) Shares Proceeds(2)

2021
At the Market Offering Program(3) First Quarter $ 5.10 308,048 $ 1,572
Follow-on Offerings First Quarter 5.31 17,940,000 95,336
At the Market Offering Program(3) Second Quarter 5.40 23,087,089 124,746
At the Market Offering Program(3) Third Quarter 4.94 35,818,338 177,007
At the Market Offering Program(3) Fourth Quarter 4.87 23,674,698 115,398

100,828,173 $ 514,059
2020
At the Market Offering Program(3) First Quarter $ 6.23 3,170,727 $ 19,447
At the Market Offering Program(3) Second Quarter - - -
At the Market Offering Program(3) Third Quarter 5.15 3,073,326 15,566
At the Market Offering Program(3) Fourth Quarter 5.41 6,775,187 36,037

13,019,240 $ 71,050

(1) Weighted average price received per share is after deducting the underwriters’ discount, if applicable, and other offering
costs.(2) Net proceeds are net of the underwriters’ discount, if applicable, and other offering costs.

(3) As of December 31, 2021, the Company had entered into ten equity distribution agreements, nine of which have either been
terminatedbecause all shares were sold or were replaced with a subsequent agreement.

Stock Repurchase Program

On July 29, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to2,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. On February 8, 2018, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the stock repurchase program for up
to anadditional4,522,822 shares of the Company's common stock. Coupled with the783,757 shares remaining from the original

2,0000,000share authorization, the increased authorization brought the total authorization to5,306,579 shares, representing 10% of the then
outstanding share count. On December 9, 2021, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock available in the stock repurchase program for up to an additional16,861,994 shares, bringing the

remainingauthorization under the stock repurchase program to17,699,305 shares, representing approximately 10% of the Company’s then
outstanding shares of common stock. As part of the stock repurchase program, shares may be purchased in open market
transactions,block purchases, through privately negotiated transactions, or pursuant to any trading plan that may be adopted in
accordance withRule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Open market repurchases will be
made inaccordance with Exchange Act Rule 10b-18, which sets certain restrictions on the method, timing, price and volume of
open marketstock repurchases. The timing, manner, price and amount of any repurchases will be determined by the Company in its
discretion andwill be subject to economic and market conditions, stock price, applicable legal requirements and other factors. The
authorization doesnot obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock and the program may be suspended or
discontinued atthe Company’s discretion without prior notice.

From the inception of the stock repurchase program through December 31, 2021, the Company repurchased a total of5,685,511
shares at an aggregate cost of approximately $40.4 million, including commissions and fees, for a weighted average price of $7.10 per
share. The Company did not repurchase any of its common stock during the year ended December 31, 2021. During the
year endedDecember 31, 2020, the Company repurchased a total of19,891 shares at an aggregate cost of approximately $0.1 million, including
commissions and fees, for a weighted average price of $3.42 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company
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repurchased a total of469,975 shares at an aggregate cost of approximately $3.0 million, including commissions and fees, for a
weighted average price of $6.43 per share. The remaining authorization under the stock repurchase program as of December

31, 2021is 17,699,305 shares. 

Cash Dividends

The table below presents the cash dividends declared on the Company’s
common stock.

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year
Per Share
Amount Total

2013 $ 1.395 $ 4,662
2014 2.160 22,643
2015 1.920 38,748
2016 1.680 41,388
2017 1.680 70,717
2018 1.070 55,814
2019 0.960 54,421
2020 0.790 53,570
2021 0.780 97,601
2022 - YTD(1) 0.110 19,502
Totals $ 12.545 $ 459,066

(1) On January 13, 2022, the Company declared a dividend of $0.055 per share to be paid on February 24, 2022. On February 16,
2022, theCompany declared a dividend of $0.055 per share to be paid on March 29, 2022. The dollar amount of the dividend declared in
February 2022is estimated based on the number of shares outstanding at February 25, 2022. The effect of these dividends are included in the
table above,but are not reflected in the Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2021.

NOTE 8. STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

In 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and the stockholders approved, the Orchid Island Capital, Inc.
2021 EquityIncentive Plan (the “2021 Incentive Plan”) to replace the Orchid Island Capital, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012

IncentivePlan” and together with the 2021 Incentive Plan, the “Incentive Plans”). The 2021 Incentive Plan provides for the award of
stockoptions, stock appreciation rights, stock award, performance units, other equity-based awards (and dividend equivalents
with respect toawards of performance units and other equity-based awards) and incentive awards. The 2021 Incentive Plan is
administered by theCompensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors except that the Company’s full Board of Directors will
administerawards made to directors who are not employees of the Company or its affiliates. The 2021 Incentive Plan provides for
awards of up toan aggregate of10% of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock (on a fully diluted basis) at the time of the

awards,subject to a maximum aggregate7,366,623 shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the 2021
Incentive Plan.The 2021 Incentive Plan replaces the 2012 Incentive Plan, and no further grants will be made under the 2012 Incentive

Plan. However, any outstanding awards under the 2012 Incentive Plan will continue in accordance with the terms of the 2012
Incentive Planand any award agreement executed in connection with such outstanding awards.

Performance Units

The Company has issued, and may in the future issue additional performance units under the Incentive Plan to certain
executiveofficers and employees of its Manager. “Performance Units” vest after the end of a defined performance period, based on

satisfactionof the performance conditions set forth in the performance unit agreement. When earned, each Performance Unit will be
settled by theissuance of one share of the Company’s common stock, at which time the Performance Unit will be cancelled. The
Performance Unitscontain dividend equivalent rights, which entitle the Participants to receive distributions declared by the Company on
common stock,
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but do not include the right to vote the underlying shares of common stock. Performance Units are subject to forfeiture
should theparticipant no longer serve as an executive officer or employee of the Company. Compensation expense for the
Performance Units,included in incentive compensation on the statements of operations, is recognized over the remaining vesting period once it
becomesprobable that the performance conditions will be achieved.

The following table presents information related to Performance Units outstanding during the years ended December
31, 2021 and2020. 

($ in thousands, except per share data)
2021 2020

Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Grant Date Grant Date
 Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Unvested, beginning of period 4,554 $ 7.45 19,021 $ 7.78
Granted 137,897 5.88 - -
Forfeited (4,674) 5.88 (1,607) 7.45
Vested and issued (4,554) 7.45 (12,860) 7.93
Unvested, end of period 133,223 $ 5.88 4,554 $ 7.45

Compensation expense during period $ 321 $ 38
Unrecognized compensation expense, end of period $ 467 $ 4
Intrinsic value, end of period $ 599 $ 24
Weighted-average remaining vesting term (in years) 1.4 0.8

The number of shares of common stock issuable upon the vesting of the remaining outstanding Performance Units was
reduced in2020 as a result of the book value impairment event that occurred pursuant to the Company's Long Term Incentive

CompensationPlans (the "Plans"). The book value impairment event occurred when the Company's book value per share declined by
more than 15%during the quarter ended March 31, 2020 and the Company's book value per share decline from January 1, 2020 to June 30,
2020 wasmore than 10%. The Plans provide that if such a book value impairment event occurs, then the number of outstanding
PerformanceUnits that are outstanding as of the last day of such two-quarter period shall be reduced by 15%.

Stock Awards

The Company has issued, and may in the future issue additional, immediately vested common stock under the
Incentive Plans tocertain executive officers and employees of its Manager. Compensation expense for the stock awards is based on the fair 

value of theCompany’s common stock on the grant date and is included in incentive compensation in the statements of operations. The
followingtable presents information related to fully vested common stock issued during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020. All of thefully vested shares of common stock issued during the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related compensation
expense, weregranted with respect to service performed during the previous fiscal year.

($ in thousands, except per share data)
2021 2020

Fully vested shares granted 137,897 -
Weighted average grant date price per share $ 5.88 $ -
Compensation expense related to fully vested shares of common stock awards(1) $ 811 $ -

(1) The awards issued during the year ended December 31, 2021 were granted with respect to service performed in 2020.
Approximately $600,000of compensation expense related to the 2021 awards was accrued and recognized in 2020.

Deferred Stock Units
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Non-employee directors receive a portion of their compensation in the form of deferred stock unit awards (“DSUs”)
pursuant to theIncentive Plans. Each DSU represents a right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. The DSUs are

immediatelyvested and are settled at a future date based on the election of the individual participant. Compensation expense for the
DSUs isincluded in directors’ fees and liability insurance in the statements of operations. The DSUs contain dividend equivalent
rights, whichentitle the participant to receive distributions declared by the Company on common stock. These distributions will be
made in the formof cash or additional DSUs at the participant’s election. The DSUs do not include the right to vote the underlying shares of
commonstock.

The following table presents information related to the DSUs outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020.

($ in thousands, except per share data)
2021 2020

Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Grant Date Grant
Date Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Outstanding, beginning of period 90,946 $ 5.44 43,570 $ 6.56
Granted and vested 52,030 5.29 47,376 4.41
Outstanding, end of period 142,976 $ 5.38 90,946 $ 5.44

Compensation expense during period $ 240 $ 180
Intrinsic value, end of period $ 643 $ 473

NOTE 9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company may become involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the
ordinary course ofbusiness. Management is not aware of any reported or unreported contingencies at December 31, 2021.

NOTE 10. INCOME TAXES

The Company will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its REIT taxable income to the extent that it
distributes itsREIT taxable income to its stockholders and satisfies the ongoing REIT requirements, including meeting certain asset, income 

and stockownership tests. A REIT must generally distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the
deductions fordividends paid and excluding net capital gain, to its stockholders, annually to maintain REIT status. An amount equal to the
sum of 85% ofits REIT ordinary income and 95% of its REIT capital gain net income, plus certain undistributed income from prior taxable 
years, must bedistributed within the taxable year in order to avoid the imposition of an excise tax. The remaining balance may be distributed 
up to theend of the following taxable year, provided the REIT elects to treat such amount as a prior year distribution and meets certain
otherrequirements.

REIT taxable income (loss) is computed in accordance with the Code, which is different than the Company’s financial 
statement netincome (loss) computed in accordance with GAAP. Book to tax differences primarily relate to the recognition of interest 

income on RMBS,unrealized gains and losses on RMBS, and the amortization of losses on derivative instruments that are treated as hedges for 
taxpurposes.

As of December 31, 2021, we had distributed all of our estimated REIT taxable income through fiscal year 2021.
Accordingly, noincome tax provision was recorded for 2021, 2020 and 2019.

NOTE 11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(EPS)
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The Company had dividend eligible Performance Units and Deferred Stock Units that were outstanding during the years
endedDecember 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The basic and diluted per share computations include these unvested Performance Units

andDeferred Stock Units if there is income available to common stock, as they have dividend participation rights. The unvested
PerformanceUnits and Deferred Stock Units have no contractual obligation to share in losses. Because there is no such obligation, the
unvestedPerformance Units and Deferred Stock Units are not included in the basic and diluted EPS computations when no income is
available tocommon stock even though they are considered participating securities.

The table below reconciles the numerator and denominator of EPS for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019.

(in thousands, except per-share information)
2021 2020 2019

Basic and diluted EPS per common share:
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS per share of common stock:

Net (loss) income - Basic and diluted $ (64,760)$ 2,128 $ 24,265
Weighted average shares of common stock:

Shares of common stock outstanding at the balance sheet date 176,993 76,073 63,062
Unvested dividend eligible share based compensation

outstanding at the balance sheet date - 96 63
Effect of weighting (55,849) (8,958) (6,797)

Weighted average shares-basic and diluted 121,144 67,211 56,328
Net (loss) income per common share:

Basic and diluted $ (0.54) $ 0.03 $ 0.43
Anti-dilutive incentive shares not included in calculation. 281 - -

NOTE 12. FAIR VALUE

The framework for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities defines fair value as the price that would be received
to sell anasset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price). A fair value measure should reflect the assumptions that market participants 

would use inpricing the asset or liability, including the assumptions about the risk inherent in a particular valuation technique, the effect of
a restrictionon the sale or use of an asset and the risk of non-performance. Required disclosures include stratification of balance sheet
amountsmeasured at fair value based on inputs the Company uses to derive fair value measurements. These stratifications are: 

● Level 1 valuations, where the valuation is based on quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities traded in 
active markets(which include exchanges and over-the-counter markets with sufficient volume), 

● Level 2 valuations, where the valuation is based on quoted market prices for similar instruments traded in active
markets, quotedprices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and model-based valuation techniques for
which allsignificant assumptions are observable in the market, and

● Level 3 valuations, where the valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions 
notobservable in the market, but observable based on Company-specific data. These unobservable assumptions reflect
theCompany’s own estimates for assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
Valuationtechniques typically include option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques, but may
also include theuse of market prices of assets or liabilities that are not directly comparable to the subject asset or liability.

The Company's RMBS and TBA securities are Level 2 valuations, and such valuations are determined by the Company 
based onindependent pricing sources and/or third party broker quotes, when available. Because the price estimates may vary, the 

Company mustmake certain judgments and assumptions about the appropriate price to use to calculate the fair values. The Company and the
independent pricing sources use various valuation techniques to determine the price of the Company’s securities. These
techniquesinclude observing the most recent market for like or identical assets (including security coupon, maturity, yield, and
prepayment speeds),spread pricing techniques to determine market credit spreads (option adjusted spread, zero volatility spread, spread to the U.S. 
Treasurycurve or spread to a benchmark such as a TBA), and model driven approaches (the discounted cash flow method, Black 
Scholes and
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SABR models which rely upon observable market rates such as the term structure of interest rates and volatility). The
appropriate spreadpricing method used is based on market convention. The pricing source determines the spread of recently observed trade 
activity orobservable markets for assets similar to those being priced. The spread is then adjusted based on variances in certain 
characteristicsbetween the market observation and the asset being priced. Those characteristics include: type of asset, the expected life of the
asset, thestability and predictability of the expected future cash flows of the asset, whether the coupon of the asset is fixed or adjustable, 
theguarantor of the security if applicable, the coupon, the maturity, the issuer, size of the underlying loans, year in which the
underlying loanswere originated, loan to value ratio, state in which the underlying loans reside, credit score of the underlying borrowers and
other variablesif appropriate. The fair value of the security is determined by using the adjusted spread. 

The Company’s U.S. Treasury Notes are based on quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets and are
classified asLevel 1 assets.

The Company’s futures contracts are Level 1 valuations, as they are exchange-traded instruments and quoted market
prices arereadily available. Futures contracts are settled daily. The Company’s interest rate swaps and interest rate swaptions are Level 2

valuations. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow approach using forward market
interest ratesand discount rates, which are observable inputs. The fair value of interest rate swaptions is determined using an option pricing
model.

RMBS (based on the fair value option), derivatives and TBA securities were recorded at fair value on a recurring basis
during theyears ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. When determining fair value measurements, the Company considers the

principal ormost advantageous market in which it would transact and considers assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing theasset. When possible, the Company looks to active and observable markets to price identical assets. When identical assets are 
not tradedin active markets, the Company looks to market observable data for similar assets.

The following table presents financial assets (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 
31, 2021 and2020. Derivative contracts are reported as a net position by contract type, and not based on master netting arrangements. 

(in thousands)
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant

Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
December 31, 2021
Mortgage-backed securities $ - $ 6,511,095 $ -
U.S. Treasury Notes 37,175 - -
Interest rate swaps - 26,431 -
Interest rate swaptions - 17,070 -
TBA securities - (304) -
December 31, 2020
Mortgage-backed securities $ - $ 3,726,895 $ -
Interest rate swaps - (24,704) -
Interest rate swaptions - 9,703 -
TBA securities - 2,773 -

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers of financial assets or liabilities between
levels 1, 2or 3.

NOTE 13. RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
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Management Agreement

The Company is externally managed and advised by the “Manager” pursuant to the terms of a management
agreement. Themanagement agreement has been renewed throughFebruary 20, 2023 and provides for automaticone-year extension options

thereafter and is subject to certain termination rights. Under the terms of the management agreement, the Manager is
responsible foradministering the business activities and day-to-day operations of the Company. The Manager receives a monthly
management fee inthe amount of:

● One-twelfth of 1.5% of the first $250 million of the Company’s month-end equity, as defined in the management
agreement,● One-twelfth of 1.25% of the Company’s month-end equity that is greater than $250 million and less than or equal
to $500million, and

● One-twelfth of 1.00% of the Company’s month-end equity that is greater than $500 million.

The Company is obligated to reimburse the Manager for any direct expenses incurred on its behalf and to pay the
Manager theCompany’s pro rata portion of certain overhead costs set forth in the management agreement. Should the Company

terminate themanagement agreement without cause, it will pay the Manager a termination fee equal to three times the average annual
managementfee, as defined in the management agreement, before or on the last day of the term of the agreement.

Total expenses recorded for the management fee and allocated overhead incurred were approximately $9.8 million, $6.8 million
and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Other Relationships with Bimini

Robert Cauley, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors, also serves as Chief Executive
Officer andChairman of the Board of Directors of Bimini and owns shares of common stock of Bimini. George H. Haas, our Chief

Financial Officer,Chief Investment Officer, Secretary and a member of our Board of Directors, also serves as the Chief Financial Officer,
ChiefInvestment Officer and Treasurer of Bimini and owns shares of common stock of Bimini. In addition, as of December 31,
2021, Biminiowned2,595,357 shares, or1.5%, of the Company’s common stock.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIALDISCLOSURE

We had no disagreements with our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on any matter of accounting
principles or practices or financial statement disclosure.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
As of the end of the period covered by this report (the “evaluation date”), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision
andwith the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (the

“CFO”), ofthe effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded our disclosure controls and procedures, as designed and
implemented, were effective as of the evaluation date (1) in ensuring that information regarding the Company is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, by our employees, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regardingrequired disclosure and (2) in providing reasonable assurance that information we must disclose in our periodic reports under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods prescribed by the SEC’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

 There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’smost recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control overfinancial reporting. 

Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting.Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under

thesupervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s board of
directors,management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation offinancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies
andprocedures that:

● pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

● provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

● provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition
ofthe Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. As a
result,even systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance regarding the preparation and presentation of

financial statements. Moreover, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that
controlsmay become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
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The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, the Company’s management used criteria set forth inInternal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

 
 Based on management’s assessment, the Company’s management believes that, as of December 31, 2021, the Company’s

internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. The Company’s independent registered public
accountingfirm, BDO USA, LLP, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which is
includedherein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors
Orchid Island Capital, Inc.
Vero Beach, Florida

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Orchid Island Capital, Inc.’s (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). In our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2021 based on the COSO criteria .

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (“PCAOB”), the balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2021, and the related notes and our report dated February 25, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
“Item 9A, Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting”. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Certified Public Accountants
West Palm Beach, Florida
February 25, 2022
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 and not otherwise set forth below is incorporated herein by reference to
theCompany's definitive Proxy Statement relating to the Company’s 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy

Statement”), which the Company expects to file with the SEC, pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days
afterDecember 31, 2021.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATEDSTOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement and to Part II,
Item5 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a. Financial Statements. The financial statements of the Company, together with the report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm thereon, are set forth in Part II-Item 8 of this Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference. 

The following information is filed as part of this Form 10-K:
Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 80
Balance Sheets 82
Statements of Operations 83
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 84
Statements of Cash Flows 85
Notes to Financial Statements 86

b. Financial Statement Schedules. 

Not applicable.

c. Exhibits.

Exhibit No. Description
3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1

to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No.333-
184538) filed on November 28, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.2 Certificate of Correction of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 22, 2019 and incorporated herein by
reference)

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 19, 2019)

4.1 Specimen Certificate of common stock of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No.333-
184538) filed on November 28, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.2 Description of Securities (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K filed on February 21, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1 Management Agreement between Orchid Island Capital, Inc. and Bimini Advisors, LLC,
dated as of February 20, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8 K filed on April 3, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference)†

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000023/orc10k20181231x32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000023/orc10k20181231x32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000023/orc10k20181231x32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000031/orc8k20190319x991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000031/orc8k20190319x991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547720000030/orc10k20200220x42.htm
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10.2 First Amendment to Management Agreement, effective as of April 1, 2014 (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 3, 2014 and incorporated
herein by reference)†

10.3 Second Amendment to Management Agreement, effective as of June 30, 2014 (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 3, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.4 Third Amendment to Management Agreement, effective as of November 17, 2021 (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2021
and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.5 Form of Investment Allocation Agreement by and among Orchid Island Capital, Inc., Bimini
Advisors, LLC and Bimini Capital Management, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No.333-184538) filed on
November 28, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.6 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No.333-184538) filed on November 28, 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference)†

10.7 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on June 15, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.8 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Orchid Island Capital, Inc. and
Indemnitee (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment
No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No.333-184538) filed on November 28, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference)†

10.9 Form of Master Repurchase Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S-11 (File No.333-184538) filed on
November 28, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.10 Performance Unit Award Agreement by Orchid Island Capital, Inc. to Robert E. Cauley
dated January 21, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K filed on January 23, 2015 and
incorporated herein by reference)†

10.11 Performance Unit Award Agreement by Orchid Island Capital, Inc. to George H. Haas, IV
dated January 21, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to Form 8-K filed on January 23, 2015 and
incorporated herein by reference)†

10.12 2015 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on
March 25, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.13 2016 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed on
April 28, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.14 2017 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q filed on
April 28, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.15 2018 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q filed on
April 27, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.16 2019 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed on
April 26, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.17 2020 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed on
May 1, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.18 2021 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q filed on
April 30, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)†

10.19 Form of Deferred Stock Unit Grant Notice and Agreement under the 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan † *

10.20 Form of Director Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form † *

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547714000030/orc8k20140403x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547714000030/orc8k20140403x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547714000030/orc8k20140403x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547714000066/orc8k20140630x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547714000066/orc8k20140630x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547714000066/orc8k20140630x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000151/orc8k20211117x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000151/orc8k20211117x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000151/orc8k20211117x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000089/orc8k20210615x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000089/orc8k20210615x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000119312512483809/d427065dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000004/orc8k20150121x992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000004/orc8k20150121x992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000004/orc8k20150121x992.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000004/orc8k20150121x994.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000004/orc8k20150121x994.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000004/orc8k20150121x994.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000028/orc8k20150324x991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547715000028/orc8k20150324x991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547716000140/orc10q20160331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547716000140/orc10q20160331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862117000011/orc10q20170331x102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862117000011/orc10q20170331x102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547718000073/orc10q20180331x105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547718000073/orc10q20180331x105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000070/orc10q20190331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000127547719000070/orc10q20190331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862120000018/orc10q20200331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862120000018/orc10q20200331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000079/orc10q20210331x101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000079/orc10q20210331x101.htm


113

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 26, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference)

23.1 Consent of BDO USA, LLP*
31.1 Certification of Robert E. Cauley, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Registrant,

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
31.2 Certification of George H. Haas, IV, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
32.1 Certification of Robert E. Cauley, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Registrant,

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.**

32.2 Certification of George H. Haas, IV, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.**

Exhibit 101.INS XBRL Instance Document ***
Exhibit 101.SCH
XBRL

Taxonomy Extension Schema Document ***

Exhibit 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document***
Exhibit 101.DEF XBRL Additional Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Created***
Exhibit 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document ***
Exhibit 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document ***
Exhibit 104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
*** Submitted electronically herewith.
† Management contract or compensatory plan. 

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

The Company has elected not to provide summary information.

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000030/orc10k20201231x211.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1518621/000151862121000030/orc10k20201231x211.htm


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

114

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly 
causedthis report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

Orchid Island Capital, Inc.
Registrant

Date: February 25, 2022 By: /s/ Robert E. Cauley
Robert E. Cauley
Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board

Date: February 25, 2022 By: /s/ George H. Haas, IV
George H. Haas, IV
Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Investment Officer and
Director (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons onbehalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Robert E. Cauley Chairman of the Board, Director, Chief February 25, 2022
Robert E. Cauley Executive Officer, and President

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ George H. Haas, IV Chief Financial Officer, Chief February 25, 2022
George H. Haas, IV Investment Officer, and Director

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ W Coleman Bitting Independent Director February 25, 2022
W Coleman Bitting

/s/ Frank P. Filipps Independent Director February 25, 2022
Frank P. Filipps

/s/ Paula Morabito Independent Director February 25, 2022
Paula Morabito

/s/ Ava L. Parker Independent Director February 25, 2022
Ava L. Parker



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Orchid Island Capital, Inc.
Vero Beach, Florida

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No.
333-257201) and Form S-3 (333-236144)of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. of our reports dated February 25,
2022, relating to the financial statements, and the effectiveness of Orchid Island Capital, Inc.’s internal
control over financial reporting which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 

West Palm Beach, Florida /s/ BDO USA, LLP
February 25, 2022 Certified Public Accountants



 

 

 

 

Exhibit 10.19

ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC.
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

DEFERRED STOCK UNIT GRANT NOTICE

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Orchid Island Capital, Inc. 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”), Orchid Island Capital, Inc.
(the “Company”) hereby grants to the individual listed below (“you” or the “Participant”) the
number of Deferred Stock Units (the “DSUs”) set forth below in this Deferred Stock Unit Grant
Notice (this “Grant Notice”). This award of DSUs (this “Award”) is subject to the terms and
conditions set forth herein, in the Deferred Stock Unit Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A
(the “Agreement”) and the Plan, each of which is incorporated herein by reference. Capitalized
terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Participant:  

Date of Grant:  

Award Type and
Description:

Other Equity-Based Award granted pursuant to Article X of the Plan.

Total Number of
Deferred Stock Units:

 

By signing below, you agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan, the
Agreement and this Grant Notice. You acknowledge that you have reviewed the Agreement, the
Plan and this Grant Notice in their entirety and fully understand all provisions of the Agreement,
the Plan and this Grant Notice. You hereby agree to accept as binding, conclusive and final all
decisions or interpretations of the Committee regarding any questions or determinations arising
under the Agreement, the Plan or this Grant Notice. This Grant Notice may be executed in one or
more counterparts (including portable document format (.pdf) and facsimile counterparts), each of
which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]



 

 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Grant Notice to be executed
by an officer thereunto duly authorized, and the Participant has executed this Grant Notice,
effective for all purposes as provided above.

COMPANY

Orchid Island Capital, Inc.

By: 
Name: 
Title:

PARTICIPANT

 
Name: 

Address: 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A

DEFERRED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

This Deferred Stock Unit Agreement (together with the Grant Notice to which this
Agreement is attached, this “Agreement”) is made as of the Date of Grant set forth in the Grant
Notice (the “Date of Grant”) by and between Orchid Island Capital, Inc., a Maryland corporation
(the “Company”), and _________ (the “Participant”). Capitalized terms used but not specifically
defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the Plan or the Grant Notice.

1. Award. In consideration of the Participant’s past and/or continued service to the
Company or its Affiliates and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, effective as of the Date of Grant, the Company
hereby grants to the Participant the number of DSUs set forth in the Grant Notice on the terms and
conditions set forth in the Grant Notice, this Agreement and the Plan, which is incorporated herein
by reference as a part of this Agreement. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and
this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall control. Each DSU represents the right to receive one
share of Common Stock, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Grant Notice, this
Agreement and the Plan. Unless and until the DSUs are delivered in accordance with Section 4,
the Participant will have no right to receive any Common Stock or other payments in respect of
the DSUs. The DSUs shall be credited to a separate account maintained for the Participant on the
books and records of the Company (the “Account”). Prior to settlement of this Award, the DSUs
and this Award represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable only from the general
assets of the Company.

2. Vesting of DSUs. The DSUs shall be 100% vested on the Date of Grant.

3. Dividend Equivalent Rights. 

(a) In the event that the Company declares and pays a dividend in respect of its
outstanding shares of Common Stock and, on the record date for such dividend, the Participant
holds DSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement that have not been settled, the Company shall pay
to the Participant an amount equal to the dividends the Participant would have received if the
Participant was the holder of record, as of such record date, of the number of shares of Common
Stock relating to the portion of the Participant’s DSUs that have not been settled as of such record
date (the “Dividend Equivalents”), unless payment is deferred pursuant to Section 3(b). 

(b) Notwithstanding Section 3(a), the Participant may elect to defer the
payment of any Dividend Equivalents pursuant to the Dividend Equivalents Deferral Election
Form attached hereto as Exhibit C. Any such deferral election must be made in compliance with
such rules and procedures as the Committee prescribes. If any Dividend Equivalents are deferred,
the Company shall credit the amount of such Dividend Equivalents to the Account in the form of
additional DSUs based on the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date such
Dividend Equivalent would be paid pursuant to Section 3(a). Any such additional DSUs shall be
considered DSUs under this Agreement and shall be entitled to receive Dividend Equivalents
pursuant to this Section 3; provided, however, that any such additional DSUs shall be settled in



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

accordance with the deferral election made pursuant to this Section 3(b), rather than pursuant to
Section 4.

4. Settlement of DSUs. 

(a) As soon as administratively practicable following the vesting of DSUs
pursuant to Section 2, but in no event later than 30 days after such vesting date, the Company shall
deliver to the Participant a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of DSUs
subject to this Award, unless delivery is deferred pursuant to Section 4(b). All shares of Common
Stock issued hereunder shall be delivered either by delivering one or more certificates for such
shares to the Participant or by entering such shares in book-entry form, as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion. The value of shares of Common Stock shall not bear any interest
owing to the passage of time. Neither this Section 3 nor any action taken pursuant to or in
accordance with this Agreement shall be construed to create a trust or a funded or secured
obligation of any kind.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 4(a), the Participant may elect to defer the delivery
of the DSUs pursuant to the Deferred Stock Units Deferral Election Form attached hereto as
Exhibit B. Any such deferral election must be made in compliance with such rules and procedures
as the Committee prescribes.

5. Tax Withholding. To the extent that the receipt, vesting or settlement of this
Award results in compensation income or wages to the Participant for federal, state, local and/or
foreign tax purposes, the Participant shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the
satisfaction of obligations for the payment of withholding taxes and other tax obligations relating
to this Award, which arrangements include the delivery of cash or cash equivalents, Common
Stock (including previously owned Common Stock, net settlement, a broker-assisted sale, or other
cashless withholding or reduction of the amount of shares otherwise issuable or delivered pursuant
to this Award), other property, or any other legal consideration the Committee deems appropriate.
If such tax obligations are satisfied through net settlement or the surrender of previously owned
Common Stock, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be so withheld (or
surrendered) shall be the number of shares of Common Stock that have an aggregate Fair Market
Value on the date of withholding or surrender equal to the aggregate amount of such tax liabilities
determined based on the greatest withholding rates for federal, state, local and/or foreign tax
purposes, including payroll taxes, that may be utilized without creating adverse accounting
treatment for the Company with respect to this Award, as determined by the Committee. The
Participant acknowledges that there may be adverse tax consequences upon the receipt, vesting or
settlement of this Award or disposition of the underlying shares and that the Participant has been
advised, and hereby is advised, to consult a tax advisor. The Participant represents that the
Participant is in no manner relying on the Board, the Committee, the Company or any of its
Affiliates or any of their respective managers, directors, officers, employees or authorized
representatives (including, without limitation, attorneys, accountants, consultants, bankers,
lenders, prospective lenders and financial representatives) for tax advice or an assessment of such
tax consequences.

6. Non-Transferability . None of the DSUs, the Dividend Equivalents or any interest
or right therein may be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred in any manner other than by will or



 

 

 

the laws of descent and distribution, unless and until the shares of Common Stock underlying the
DSUs have been issued, and all restrictions applicable to such shares have lapsed. Neither the
DSUs nor any interest or right therein shall be liable for the debts, contracts or engagements of the
Participant or his or her successors in interest or shall be subject to disposition by transfer,
alienation, anticipation, pledge, encumbrance, assignment or any other means, whether such
disposition be voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law by judgment, levy, attachment,
garnishment or any other legal or equitable proceedings (including bankruptcy), and any attempted
disposition thereof shall be null and void and of no effect, except to the extent that such disposition
is expressly permitted by the preceding sentence.

7. Compliance with Applicable Law. Notwithstanding any provision of this
Agreement to the contrary, the issuance of shares of Common Stock hereunder will be subject to
compliance with all requirements of applicable law with respect to such securities and with the
requirements of any stock exchange or market system upon which the Common Stock may then
be listed. No shares of Common Stock will be issued hereunder if such issuance would constitute
a violation of any applicable law or regulation or the requirements of any stock exchange or market
system upon which the Common Stock may then be listed. In addition, shares of Common Stock
will not be issued hereunder unless (a) a registration statement under the Securities Act is in effect
at the time of such issuance with respect to the shares to be issued or (b) in the opinion of legal
counsel to the Company, the shares to be issued are permitted to be issued in accordance with the
terms of an applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The
inability of the Company to obtain from any regulatory body having jurisdiction the authority, if
any, deemed by the Company’s legal counsel to be necessary for the lawful issuance and sale of
any shares of Common Stock hereunder will relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the
failure to issue such shares as to which such requisite authority has not been obtained. As a
condition to any issuance of Common Stock hereunder, the Company may require the Participant
to satisfy any requirements that may be necessary or appropriate to evidence compliance with any
applicable law or regulation and to make any representation or warranty with respect to such
compliance as may be requested by the Company.

8. Legends. If a stock certificate is issued with respect to shares of Common Stock
delivered hereunder, such certificate shall bear such legend or legends as the Committee deems
appropriate in order to reflect the restrictions set forth in this Agreement and to ensure compliance
with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the rules, regulations and other requirements of
the Securities and Exchange Commission, any applicable laws or the requirements of any stock
exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed. If the shares of Common Stock issued
hereunder are held in book-entry form, then such entry will reflect that the shares are subject to
the restrictions set forth in this Agreement.

9. Rights as a Stockholder. The Participant shall have no rights as a stockholder of
the Company with respect to any shares of Common Stock that may become deliverable hereunder
unless and until the Participant has become the holder of record of such shares of Common Stock,
and no adjustments shall be made for dividends in cash or other property, distributions or other
rights in respect of any such shares of Common Stock, except as otherwise specifically provided
for in the Plan or this Agreement.



 

 

 

 

10. Execution of Receipts and Releases. Any issuance or transfer of shares of
Common Stock or other property to the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative, heir,
legatee or distributee, in accordance with this Agreement shall be in full satisfaction of all claims
of such person hereunder. As a condition precedent to such payment or issuance, the Company
may require the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative, heir, legatee or distributee to
execute (and not revoke within any time provided to do so) a release and receipt therefor in such
form as it shall determine appropriate; provided, however, that any review period under such
release will not modify the date of settlement with respect to vested DSUs.

11. No Right to Continued Service or Awards . Nothing in the adoption of the Plan,
nor the award of the DSUs thereunder pursuant to the Grant Notice and this Agreement, shall
confer upon the Participant the right to a continued service relationship with the Company or any
Affiliate, or any other entity, or affect in any way the right of the Company or any such Affiliate,
or any other entity to terminate such service relationship at any time. The grant of the DSUs is a
one-time benefit and does not create any contractual or other right to receive a grant of Awards or
benefits in lieu of Awards in the future. Any future Awards will be granted at the sole discretion
of the Company.

12. Notices. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be delivered to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for
a party as shall be specified by like notice):

If to the Company, unless otherwise designated by the Company in a written notice
to the Participant (or other holder):

Orchid Island Capital, Inc.
Attn: Bob Cauley

 3305 Flamingo Drive
 Vero Beach, Florida 32963

 If to the Participant, to the address for the Participant indicated on the signature
page to the Grant Notice (as such address may be updated by the Participant providing written
notice to such effect to the Company). 

Any notice that is delivered personally or by overnight courier or telecopier in the manner provided
herein shall be deemed to have been duly given to the Participant when it is mailed by the Company
or, if such notice is not mailed to the Participant, upon receipt by the Participant. Any notice that
is addressed and mailed in the manner herein provided shall be conclusively presumed to have
been given to the party to whom it is addressed at the close of business, local time of the recipient,
on the fourth day after the day it is so placed in the mail. 

13. Consent to Electronic Delivery; Electronic Signature. In lieu of receiving
documents in paper format, the Participant agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to accept
electronic delivery of any documents that the Company may be required to deliver (including, but
not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award notifications and agreements,
account statements, annual and quarterly reports and all other forms of communications) in
connection with this and any other Award made or offered by the Company. The Participant hereby



 

 

 

 

 

consents to any and all procedures the Company has established or may establish for an electronic
signature system for delivery and acceptance of any such documents that the Company may be
required to deliver, and agrees that his or her electronic signature is the same as, and shall have the
same force and effect as, his or her manual signature.

14. Agreement to Furnish Information. The Participant agrees to furnish to the
Company all information requested by the Company to enable it to comply with any reporting or
other requirement imposed upon the Company by or under any applicable statute or regulation.

15. Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement, the Grant Notice and the Plan
constitute the entire agreement of the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof, and contains
all the covenants, promises, representations, warranties and agreements between the parties with
respect to the DSUs granted hereby; provided, however, that the terms of this Agreement shall not
modify and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of any consulting and/or severance
agreement between the Company (or an Affiliate or other entity) and the Participant in effect as of
the date a determination is to be made under this Agreement. Without limiting the scope of the
preceding sentence, except as provided therein, all prior understandings and agreements, if any,
among the parties hereto relating to the subject matter hereof are hereby null and void and of no
further force and effect. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, amend this Agreement from
time to time in any manner that is not inconsistent with the Plan; provided, however, that except
as otherwise provided in the Plan or this Agreement, any such amendment that materially reduces
the rights of the Participant shall be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the
Participant and an authorized officer of the Company.

16. Severability and Waiver. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any
provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, then the invalidity or unenforceability of
such provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this
Agreement, and all other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. Waiver by any party of
any breach of this Agreement or failure to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed to be
a waiver of any other breach or right. The failure of any party to take action by reason of such
breach or to exercise any such right shall not deprive the party of the right to take action at any
time while or after such breach or condition giving rise to such rights continues.

17. Clawback. Notwithstanding any provision in the Grant Notice, this Agreement or
the Plan to the contrary, to the extent required by (a) applicable law, including, without limitation,
the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010,
any Securities and Exchange Commission rule or any applicable securities exchange listing
standards and/or (b) any policy that may be adopted or amended by the Board from time to time,
all shares of Common Stock issued hereunder shall be subject to forfeiture, repurchase,
recoupment and/or cancellation to the extent necessary to comply with such law(s) and/or policy.

18. Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF MARYLAND
APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED THEREIN, EXCLUSIVE
OF THE CONFLICT OF LAWS PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW.



 

 

 

 

19. Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this
Agreement without the Participant’s consent. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer
set forth herein and in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon the Participant and the
Participant's beneficiaries, executors, administrators and the person(s) to whom the DSUs may be
transferred by will or the laws of descent or distribution.

20. Headings. Headings are for convenience only and are not deemed to be part of this
Agreement.

21. Counterparts. The Grant Notice may be executed in one or more counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 
Delivery of an executed counterpart of the Grant Notice by facsimile or portable document format
(.pdf) attachment to electronic mail shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of the Grant Notice.

22. Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything herein or in the Plan to the contrary, the
DSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement are intended to comply with the applicable requirements
of Section 409A, as amended from time to time, and the guidance and regulations promulgated
thereunder and successor provisions, guidance and regulations thereto (the “Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Rules”) and shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such
intent. If the Participant is deemed to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of the
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Rules, as determined by the Committee, at a time when the
Participant becomes eligible for settlement of the DSUs upon the Participant’s “separation from
service” within the meaning of the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Rules, then to the extent
necessary to prevent any accelerated or additional tax under the Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Rules, such settlement will be delayed until the earlier of: (a) the date that is six
months following the Participant’s separation from service and (b) the Participant’s death. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and its Affiliates make no representations that the
DSUs provided under this Agreement are compliant with the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Rules and in no event shall the Company or any Affiliate be liable for all or any portion of any
taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may be incurred by the Participant on account of
non-compliance with the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Rules.



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B

DEFERRED STOCK UNITS
DEFERRAL ELECTION FORM

Please complete this Deferred Stock Units Deferral Election Form (the “DSU Election Form”)
and return a signed copy to Bob Cauley no later than 5:00pm EST on December 31, 2021 (the
“Election Deadline”). 

Name: ______________________________________

NOTE: This DSU Election Form will apply to all grants of Deferred Stock Units (the
“DSUs”) you may receive from Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) on and after
January 1, 2022 until such time as a new signed DSU Election Form is received by the
Company.  Any new signed DSU Election Form must be received by the Company no later
than December 31 of the calendar year preceding the calendar in which it is intended to
apply.

1. Settlement of DSUs

In making this election, the following rules apply: 

● Unless otherwise specified, capitalized terms used but not defined in this DSU Election
Form shall have the meaning attributed to them in the Deferred Stock Unit Grant Notice
(the “Grant Notice”), the Deferred Stock Unit Agreement (the “Agreement”) or the Orchid
Island Capital, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”),
as applicable. 

● You must complete this DSU Election Form by the Election Deadline and select a payment
date on which you will receive the shares of Common Stock underlying the DSUs. You
must complete this DSU Election Form even if you want the shares of Common Stock
underlying your DSUs to be paid to you at the default time specified in the Agreement. 

● Notwithstanding the foregoing, if you fail to complete and timely submit this DSU Election
Form, the shares of Common Stock underlying your DSUs will be paid to you at the default
time specified in the Agreement. 

2. Deferral Election

I hereby irrevocably elect to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant
to any DSUs granted to me under the Plan or any successor plan thereto in 2022 and any
future calendar years, until such time as a new signed DER Election Form is received by
the Company, upon the earlier to occur of my death, disability (as defined in Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(4)), a Change in Control, or (select only one of the following): 

☐ (a) The default time specified in the Agreement.



 

 

 

 

☐ (b) The date I incur a separation from service with the Company,
determined in accordance with the Company’s written and generally applicable
policies.

☐ (c) The anniversary of the date of I incur a separation from
service with the Company, determined in accordance with the Company’s written
and generally applicable policies.

☐ (d) As soon as administratively feasible following ________________
___, _____ (insert applicable date).

3. Signature

I understand that my rights to the shares of Common Stock underlying the DSUs are
subject to the rights of the general creditors of the Company in the event of its insolvency. 
I further understand that this DSU Election Form will become effective and irrevocable as of
5:00pm EST on December 31, 2021, which is the Election Deadline. Once I have elected the
time of settlement of my DSUs by filing this completed DSU Election Form, I understand
that (a) the settlement election will be irrevocable and (b) the settlement election will
control over any contrary payment time or event specified in Section 4 of the Agreement. I
acknowledge that, if I do not complete and timely submit this DSU Election Form, the shares of
Common Stock underlying my DSUs will be paid to me at the default time specified in the
Agreement.

By executing this DSU Election Form, I hereby acknowledge my understanding of, and
agreement with, the terms and provisions set forth in this DSU Election Form, the Grant Notice,
the Agreement and the Plan. 

PARTICIPANT

 
 Name: 

Date: 
 

 
 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C

DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS
DEFERRAL ELECTION FORM

Please complete this Dividend Equivalents Deferral Election Form (the “DER Election Form”)
and return a signed copy to Bob Cauley no later than 5:00pm EST on December 31, 2021 (the
“Election Deadline”). 

Name: ______________________________________

NOTE: This DER Election Form will apply to all Dividend Equivalents you may receive
from Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) pursuant to an award of Deferred Stock
Units on and after January 1, 2022 until such time as a new signed DER Election Form is
received by the Company. Any new signed DSU Election Form must be received by the
Company no later than December 31 of the calendar year preceding the calendar in which
it is intended to apply.

1. Settlement of Dividend Equivalents

In making this election, the following rules apply: 

● Unless otherwise specified, capitalized terms used but not defined in this DER Election
Form shall have the meaning attributed to them in the Deferred Stock Unit Grant Notice
(the “Grant Notice”), the Deferred Stock Unit Agreement (the “Agreement”) or the Orchid
Island Capital, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”),
as applicable. 

● You must complete this DER Election Form by the Election Deadline and select a payment
date on which you will receive the Dividend Equivalents (or the shares of Common Stock
underlying any reinvested Dividend Equivalents). You must complete this DER Election
Form even if you want the Dividend Equivalents to be paid to you at the default time
specified in the Agreement. 

● Notwithstanding the foregoing, if you fail to complete and timely submit this DER Election
Form, the Dividend Equivalents will be paid to you at the default time specified in the
Agreement. 

2. Deferral Election

I hereby irrevocably elect to receive _____% of the Dividend Equivalents (or the
shares of Common Stock underlying any reinvested Dividend Equivalents) issuable
pursuant to any Deferred Stock Units granted to me under the Plan or any successor plan
thereto in 2022 and any future calendar years (the “Deferred Dividend Equivalents”), until
such time as a new signed DER Election Form is received by the Company, upon the



 

 

earlier to occur of my death, disability (as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-
3(i)(4)), a Change in Control, or (select only one of the following): 

☐ (a) The date I incur a separation from service with the Company,
determined in accordance with the Company’s written and generally applicable
policies.

☐ (b) The anniversary of the date of I incur a separation from
service with the Company, determined in accordance with the Company’s written
and generally applicable policies.

☐ (c) As soon as administratively feasible following ________________
___, _____ (insert applicable date).

For the avoidance of doubt, if less than 100% of the Dividend Equivalents (or the
shares of Common Stock underlying any reinvested Dividend Equivalents) are Deferred
Dividend Equivalents pursuant to this Section 2 of the DER Election Form, then any
Dividend Equivalents (or the shares of Common Stock underlying any reinvested Dividend
Equivalents) that are not Deferred Dividend Equivalents will be paid at the default time
specified in the Agreement. 

3. Signature

I understand that my rights to the Deferred Dividend Equivalents are subject to the rights
of the general creditors of the Company in the event of its insolvency. I further understand
that this DER Election Form will become effective and irrevocable as of 5:00pm EST on
December 31, 2021, which is the Election Deadline. Once I have elected the time of settlement
of my Deferred Dividend Equivalents by filing this completed DER Election Form, I
understand that (a) the settlement election will be irrevocable and (b) the settlement
election will control over any contrary payment time or event specified in Section 3 of the
Agreement for the Deferred Dividend Equivalents. I acknowledge that, if I do not complete
and timely submit this DER Election Form, none of the Dividend Equivalents (or the shares of
Common Stock underlying any reinvested Dividend Equivalents) will become Deferred
Dividend Equivalents and all Dividend Equivalents (or the shares of Common Stock underlying
any reinvested Dividend Equivalents) will be paid to me at the default time specified in the
Agreement.



 

 

By executing this DER Election Form, I hereby acknowledge my understanding of, and
agreement with, the terms and provisions set forth in this DER Election Form, the Grant Notice,
the Agreement and the Plan. 

PARTICIPANT

 
 Name: 

Date: 
 



 

 

   

 

    

 

 

Exhibit 10.20

ORCHID ISLAND CAPITAL, INC. 
DIRECTOR CASH COMPENSATION

DEFERRAL ELECTION FORM

By completing this form, you irrevocably elect to receive the payment of any cash compensation
from retainers, meeting fees or committee fees (collectively “Cash Compensation”) that may be
paid to you by Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) in 2022, and if applicable for future
years as described below, in the form specified below. Please complete this Cash Compensation
Deferral Election Form and return a signed copy to Bob Cauley no later than 5:00 p.m. EST on
December 31, 2021 (the “Election Deadline”). All terms not defined herein are defined in the
Exhibit A Definitions. 

Name: ______________________________________

NOTE: This Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form will apply to all Cash
Compensation you may receive from the Company on and after January 1, 2022 until such
time as a new signed Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form is received by the
Company.  Any new signed Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form must be received
by the Company no later than December 31 of the calendar year preceding the calendar
year in which it is intended to apply.

STEP 1: FORM OF COMPENSATION

You may select one or any combination of the following payment options for Cash
Compensation that you will earn in calendar year 2022, and if applicable for future years. The
payment options include “Current Cash” (i.e., paid in cash pursuant to the Company’s normal
schedule for payment); “Deferred Cash” (i.e., paid in cash at the time elected in STEP 3 below)
and “Deferred Stock Units” (i.e., paid as a number of shares of the Company’s common stock
equal to the number of Deferred Stock Units as provided under the separate Deferred Stock Units
Deferral Election Form). 

The percentage of your Cash Compensation allocated to the various options must equal 100%. 
Any amounts not allocated will be deemed to have been elected to be paid in the form of Current
Cash. 

I irrevocably elect for my Cash Compensation to be allocated as follows:

Indicate the
percentage (in 1%
increments) that you
designate for receipt
of Cash
Compensation earned
for 2022, and if

Current 
Cash 

(paid in cash pursuant to
the Company’s normal
schedule for payment)

Deferred 
Cash

(invested in selected fund
set forth below in STEP

3)

Deferred Stock Units
(“DSUs”)

(paid in DSUs pursuant
to a separate election

form)

 
________________%

 
_______________% ______________%



       

 

 

 

 

 

 

applicable for future
years.

Deferred Cash Election

If you elected Deferred Cash in STEP 1, please review and complete STEPS 2, 3 and 4 below.

DSUs

If you elected DSUs in STEP 1, please complete the separate Deferred Stock Units Deferral
Election Form and Dividend Equivalents Deferral Election Form, if applicable, provided by the
Company and review and complete STEP 4 below. 

The number of DSUs granted as a result of your deferral election will be equal to (1) the amount
of your Deferred Cash elected above, divided by (2) the Fair Market Value of the Company’s
common stock on the DSU grant date. Please note that the DSUs you will receive pursuant to
this election will be granted as provided in the grant agreement and Deferred Stock Units
Deferral Election Form and settled in the Company’s common stock only if at the time of grant
the Company determines there will be shares available at the time of settlement. If the Company
determines that shares will not be available at settlement, then the DSUs shall be settled in cash. 
Any associated dividend equivalents will be governed by the grant agreement and the separate
Dividend Equivalents Deferral Election Form, if applicable. 

STEP 2: ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCOUNT AND INVESTMENT OPTIONS

If you elected Deferred Cash in STEP 1, the Company will establish a bookkeeping account in
your name (your “Account”) and may establish one or more Accounts as it determines are
necessary. Funds shall not actually be invested in the investment options available below, and
you will not have any real or beneficial ownership in any investment option. Your Account is
solely a device for the measurement and determination of the amounts to be paid to you pursuant
to this Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form and shall not constitute or be treated as a trust
fund of any kind. You must elect to notionally invest your funds in one of the three investment
options below, and all fund distributions with respect to the investment options below will be
deemed to be reinvested. 

I elect for my Deferred Cash to be deemed to be invested in the following investment option
(Choose one):

_____Vanguard Short-Term Treasury Index Fund (VGSH); OR

_____Va nguard Total Bond Market Fund (BND); OR

_____Vanguard Total Equity Stock Market Index Fund (VTI).

STEP 3: DISTRIBUTION ELECTION 



 

 

If you elected Deferred Cash in STEP 1, you must specify when and in what form you want to
receive payment for your 2022 Cash Compensation, and if applicable for future years. 
I hereby irrevocably elect to receive my 2022 Cash Compensation, and if applicable for future
years, upon the earlier to occur of my death, Disability (as defined in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-3(i)(4)), a Change in Control, or (select only one of the following) (each such
date a “Payment Event”): 

☐ (a) The date I incur a Separation from Service with the Company, determined in
accordance with the Company’s written and generally applicable policies.

☐ (b) The anniversary of the date of I incur a Separation from Service with the
Company, determined in accordance with the Company’s written and generally applicable
policies.

☐ (c) As soon as administratively feasible following ________________ ___, _____
(Insert applicable date). 

I hereby irrevocably elect to receive my Cash Compensation in the form below:

☐ (a) Lump Sum; OR

☐ (b) Annual Installments.

 _________ (Specify number of annual installments; must be 2-15 years).

Except as provided below, payments hereunder shall be made or commence on the Scheduled
Payment Date following a Payment Event. The deferral under this Cash Compensation Deferral
Election Form is intended to comply with the applicable requirements of Code Section 409A, as
amended from time to time, and the guidance and regulations promulgated thereunder and
successor provisions, guidance and regulations thereto (the “Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Rules”) and shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent. If
you are deemed to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of the Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Rules, as determined by the Committee (as defined below), at a time when you
become eligible for payment upon your Separation from Service within the meaning of the
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Rules, then to the extent necessary to prevent any
accelerated or additional tax under the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Rules, such
payment will be delayed until the earlier of: (a) the date that is six months following your
Separation from Service and (b) your death. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and
its affiliates make no representations that the deferral is compliant with the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Rules and in no event shall the Company or any affiliate be liable for all
or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may be incurred by you on
account of non-compliance with the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Rules. 

STEP 4: GENERAL PROVISIONS, SIGNATURE AND AUTHORIZATION

GENERAL PROVISIONS



Administration. This Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form will be administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) of the Company. The
Committee will have sole and absolute discretion regarding the exercise of its powers and duties
under this Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form, including the following powers and
duties:

● To direct the administration of the Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form in
accordance with the provisions herein set forth;

● To adopt rules of procedure and regulations necessary for the administration of the Cash
Compensation Deferral Election Form;

● To determine all questions with regard to your rights under the Cash Compensation
Deferral Election Form;

● To furnish the Company with information that the Company may require for tax or other
purposes;

● To engage the service of counsel (who may, if appropriate, be counsel for the Company),
actuaries, and agents whom it may deem advisable to assist it with the performance of its
duties;

● To prescribe procedures to be followed in obtaining benefits;

● To receive information as is necessary for the proper administration of the Cash
Compensation Deferral Election Form;

● To establish and maintain, or cause to be maintained, the individual Accounts described in
STEP 2 above;

● To create and maintain such records and forms as are required for the efficient
administration of the Plan; and

● To exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as it may deem necessary,
desirable, advisable or proper for the supervision and administration of the Cash
Compensation Deferral Election Form. 

Funding and Creditor Status. Benefits hereunder will be funded solely by the Company. 
Benefits will constitute an unfunded general obligation of the Company, but the Company may,
in its discretion, create reserves, funds and/or provide for amounts to be held in trust to fund such
benefits on its behalf. Payment of benefits may be made by the Company, any trust established
by the Company or through a service or benefit provider to the Company or such trust. You will
be a general unsecured creditors of the Company with respect to the payment of any amounts
hereunder.



 

 

No Reduction of Company Rights. Nothing contained in this Cash Compensation Deferral
Election Form will be construed as a right of any director to be renominated to serve as a
director. 

THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF MARYLAND APPLICABLE
TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED THEREIN, EXCLUSIVE OF THE
CONFLICT OF LAWS PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW.

SIGNATURE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I understand that my rights to payment hereunder are subject to the rights of the general
creditors of the Company in the event of its insolvency. I further understand that this Cash
Compensation Election Form will become effective and irrevocable as of 5:00 p.m. EST on
December 31, 2021, which is the Election Deadline. Once I have elected the form and time of
payment of my Cash Compensation by filing this completed Cash Compensation Election
Form, I understand that my election will be irrevocable. I acknowledge that, if I do not
complete and timely submit this Cash Compensation Election Form, my Cash Compensation will
be paid to me pursuant to the Company’s normal schedule for payment.

By executing this Cash Compensation Election Form, I hereby acknowledge my understanding
of, and agreement with, the terms and provisions set forth in this Cash Compensation Election
Form and the Deferred Stock Units Deferral Election Form and Dividend Equivalents Deferral
Election Form, as applicable. 

DIRECTOR

 
 Name: 

Date: 
 



EXHIBIT A
DEFINITIONS

1. “Change in Control” means a change in control of the Company which will be
deemed to have occurred after the date hereof if: 

(a) any “person” as such term is used in Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as modified and used in
Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof except that such term shall not include (A) the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, (B) any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an
employee benefit plan of the Company or any of its affiliates, (C) an underwriter
temporarily holding securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, (D) any
corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the Company’s common stock,
or (E) any person or group as used in Rule 13d-1(b) under the Exchange Act, is or
becomes the Beneficial Owner, as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of
the combined voting power of outstanding Company securities;

(b) during any period of two (2) consecutive years, individuals who at the
beginning of such period constitute the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”),
and any new director (other than (i) a director designated by a person who has entered
into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction described in clause (a), (c) or
(d) hereof or (ii) a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an
actual or threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation,
relating to the election of directors of the Company) whose election by the Board or
nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at
least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the
beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so
approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof;

(c) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of the Company or any
direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company with any other corporation, other than a
merger or consolidation in which the holders of Company voting securities immediately
before the merger or consolidation continue to own more than 50% or more of the
combined voting power of the Company or the surviving entity in the merger or
consolidation or any parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or
consolidation; or

(d) there is consummated an agreement for the sale or disposition by the
Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (or any transaction having a
similar effect, including a liquidation) other than a sale or disposition by the Company of
all or substantially all of the Company’s assets to an entity, more than fifty percent (50%)
of the combined voting power and common stock of which is owned by stockholders of
the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the common
stock of the Company immediately prior to such sale.



If a Change in Control (as defined in clauses (a) through (d) above) constitutes a payment
event under this Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form and such payment is subject
to Section 409A of the Code, no payment will be made under that award on account of a
Change in Control unless the event described in clause (a), (b), (c) or (d) above, as
applicable, constitutes a “change in control event” as defined in Section 409A of the
Code.

2. “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

3. “Fair Market Value” means as defined in the Orchid Island Capital, Inc. 2021
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

4. “Scheduled Payment Date” means as soon as administratively practicable
following the payment date selected in the Cash Compensation Deferral Election Form.

5. “Separation from Service” means the date that a director ceases to provide
services to the Company as a member of the Board of Directors; provided, however, that the
event constitutes a “separation from service” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section
1.409A-1(h) as defined by Section 409A of the Code.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Robert E. Cauley, certify that: 
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the "registrant"); 
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
 a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
 b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
 d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing equivalent functions): 

 



 

 a) all significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

 
 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant

role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2022

/s/ Robert E. Cauley
Robert E. Cauley
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, G. Hunter Haas, certify that: 
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the "registrant"); 
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
 a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
 b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
 d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing equivalent functions): 

 



 

 a) all significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

 
 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant

role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2022

/s/ G. Hunter Haas, IV
G. Hunter Haas, IV
Chief Financial Officer



 

Exhibit 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
December 31, 2021 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the
”Report”), I, Robert E. Cauley, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the dates of, and for the periods covered by, the Report.

It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

February 25, 2022 /s/ Robert E. Cauley
Robert E. Cauley,
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 32.2

 

 
CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Orchid Island Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
December 31, 2021 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the
”Report”), I, G. Hunter Haas, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the dates of, and for the periods covered by, the Report.

It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

February 25, 2022 /s/ G. Hunter Haas, IV
G. Hunter Haas, IV
Chief Financial Officer




